Includes free access to downloadable kit

Diana Polska

ONE MEAL ADAY DIET

Lose up to 10 Pounds in a Week with Simplified Intermittent Fasting



Self-Counsel Press

ONE MEAL A DAY DIET

Lose up to 10 Pounds in a Week with Simplified Intermittent Fasting

Diana Polska

Self-Counsel Press

(a division of)
International Self-Counsel Press Ltd.
USA Canada

Copyright © 2021



International Self-Counsel Press All rights reserved.

Contents

Cover
TITLE PAGE
PREFACE
INTRODUCTION

PART I: THE OMAD DIET AND THE SCIENCE BEHIND INTERMITTENT FASTING

CHAPTER ONE: EATING HABITS

1. FREQUENCY OF MEALS

2. TIMING OF MEALS

3. DRINK A SOUP FOR DINNER

4. HEALTHY EATING HABITS

INTERMITTENT FASTING

CONTROL INSULIN TO BURN FAT

EAT LESS OFTEN FOR HEALTH

LOW- VERSUS HIGH-FAT DIETS

PREVENTING TYPE 2 DIABETES

MAKE IT WORK FOR YOU

THE ULTIMATE SECRET TO LOSING WEIGHT FAST

EAT BREAKFAST AND SKIP DINNER

EAT THE RIGHT BREAKFAST

EAT DESSERT AT BREAKFAST

CALORIE DENSITY

EMOTIONAL EATING

FOOD ADDICTION AND CRAVINGS

EAT DESSERT AND LOSE WEIGHT

CHAPTER SUMMARY

CHAPTER TWO: PROPER DIET

A HEALTHY DIET HUNGRY FOR CHANGE THE WESTON PRICE DIET THE MEDITERRANEAN DIET THE GLYCEMIC INDEX **THE SATIETY INDEX** YOU ARE WHAT YOU EAT **HEALTHY SUBSTITUTES CARBOHYDRATES PROTEINS FATS TOXIC FOOD AND BEVERAGE SUGAR IS POISON** NATURAL SWEETENERS **RAW VERSUS COOKED FOOD PREPARATION SEAWEED ORGANIC FOODS CALCIUM AND MILK ORGANIC GRASS-FED MEAT ORGANIC FREE-RANGE EGGS OMEGA-3-RICH FISH ORGANIC UNROASTED NUTS** WHOLE GRAINS AND PULSES **LONG-FERMENTED BREAD LACTO-FERMENTED FOODS BONE BROTH**

CIDER AND RICE VINEGAR

COLD-PRESSED FLAXSEED OIL

EXTRA VIRGIN COCONUT OIL	
ORGANIC TEA	
ORGANIC COFFEE	
SUPER SPICES	
<u>SEA SALT</u>	
HOT IONIZED WATER	
<u>LEMON WATER</u>	
PURE WATER	
CHAPTER SUMMARY	
PART II: EXERCISE, SUPPLEMENTS, AN HIDDEN ISSUES THAT MAY IMPEDE WEIGHT-LOSS EFFORTS	D
CHAPTER THREE: LIFESTYLE	
BENEFITS OF EXERCISE	
AMOUNT OF EXERCISE	
RAPID FAT LOSS EXERCISE	
BUILD MUSCLE MASS	
KEEP OFF WEIGHT	
MAKE EXERCISING EASY	
SPORTS DRINKS AND BARS	
WEIGHING FREQUENTLY	
RESTFUL SLEEP	
CHAPTER SUMMARY	
CHAPTER FOUR: SUPPLEMENTS	
THERMOGENICS	
APPETITE SUPPRESSANTS	
SUPPLEMENTS FOR DIABETES AND CHOLESTEROL	

PHYTOCHEMICALS

CHAPTER SUMMARY

DAILY ESSENTIAL NUTRIENTS

CHAPTER FIVE: HIDDEN FACTORS THEY MAY IMPEDE YOUR GOALS

THERMOGENICSTESTING FOR HIDDEN FACTORS

ELEVATED CORTISOL LEVELS

NUTRITIONAL DEFICIENCIES

BLOOD SUGAR AND INSULIN

FOOD SENSITIVITIES

TOXINS IN THE BODY

POOR DIGESTION

CANDIDA OR PARASITES

HYPOTHYROIDISM

IMBALANCED HORMONES

EMOTIONAL ISSUES

LIFE FULFILLMENT

DOWNLOAD KIT

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

DEDICATION

NOTICE TO READERS

SELF-COUNSEL PRESS THANKS YOU FOR PURCHASING THIS eBOOK.

PREFACE



One in three people worldwide is overweight.^[1] It is not just a problem of the developed world. The number of overweight and obese adults in the developing world has almost quadrupled since 1980 to around 1 billion, says a report from the Overseas Development Institute.^[2] Analysis from 188 countries reports that nearly 30% of the world's population are either obese or overweight.^[3]

The average person is no longer just overweight, but can now be classified as just shy of being obese, according to recent data and statistics from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's National Center for Health Statistics.

The average (not pregnant) adult eats three meals or more per day, and drinks coffee and sugary drinks, and snacks numerous times per day.

If you wish to be above average — slim and fit — you must do what the average person doesn't do: eat less often and eat healthier.

The One Meal a Day (OMAD) Diet is a minimalist diet. Minimalism is a lifestyle that helps one become as efficient and productive as possible by removing any excess. Minimalism is essentially about keeping in your life only what serves you best. It simplifies everyday life.

Eating once per day is simple, easy, and minimal because you only need to think about what you will eat and drink at your one meal time versus doing this for numerous meal times and snacks.

I want to be clear that eating once a day doesn't mean starving. You can eat as much as you want in your one meal time

Preparing and eating food is a time-consuming daily activity. The less often you eat during the day, the more time you will have on your hands to be productive in other ways. You will come to realize how much time and energy is wasted on planning meals, preparing food, eating out, and grocery shopping for all those meals you need to prepare.

Eating less often and the way of eating called intermittent fasting has been scientifically proven to be the most effective method of weight loss. It also has a plethora of health benefits and increases life span. I will cover all of this in the following chapters.

The key to intermittent fasting is to fast between meals (typically 16–23 hours). During fasting, the body turns its fat stores into energy, a process called "ketosis," which releases ketones into the bloodstream, encouraging weight loss.

There are many different ways of intermittent fasting such as alternate-day fasting, 5:2 diet, Warrior Diet, Eat-Stop-Eat diet, and meal skipping. A quick search online will help to explain the gist of each.

However, the best method, in my opinion after all my research and personal experience, is simply to eat just once a day when you are working toward your ideal weight. Once you have achieved your ideal weight you can switch over to eating twice a day to maintain your ideal weight permanently.

I eat twice per day. I like to call this "maintenance mode." In my case, I eat twice per day for the sake of

increased productivity, less time in the kitchen, better brain function, for good health, and to keep my metabolism sharp as I get older.

Once a week, I like to eat just once per day to get the health benefits of fasting. I know how powerful fasting is and how important it is to give the body a break from digestion. When the body isn't busy digesting food, it is regenerating and healing.

The main reason I wrote this book was because I'm so tired of seeing people go on temporary diets and lose weight, then regain the weight — and in many cases, gain back even more than they lost.

There are more than 700 scientific studies referenced in this book, but I've condensed the research into one manageable plan. This book will be your comprehensive guide on how to use intermittent fasting properly. Should you wish to reference the endnotes, they are numbered throughout the chapters and included on the downloadable forms kit (the URL for accessing this is at the end of the book).

The biggest concern people have about eating less often and intermittent fasting is the hunger they may experience. This can be resolved by consuming the proper foods during meal times, and addressing hidden health factors.

Please note, intermittent fasting is not for children, pregnant women, and people with certain conditions, so please check with your doctor.

The book is split into two parts. Part I explains the OMAD Diet and the science behind intermittent fasting.

Part II helps resolve hidden issues that can impede your weight-loss efforts when trying to follow the OMAD Diet. For example, issues with your "hunger hormones" such as elevated ghrelin and leptin deficiency or leptin resistance make your brain think you are starving when that is not the case. Another example of a hidden factor is that in some

cases, research has shown that women who have faced some sexual traumas^[4] are more likely to be obese.

Part II also covers how to use exercise and supplements to lose weight even faster and how to be healthier and live longer. Therefore, you don't want to skip Part II.

Also, this book contains an exclusive downloadable kit of resources and recipes (and the endnotes for further reading) to help you as you embark on the road to weight loss and/or maintenance. Again, see the end of this book for access instructions.

I wish you well on your health and weight-loss journey.

INTRODUCTION



When he was younger, a man conducted an experiment. He was raising a pig for the state fair. He fed his pig at a specific time of the day, allowing the pig to eat as much as it wanted but only at a specific time, following a feeding schedule based on meal frequency and meal timing.

His friends fed their pigs the traditional way, letting the pigs have access to food all day and allowing them to eat whenever they wanted.

When it came time for judging, the man's pig had grown to be very strong, healthy, and LEAN, while his friends' pigs had grown fat.

Pigs are not known for their lean figures; therefore, the man who had raised the lean pig, who himself was overweight, was convinced that he had found the secret to losing weight and keeping it off. He decided to use the exact method in which he fed his lean state fair pig. He ate as much as he wanted and ate whatever he wanted, but he ate at specific times during the day. He lost 42 pounds in two years and has kept it off for seven years and counting.

The man's very successful experiment is in line with the groundbreaking weight-loss research conducted recently on meal timing and frequency.

The OMAD (One Meal a Day) Diet is an easy way to get thin and stay thin forever (no more yo-yo weight battles). It's even possible to eat the things you enjoy eating (no more calorie counting).

The OMAD Diet is not a temporary weight-loss method or fad diet. It's a lifestyle plan that works for the long-term. This scientifically based, comprehensive lifestyle plan works simply because, unlike short-term weight-loss diets, an easy-to-follow, lifelong weight-management lifestyle can help you lose weight and keep it off permanently. In addition, it can dramatically improve your health, energy, and well-being.

The information in this book is based on recent groundbreaking scientific studies. I will also examine the lifestyles and eating habits that allow certain nationalities, such as the French, to eat fatty foods and desserts while remaining thin. (Adherence to the French Eating Model is inversely associated with overweight and obesity: results from a large sample of French adults published in *British Journal of Nutrition*.)

Going on short-term weight-loss diets is very unhealthy and leads to increased weight gain over time. Weight cycling is the repeated loss and regain of body weight. Studies show that weight cycling is linked to an increased waist-to-hip ratio (WHR).^[1] A stable weight maintained over time is associated with the best health status.^[2]

The beauty of the OMAD Diet is that you don't have to starve yourself or count calories. It's a simple method: You eat only once per day and do high-intensity interval training (HIIT).

There are two strategies to the OMAD diet. You can eat once per day, do HIIT, and eat any types of food that you want. However, if you want to speed up your weight loss results, the other option is to eat the types of foods recommended in Part II: nutrient-dense and completely satisfying foods. It really depends on how fast you want to

lose weight and whether you have the desire to improve your health and energy levels. In Part II you will also learn what to do when you encounter plateaus using intermittent fasting.

DEFINING OBESITY

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines obesity as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that presents a risk to health. Obesity is a health concern, as it is a risk factor for many common chronic diseases such as heart disease and stroke, diabetes mellitus, osteoarthritis, and hypertension. The WHO estimates that being overweight or obese leads directly to the death of at least 2.8 million adults every year worldwide.

Current guidelines in North America use the (some people argue outdated) body mass index (BMI) to define obesity. All adults aged 20 years and older are evaluated on the same BMI scale as follows (exceptions made for pregnancy, of course):

• Underweight: BMI below 18.5

• Normal weight: BMI 18.5 to 24.9

• Overweight: BMI 25.0 to 29.9

Obese: BMI 30 and above

In addition to calculating your BMI, measuring body fat percentage is a good way to determine weight status. BMI factors in only your height and weight. It will give you the same reading if you have 160 pounds of pure muscle or 160 pounds of pure fat. Body fat percentage tells you how much of your weight is pure fat.

CAUSES OF OBESITY

The tendency to be more likely to have a body type with an unusually high number of fat cells — termed endomorphic — appears to be inherited. Other genetic factors influence

appetite and the metabolic rate at which food is transformed into energy.

Although inheritance may play a role, a genetic predisposition toward weight gain does not in itself cause obesity. Family eating habits are major contributors to the development of obesity.

Occasionally, obesity does have a purely physiological cause but can be due to the following:

- Cushing's syndrome, a disorder involving the excessive release of the hormone cortisol.
- Hypothyroidism, caused by an underactive thyroid gland, resulting in low levels of the hormone thyroxin and the slow metabolism of food and calories stored as fat.
- Some cases of hypoglycemia, or low blood sugar, due to a metabolic disorder that results in carbohydrates being stored as fat.
- Neurological disturbances, such as damage to the hypothalamus, a structure located deep within the brain that helps regulate appetite.
- Certain drugs, such as steroids, antipsychotic medications, and antidepressants.
- Check with a medical doctor or naturopathic doctor to rule out any purely physiological causes of weight gain.

The WHO states that "the fundamental cause of obesity and overweight is an energy imbalance between calories consumed and calories expended." However, lowering calorie intake and increasing energy expenditure is easier said than done, and most weight-loss programs are experimental and lack validation through scientific research.

WEIGHT-LOSS DIETS

Weight-loss professionals generally divide "weight loss diets" into four categories: low fat, low carbohydrate, low

calorie, and very low calorie. Research has found that none of these common weight loss diets helps a person lose weight in the long run.^[3]

Long-term studies indicate that the majority of people who lose weight by dieting end up regaining all the weight they lost regardless of whether they maintained their diet or exercise programs.^[4] After two years of dieting, up to two-thirds of dieters are even heavier than they were prior to beginning their regimens. Therefore, the American Psychological Association has concluded that diets do not lead to sustained weight loss or health benefits for the majority of people.

Some claim that there is no point in losing weight because it's genetic or some simply come to understand that diets don't work. While there are some genetic or medical conditions that cause obesity, and while most diets don't work, there is no reason why most people cannot lose weight with the proper knowledge. A genetic predisposition toward weight gain does not in itself cause obesity. [5] [6]

"Knowledge is power," said Francis Bacon. Determining the root cause of your weight gain will help you solve the problem for good.

WHY OBESITY HAS SOARED

America is number one from developed countries with the most obese citizens in the world. In America, it is a common habit to eat three meals plus two to five snacks every day. According to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999–2000, 80% of all Americans eat at least four or five times per day.

The frequency of eating due to snacking has increased over the past 30 years in the US.⁷ As snacking frequency has increased throughout the years, so have the rates of obesity. From 1950 through 1960, 9.7% of US adults were obese. In 2012, more than one-third (34.9%) of US adults — a total of 78.6 million — were obese. [8]

Besides frequent snacking, the method of food preparation has changed and this has contributed to the rise in obesity rates. In the 1960s, families cooked their own food and ate it at home. Since then, technological innovations — including vacuum packing, improved preservatives, artificial flavors, and microwaves — have made food more available for rapid consumption.

In 1965, studies claimed the average married woman spent more than two hours per day cooking and cleaning up from meals. In 1995, the same tasks took less than half that time

Food is now fast to prepare and there is an abundance of snack foods. Increased weight gain is largely a result not of the amount of calories consumed per meal, but rather of eating more frequently per day.^[9]

DIETING DOESN'T WORK

Some weight-loss plans may lead to weight loss in the short term. However, many people don't lose enough weight to be satisfied, and they don't keep it off.

Research shows that the majority of people regain the weight they lose while dieting and that the majority gain back even more weight than they lost. A study found that after two years or more, 83% of people gained back more weight than they lost.^[10]

One of the main reasons that diets don't work in the long term is because they don't address the root cause of weight gain, which is a disrupted circadian rhythm. Not fixing the root cause of a problem, but simply trying to fix the secondary problems, will solve it only for the short term. Regulating the circadian rhythm through proper timing of exercise, meals, and sleep is the vital and missing piece of information that causes dieters to continually fail in their efforts to maintain their weight loss.

Most weight-loss diets tend to focus more on the calorie content of foods than on the nutrient content and satiety level of the food. If food is low in nutritional value and is not satisfying enough, it will leave dieters hungry. The proper foods to eat are those that are nutrient-dense and completely satisfying.

Research shows that dramatically reducing your intake of food increases your risk of binge eating. When you reduce your intake of calories your brain increases its attention to food and develops strong cravings for it. The longer people restrict their food intake, the more they put their attention on food and the more they crave it.^[11] This explains why low-calorie diets do not produce lasting weight loss.

Dieting is very stressful. A study found that monitoring calories increases stress levels. Dieting affects psychological well-being and physical health. Therefore, the restriction of calories is ineffective because it increases stress levels and cortisol production, two factors known to cause weight gain. [12] Scientists have known for years that elevated cortisol levels cause weight gain, high blood pressure, high cholesterol levels, and an increased risk of heart disease and numerous other health problems.

No popular diet plan addresses hidden factors that may hinder or cause unresponsiveness to weight loss. Hidden factors such as hormonal imbalances, blood sugar fluctuations, candida, and psychological issues could make it almost impossible to lose weight permanently.

THE REAL CAUSE OF OVERWEIGHT

All overweight and obese people have a disrupted circadian rhythm, termed chronodisruption. Disruption of the circadian rhythm leads to weight gain and a multitude of health problems, such as diabetes and heart disease.

The circadian clock has daily rhythms and coordinates multiple behavioral and physiological processes, including activity, sleep, and eating. All the body's functions are controlled by the circadian rhythm. It is the master clock that manages the other little clocks in the rest of the body. It controls the proper timing of fat burning and fat storing.

All physical functions are synchronized with the rhythmic changes that occur in the natural environment. The health of the body depends largely on how well the circadian clock is working, and how well it's synchronized with the cycles of day and night.

The circadian clock gets disrupted through high-calorie diets, lack of sleep, excessive light exposure, and improper eating habits (eating late at night, meal timing, meal frequency) which eventually lead to weight gain.^[13] [14] [15] Research shows that circadian disruption decreases a person's resting metabolic rate and increases blood sugar levels.^[16]

Therefore, to reiterate, the root cause of weight gain and obesity is a disrupted circadian rhythm, and it gets disrupted through a variety of improper lifestyle and dietary factors.

Diets that work in the short-term damage health in the long term and lead to increased weight gain. For example, the popular high-protein, low-carbohydrate diet increases the production of ketones. A long-term study found that ketogenic diets (high-protein, high-fat, low-carb) lead to changes in beta and alpha cells of the pancreas that regulate the production of insulin and glucagon, which are two hormones responsible for blood sugar regulation. The study found that a ketogenic diet can lead to insulin resistance, fatty liver, a pro-inflammatory state, type 2 diabetes, heart disease, and unhealthy fat regulation, as well as elevated levels of cholesterol, triglycerides, and leptin. Not only that, but in the long run the ketogenic diet does not sustain weight loss.^[17]

It's common for many people to lose weight, regain weight, and then go on another diet and start the whole process again. The official term for this is weight cycling, though it's also known as "yo-yo dieting." Research shows that weight cycling increases the risk of death from all-

cause mortality and death from coronary heart disease. Studies find that it's better to maintain a stable weight than to constantly lose weight and gain it back.^[18]

One study found that those with weight fluctuations over a period of many years were more likely to die from all-cause mortality than those who were thin and that those who stayed obese lived just as long as those who were thin.^[19] All-cause mortality is a term used by epidemiologists, or disease-tracking scientists, to refer to death from any cause.

Maintaining a stable weight should be the most important priority for those who are unhappy with their weight, but who want to live a long, healthy life.

Constant preoccupation with weight loss and attempts to restrict food intake lead to higher cortisol levels and weight gain. Cortisol, the stress hormone, shortens telomeres, the caps at the end of each strand of DNA that affect how cells age, leading to accelerated aging and a lower life expectancy.^[20] [21]

WHY THE OMAD DIET WORKS SO WELL.

With thousands of fad diets out there, it is becoming increasingly difficult to determine which is effective, which is safe, which is healthy, and which is the most suitable for our individual needs.

The OMAD Diet is effective precisely because it is not another weight-loss program, but rather a scientifically proven weight-management lifestyle plan. Its principles are based on scientific studies that reveal what really works for losing weight and keeping it off. It also provides viable solutions to help those dealing with extremely difficult or resistant weight-loss problems.

The OMAD Diet seeks to help you address the major cause of weight gain, which is a disrupted circadian rhythm.

If you solve the cause of the problem, you will solve the problem permanently.

Recent scientific research shows that restoring the body's circadian rhythm through proper eating habits (meal frequency and timing of meals) and a healthy lifestyle is the key to achieving permanent weight loss as well as dramatically improving health and boosting energy levels. [22] [23] [24] [25]

No matter what you try, if you don't correct a disrupted circadian rhythm, you will not lose weight permanently. Researchers found that those with a disrupted circadian rhythm were unable to lose weight.^[26] This explains why some individuals are completely unresponsive to weightloss programs.

The OMAD Diet provides guidelines that are straightforward and simple, making it easy to follow this lifestyle plan for a lifetime and achieve lasting weight loss.

The following chapters will delve into the specifics of how to do this.

PART I THE OMAD DIET AND THE SCIENCE BEHIND INTERMITTENT FASTING



CHAPTER ONE EATING HABITS



Large amounts of scientific evidence positively correlate Western diet and eating habits to obesity, diabetes, heart disease, and cancer, the so-called "diseases of civilization."

People in wealthy, developed countries have access to food whenever they want. This has led people to become "grazers" and to eat whenever they feel like it. Snacking is common and snack foods are readily available.

The problem with this is we have forgotten much of the wisdom of our ancestors.

For our ancestors, it was feast or famine. Humans evolved to endure long periods of time without food. Most cultures around the world do not snack between meals.

FREQUENCY OF MEALS

In an effort to combat the obesity epidemic, for many years scientists and medical experts have been trying to find the secret to weight loss. Finally, groundbreaking research has found the answer.

The secret to losing weight and keeping it off, as well as to improving one's health, is to reduce eating frequency.^[1]

In a study comparing people eating two meals per day to others eating six meals per day, researchers found that eating only breakfast and lunch reduced body weight, fasting plasma glucose, C-peptide, and glucagon more than did eating the same amount of food spaced out over six meals. The group eating two meals a day ate their first meal between 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 a.m. and the next meal between 12:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m. The group eating six meals per day ate at regular intervals throughout the day. Despite consuming the same number of calories, the group eating only two meals a day lost, on average, three pounds more than the snackers did and about 1.5 inches more from around their waists. The participants eating six meals per day felt less satisfied and hungrier than did those eating only twice per day. [2]

It is a widespread but scientifically unproven belief that eating small, frequent meals and snacks is in some way beneficial. Recent research has found that spreading out food intake into smaller, more frequent meals is associated with weight gain and does not have any beneficial effects on weight or health in the long term.^[3] [4] [5] [6] In fact, research shows that eating more than three times a day is a factor that causes weight gain and obesity in the long term. [7]

Children, teenagers, young adults, bodybuilders, and athletes, or those with exceptionally fast metabolisms, are able to eat more frequently without gaining weight. However, with age, their eating habits will likely catch up to them, and they can develop health issues related to bad eating habits such as snacking and eating frequently.

There is a growing body of scientific evidence to support the health and weight-loss benefits of reduced meal frequency, meal timing, and intermittent fasting. Reduced meal frequency has been shown to suppress the development of various diseases.^[8] The rhythm of eating only one or two times per day around the same time each day teaches the body to experience real hunger followed by fullness and satisfaction. Eating or drinking frequently during the day — whether it's a meal, a snack, a sugary drink, alcohol, caffeine, or anything else that raises blood sugar — leads to weight gain. [9] [10]

If you are used to eating frequently, slowly train your body to get used to eating less frequently. Make the extra effort to sit down, relax, and enjoy each meal. Focus on the food you are eating and on nothing else: no watching television, talking on the phone, standing when you eat, driving, or using a laptop. It may feel strange at first, but you will eat less, digest better, and enjoy your food more.

Once you have reached your ideal weight by eating this way once per day, you can switch over to eating twice per day to maintain your ideal weight. More will be discussed later on in this book about how to maintain your ideal weight.

TIMING OF MEALS

In their early development, humans did not have access to food around the clock. They cycled through periods of feast and famine, and modern research shows that this cycling is the way we are meant to eat.

By adjusting the timing of when you eat, you can dramatically alter your health and weight.

A study also found that breakfast is the most important meal of the day and that skipping breakfast leads to hunger and overindulgence later in the day.^[11]

Eating a large, satisfying breakfast every single day has helped dieters reduce their calorie intake throughout the day. Dinner should be the lightest meal of the day and should be eaten at least three hours before bedtime. Dinner must be eaten early, no later than 7:00 p.m., because people are

generally less active in the evening, causing extra calories to turn into fat.

I follow this advice and eat a high-protein breakfast that leaves me feeling full all day long. Then, I will have a very early and light dinner, no later than 7:00 p.m. I don't experience hunger. I don't have a desire to lose weight, therefore, I eat twice per day.

Once a week, I will eat just one meal (breakfast) to get the benefits of fasting. At times, I will abstain from food for a whole day to regenerate and reset the body.

I've experimented with various meal times. I find that skipping breakfast causes me to want to eat more at meal times during the day. I eat within half an hour of waking up and it works to keep me productive all day and not hungry. Breakfast really is the most important meal of the day, just as science has shown.

Researchers conducted a 20-week study to examine the effect of meal timing on weight loss. In one group, study participants consumed a breakfast that provided the day's highest amount of calories. In a second group, dinner provided the day's highest amount of calories. Researchers found that having the main meal of the day at breakfast time led to weight loss throughout the 20 weeks and that this effect was independent of total 24-hour calorie intake. A follow-up study done for 12 weeks showed that those who had their main meal and higher calorie intake at breakfast time lost more weight than did those assigned to a higher calorie intake at dinner. [12]

Everyone is different, so experiment with various meal times, and when to eat your one meal a day. Find what works for you and what leaves you feeling satiated all day long.

DRINK A SOUP FOR DINNER

If you are following the two-meals-a-day lifestyle then make dinner your lightest meal.

Consider a soup or liquid meal for dinner. Studies have found that liquid meals help individuals lose weight.^[13] [14]

Eating the majority of your calories at breakfast and the least amount of your calories at dinner in liquid form is an effective way to lose weight because fat storage is greatest in the evening.^[15]

Anyone who has had the privilege of living in France for a while and has had dinner with French friends has observed that the French eat very lightly at dinner. The French typically have a very light dinner, with little more than a bowl of soup and a salad. For many Americans, dinner tends to be the biggest and most calorie-dense meal of the day.

Marie Antoinette, the eighteenth century French queen (1755–1793) ate cake for breakfast. Butter, milk, and cream were part of her daily diet. However, she stayed slim, with a waist size of 23 inches. She remained slim even after the birth of four children. Her first secret was that she ate only two meals per day. Her second secret was that she ate the majority of her calories during breakfast, and consumed soup for dinner, a French custom termed "souper."^[16]

Many people wonder why they eat late at night and wake up feeling groggy and run down the next morning. The reason for this is that their circadian rhythms become disrupted when they eat late at night.

You will sleep better and have more energy in the morning if you skip dinner or just have a light soup for dinner.

HEALTHY EATING HABITS

Properly timing meals and eating less frequently is important for everyone who wants to remain healthy and have energy, not only for people who want to lose weight.

According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), nearly 90% of adults who have

prediabetes don't know they have it.

Prediabetes can result from eating too frequently and eating high-sugar content foods. In 2002, the New York Academy of Sciences published a report stating that all-day grazing can put a person at risk for type 2 diabetes, heart disease, and stroke. The risk increases when insulin spikes after consumption of foods that have high glycemic values. "If you eat only one to two meals a day, your insulin levels have time to even out," says Victor Zammit, head of cell biochemistry at Hannah Research Institute in Ayr, Scotland.

Frequent eating puts pressure on the pancreas, never giving it a rest. When insulin levels are driven again and again many times a day, the pancreas becomes worn out and the cells can become resistant to taking in any more sugar.

The controlled timing of food intake and eating only one meal per day has been found to be the best way to eat if you have diabetes.^[17]

In a study by Hanna Fernemark and colleagues comparing a low-fat diet, a low-carbohydrate diet, and a one-meal-per-day Mediterranean diet, it was found that if a person has type 2 diabetes, one massive meal per day is better than several smaller meals.^[18]

Natural health, Ayurveda, and sports medicine expert Dr. John Douillard states that eating too frequently can result in blood sugar problems, weight gain, and a host of other problems.^[19] He explains that when you eat and snack frequently, you create insulin spikes and, over time, lose the ability to burn fat effectively. This also leads to insulin resistance.

When you eat every two or three hours, your body will burn fuel from those meals or snacks, but it will not burn any of its stored fat for energy. "If you have a healthy snack, like a carrot, in between breakfast and lunch you will burn the carrot but you will not burn any stored fat between those two meals," says Dr. Douillard. Eating less often per day is essential because, during the five or more hours between meals, the body is forced to burn stored fat.

Every time you eat, your blood sugar goes up. To keep blood sugar stable, you must eat less frequently.

Insulin is the primary hormone that works to put on fat. By controlling your insulin and keeping it low, you can lose weight. "Eating no snacks will provide a natural fast in between meals that will encourage fat metabolism," says Dr. Douillard. After following this eating habit, you will notice "better energy, more stable moods, greater mental clarity, better sleep, fewer cravings and of course, natural and permanent weight management."

INTERMITTENT FASTING

Intermittent fasting has become popular due to the growing research in its favor. It is a simple concept, which makes it easy to follow, with no difficult calorie counting every day. Intermittent fasting works to promote weight loss; however, diets like the alternate day fasting (ADF) or the 5:2 diet have been linked to hunger during the fasting days (very low-calorie days).^[20]

Essentially, fasting means eating nothing and drinking only water for a certain period of time. Deliberate fasting is practiced worldwide, mostly for traditional, cultural, or religious reasons. It has been shown that fasting for the biblical period of 40 days and 40 nights is well within the overall physiological capabilities of a healthy adult.^[21] I don't recommend anyone fast for 40 days and 40 nights — it's not necessary.

Some believe that intermittent fasting will shift your body into "starvation mode." Starvation mode is a scare tactic that the food and health industry uses to keep people fat. However, a study found that there was no change in the metabolic rates of people after 60 consecutive hours of fasting, and even after those 60 hours, the reduction of the

metabolic rate was only 8%. Intermittent fasting increases insulin sensitivity. It has been found that intermittent fasting is more effective for weight loss than is traditional calorie restriction. [22]

Fasting is a powerful body regeneration method, proven to remove toxins from the body.^[23] The scientific term for cleansing the body is called autophagy. Autophagy means that your body flushes out everything it doesn't need. This happens at the cellular level. Cells consume their defective parts. Autophagy is essential for regenerating and repairing cells and guaranteeing their proper function.

If we eat frequently throughout the day, our cells never get a chance to regenerate and repair themselves. Cells cannot break down defective parts and absorb materials to build new cell parts at the same time, so fasting for certain periods is essential to encourage the process. Research reveals that when animals and people are allowed to eat as often as they please, very little autophagy occurs. Even a tiny snack is enough to stop this process of cellular repair. [24] [25] [26] [27] In the absence of this important repair mechanism, defects in the cell can accumulate, causing disease and accelerated aging.

There is a large body of research to support the numerous health benefits of fasting. [28] [29] [30] [31] Fasting reduces the risk of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, and neurodegenerative disorders. [32] [33] [34] [35] [36] [37] [38] [39] [40] [41] Fasting has also been proven to delay aging and increase lifespan. Many people carry out fasting in conjunction with intestinal cleansing through enemas or colonics to increase the healing effect that fasting provides. [42] [43]

There is significant empirical and observation-based evidence that medically supervised fasting spanning periods of 7 to 21 days is effective in the treatment of chronic diseases such as rheumatic diseases, chronic pain syndromes, hypertension, and metabolic syndrome.^[44]

Fasting has been shown to improve thinking ability, and numerous mood disorders. Gabriel Cousins, MD states, "I often observe in the fasting participants that by four days of [full-day] fasting, concentration seems to improve, creative thinking expands, depression lifts, insomnia stops, anxieties fade, the mind becomes more tranquil and a natural joy begins to appear. It is my hypothesis that when the physical toxins are cleared from the brain cells, mind-brain function automatically and significantly improves and spiritual capacities expand."

Abstaining from all food for even one full day is difficult for some people and not suitable for everyone. There are different types of fasts and different ways to abstain from food for a period of time. You can improve your health and lose weight without taking on full-day fasts. Eating once per day might have similar benefits to full-day fasts. [45]

By eating only once per day and eating as much as you want at that time, you can take part in fasting without going hungry. For example, by eating breakfast at 7:00 a.m. and not eating again until the next day, you are fasting for 24 hours. Your body will go to its fat stores for energy. You will then break the fast with "breakfast."

CONTROL INSULIN TO BURN FAT

The cells of the body need sugar for energy. However, sugar cannot get into most cells directly. After a meal, a rise in blood sugar levels signals cells in the pancreas, called beta cells, to secrete insulin, which pours into the bloodstream. Insulin signals cells to absorb sugar from the bloodstream. Within 20 minutes after a meal, insulin rises to its peak level. If there is more sugar in the body than it needs, insulin helps store the sugar in your liver.

In healthy people, two to three hours after a meal, insulin levels return to a baseline and the pancreas makes a different hormone called glucagon. This hormone tells your liver to release the sugar it has stored to sustain your blood sugar levels. Just as insulin signals the fed state, glucagon

signals the starved state. It serves to mobilize glycogen stores from the liver when there is no food intake.

Gluconeogenesis typically begins four to six hours after the last meal and becomes fully active as stores of the liver's glycogen are depleted. It's during gluconeogenesis that your body will burn your stored fat for fuel.^[46]

If you eat a snack or another meal within six hours of eating, insulin rises again, which inhibits fat burning. You are supposed to get a snack between meals, but it should come from your fat stores, not from the consumption of food. Eating a large dinner or eating after dinner makes matters even worse because sleep is a prime opportunity to burn fat

When the body is fed every two to three hours, it uses fuel from those meals instead of burning its fat stores. The body adapts to being fed constantly without needing to dig into its fat stores. However, when you eat one or two meals a day and don't snack in between, the body is forced to burn its fat. "If you snack just as your insulin blood level is decreasing, it will promptly rise, even if you have a good snack such as fruit and nuts," says Eduardo Castro, MD, a specialist in fat-loss resistance syndrome. Eating frequently keeps insulin levels elevated constantly, which makes your body continually store fat.

High insulin levels inhibit the body's fat burning ability. You must keep insulin secretion low. Low levels of insulin allow your body to produce large amounts of lipase, the hormone responsible for releasing fat into your bloodstream to be used as fuel.^[47]

You want to finish eating each meal within an hour or less and not eat your next meal until six or seven hours have passed. This means not eating or drinking anything that will prompt insulin release until your next meal. Caffeine, tea, a sugary drink, or a small snack will prompt insulin release.

If you drink coffee, tea, freshly squeezed fruit juice, or any beverage besides water, consume them during meals, not in between meals. Commercially prepared fruit juices such as apple juice or orange juice are the worst, as they are very high in sugar and quickly raise blood sugar levels.

If you have problems with digestion (gas, bloating, burping, low energy after eating), drink bone broth or lacto-fermented beverages with your meals. They assist in the digestion and assimilation of nutrients.

EAT LESS OFTEN FOR HEALTH

Eating only once per day and consuming absolutely no snacks will not only help you lose weight permanently, it will dramatically improve your health.

A groundbreaking study compared the weight and health effects of two groups of people eating the same high-calorie diet. One group ate less often, while the second group ate more frequently and consumed snacks. The group that ate accumulated belly fat and frequently developed nonalcoholic fatty liver disease, while those eating less often did not. The study suggests that snacking contributes to weight gain and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. This study surprisingly reveals that those eating a high-calorie diet less frequently do not experience the negative effects on their health or weight that people eating more frequently do. [48]

Another study found that eating during specific times (time-restricted feeding) decreases body weight; lowers concentrations of triglycerides, glucose, and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol; and increases concentrations of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol.^[49]

Scientists have also discovered that reduced meal frequency can prevent the development of diseases and increase the lifespan of laboratory animals.^[50] [51]

If you are unable to eat less frequently because of gnawing hunger and cravings, you need to eat the proper foods, address hidden health factors, and can consider taking certain appetite suppressants (see Chapter 4 for more details about suppressants).

LOW- VERSUS HIGH-FAT DIETS

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) noted in 2013 that fat consumption has declined in the United States in the last few decades, but rates of obesity have not gone down.

As we've been discussing, recent research has found that it's not so much what you eat, but when you eat it. Disruption of circadian rhythms by eating *ad libitum* (eating at any time of the day) is the problem that leads to obesity and metabolic disorders. The circadian clock regulates the expression and activity of certain metabolic enzymes, hormones, and transport systems.

Time-restricted feeding limits the time and duration of food availability (meal frequency). A study found that mice confined to specific time-restricted periods of eating a high-fat diet became leaner and healthier than mice that ate the same diet but ate whenever they wanted. The mice on the time-restricted feeding schedule consumed an equivalent amount of calories from a high-fat diet as did those with unlimited access, yet were protected against obesity, hyperinsulinemia, fatty liver, and inflammation.^[52]

Mice fed a time-restricted, high-fat diet had much better satiation, 18% lower body weight, 30% decreased cholesterol levels, 10% reduced TNF-levels (tumor necrosis factor involved in systemic inflammation), and improved insulin sensitivity as compared to the group of mice fed a low-fat diet, ad libitum. This is very interesting because the amount of calories per gram of food was higher in the high-fat diet. The time-restricted, high-fat diet group had no caloric restrictions, yet lost more weight than did the mice fed a low-fat diet, ad libitum. [53]

In another study of a structure similar to that of the previously mentioned study, time-restricted feeding caused less weight gain than did all-hour food access for mice eating a high-fat, high-sugar diet over 12 to 26 weeks. Interestingly, time-restricted feeding of a high-fat diet actually led to weight loss of up to 12% when applied to mice that were already obese.^[54]

This recent groundbreaking research can help us understand "The French Paradox," a term coined in 1980 by French scientists in their paper on heart disease and fat intake. Many French people eat rich, fatty foods such as bread, butter, dessert, and pâté, but stay thin because they don't snack between meals as people living in France have commonly observed. The French adhere to specific mealtimes and don't typically eat between mealtimes. They consider snacking between meals to be overindulgent and unnecessary for adults.

PREVENTING TYPE 2 DIABETES

Type 2 diabetes is a metabolic disorder characterized by the inability of pancreatic beta cells to secrete enough insulin to maintain normal blood sugar levels.

You can conduct two tests to analyze your risk for type 2 diabetes and to check for prediabetes. Without intervention, prediabetes is likely to become type 2 diabetes in ten years or less. You want to regularly check your fasting glucose with a blood sugar monitoring device, called a fasting glucose test. This is a blood sugar sample taken when you first wake up in the morning. The result is a great screening number because blood sugar tends to be higher in the morning, and this is one of the first indicators of rising blood sugar. To stay out of the danger zone in terms of diabetes risks and associated degenerative health concerns, keep in mind that the safe range for blood sugar is between 70 and 85 mg/dL (milligrams per deciliter). You can also check your blood sugar two hours after a meal. Healthy blood sugar two hours after a meal should be lower than 125 mg/dL.

Hemoglobin A1c measures the percentage of glycated hemoglobin in one's blood. Hemoglobin A1c levels should

be below 5.6%.

Eating too frequently puts a strain on the pancreas. When the pancreatic beta cells are working nonstop, there is a risk of type 2 diabetes. Loss of first phase insulin secretion is an independent predictor of type 2 diabetes.^[55]

Irregular eating patterns appear to produce a degree of insulin resistance.^[56] It is beneficial to stay consistent with the timing of meals every day.^[57]

If you are overweight and have type 2 diabetes, reduce your eating frequency and eat each meal around the same time every day. A study found that eating only twice per day helps lower BMI in people with type 2 diabetes. After 12 weeks, researchers found that those who ate twice per day lost an average of 1.23 points off their BMIs. The study concluded that, for people with type 2 diabetes, eating fewer, larger meals may be more beneficial than eating more frequent meals. [58]

Do not consume snacks, alcohol, or coffee between meals. Caffeine raises insulin levels and impairs glucose metabolism in those with type 2 diabetes. It's best to limit your caffeine intake if you have diabetes. [59] [60] [61] If you want to enjoy a cup or two of coffee, consume it during meals.

If you experience hunger before your next meal, you will need to improve your diet and eat low glycemic index (GI) meals that do not elevate insulin levels rapidly. Rapid elevation of insulin levels produces feelings of increased hunger and the desire for more food.^[62]

When you don't eat between meals, the pancreas has time to recharge and prepare for efficient insulin release for the next meal. The liver has time to generate energy and deplete its stores of glycogen.

MAKE IT WORK FOR YOU

If you are used to eating frequently and snacking, it is suggested that you gradually improve your eating habits. Start by eating only four meals a day, four hours apart, and work your way down to one meal per day.

As easy as the eating less frequently sounds, each individual is unique and will have to find a way to make this strategy work for his or her situation and lifestyle.

If you have issues with willpower, cravings, late-night eating, or emotional eating, it is important to get rid of any quick cooking devices, such as a microwave, in your kitchen and to keep absolutely no food in the fridge. Simply prepare meals ahead of time and keep them in your freezer to be heated in the oven. If you can afford it, eat at "healthy" restaurants or order "healthier options" at restaurants and leave your fridge and freezer completely empty. Healthier options offered at many restaurants include steamed vegetables, fish, sweet potatoes, quinoa, salad, grass-fed beef, organic chicken, gluten-free whole grains, etc.

Human nature always looks for the easy way. By creating barriers that demand a substantial amount of time and effort, you can reduce the motivation to eat frequently. Do not keep food on hand that you can eat right away. If food is not there or is hard to access, you are less likely to eat it.^[63]

Preparing meals ahead of time on weekends and freezing them also works for people who have a limited amount of time during the week. If you can afford it, you can save plenty of time by having organic, healthy, freshly prepared meals delivered to your door every week and keeping them in the freezer to be eaten only once per day.

THE ULTIMATE SECRET TO LOSING WEIGHT FAST

To lose a significant amount of weight (up to one pound per day) in a fairly short amount of time (one to six months), eat

only once per day and consume only low glycemic index (GI) and low glycemic load (GL) foods.

In my experience, I've seen that eating one low GI, nutrient-dense meal per day combined with high-intensity interval training (HIIT) exercise works very well for many people who desire to lose weight fast. Why does it work so well? When you eat or drink anything other than water, your pancreas releases insulin, but between meals, your pancreas releases glucagon. Insulin promotes the storing of calories, while glucagon promotes the release of stored calories.

High GI foods promote weight gain. If you eat a meal that contains mostly high glycemic foods (sugar, white rice, white bread), your blood sugar level will skyrocket. Your body won't be able to break it down fast enough and therefore will store it as fat. Low glycemic foods promote satiety, minimize insulin secretion, and lead to weight loss. [64]

Although some may worry about the body entering starvation mode, contrary to popular belief, intermittent fasting involving 16- to 24-hour periods of no food consumption has been shown to actually increase the body's metabolic rate, leading to a greater rate of fat loss.^[65] Resting energy expenditure increases in early starvation.^[66] Resting energy expenditure is the number of calories you burn if you rest all day.

A study found that despite consumption of the same number of calories, participants lost weight when eating only one meal per day as compared to three meals per day. Fat mass was significantly reduced and lean body mass tended to be greater after eight weeks of one meal per day. [67]

Throughout history, people would (and many cultures still do) eat only one or two meals per day. The Romans ate only one meal per day in the middle of the day. "The Romans believed it was healthier to eat only one meal a day. They were obsessed with digestion and eating more than

one meal was considered a form of gluttony," explains food historian Caroline Yeldham.

When eating your one meal, eat as much as you feel like, until you're completely satisfied. You can do a full-course meal consisting of a soup, entrée, main course, and dessert.

The pages of this book could be filled with testimonials about the power of eating less frequently to lose weight, but since you need to try it for yourself to believe it, here are just a few testimonials with the most impressive results.

Des O'Connor, an English comedian, broadcaster, and singer, was asked how he stayed slim, vibrant-looking, and virile at age 70. He explained that he ate only one meal per day and, in fact, eats as much as he wants during that one meal. He swore by this eating habit and has followed it for more than 40 years. He is a strong believer in the fact that using excess energy for digestion (eating all the time) only depletes the energy that the body requires for healing.

Adam Minsky, a young man weighing 230 pounds, reported that he lost 51 pounds in four months by eating only once per day. He's tried various diet plans, such as Atkins, The South Beach Diet, Weight Watchers, Jenny Craig, and many others, but found that eating only once per day worked like nothing he'd tried before. In one week, he lost 6 pounds and in the first month, he lost 15 pounds. In four months, he lost 51 pounds. One year later, he had maintained his weight loss.

Herschel Walker, a former professional football player, eats only one meal per day and started when he was 18 years old. He drinks only water during the day. He is in phenomenal shape and looks much younger than he is.

EAT BREAKFAST AND SKIP DINNER

The old adage by nutritionist Adelle Davis — "Eat breakfast like a king" — stands up to the test of research. Eating an indulgent, high-protein breakfast increases satiety, metabolism, and energy levels.

Skipping breakfast or eating late at night causes weight gain and leads to higher fasting insulin, total cholesterol, and LDL cholesterol. [68] [69] [70] [71] [72] [73] You are better able to metabolize food during the day when you are awake and active. Food eaten right before bedtime or during the night will likely be converted into fat.

The circadian clock plays an essential role in regulating body weight because it has a strong influence on metabolism and how the body handles fat and sugar. [74] [75] [76] When a person's circadian clock is thrown off by eating at the wrong time, it can, over time, contribute to weight gain.

Dr. Fred W. Turek has demonstrated that mice with a mutation in the brain's suprachiasmatic nuclei responsible for synchronizing circadian rhythm had a disrupted feeding pattern. The mice ate more at all hours of the day. The mice were obese and had a number of metabolic problems, including high cholesterol and high blood sugar.^[77]

Numerous scientists have found that it is important to properly time caloric distribution across the day to maintain weight loss. People with a high-caloric intake during breakfast with plenty of protein lose more weight and keep it off than do those with a high-caloric intake during dinner. ^[78] Eating breakfast regularly is so significant that it has been shown to protect against weight gain, despite a person's daily calorie intake. ^[79]

A big, nourishing breakfast rich in protein also has many health benefits. It reduces the risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease.^[80] [81] It has been shown to enhance cognitive performance.^[82] It improves glycemic control in those with type 2 diabetes.^[83] A study demonstrated that lower levels of GL and higher portions of protein intake at breakfast were associated with higher levels of energy.^[84]

EAT THE RIGHT BREAKFAST

Milk is promoted as a healthy beverage. Pasteurized cow's milk and products made with cow's milk are commonly consumed during breakfast. However, research shows that pasteurized cow's milk is a very unhealthy choice, associated with obesity, atherosclerosis, diabetes, cancer, and neurodegenerative diseases.^[85]

The processed, factory-farm-produced milk we drink today is not like the raw, organic milk our ancestors drank. Growth hormones and estrone found in factory-farm cow's milk promotes weight gain. Growth hormones and estrone are also found in protein powder containing whey protein in many countries.^[86]

If you want to lose weight and improve your health, you must eat the right foods for breakfast. A healthy breakfast might consist of eggs, greens, berries, legumes, nuts, seeds, fish, and poultry. If you include dairy in your breakfast, consume only raw, grass-fed, organic milk from cows, goats, or sheep. If you drink a protein shake, consume only nondairy protein powder, such as pea or hemp protein.

EAT DESSERT AT BREAKFAST

Extremely high-calorie intake will always play a role in obesity, and there is no way to avoid this fact. However, to achieve permanent weight loss, it's important to not restrict yourself. Restrictive diets that ban desserts or delicious treats are likely to fail because at some point you will give in to your cravings.

If you feel like eating cake or other sweet desserts, the best time to indulge is at breakfast. The body's metabolism is most active in the morning and you have the rest of the day to burn off the calories.

In a study of clinically obese adults led by Daniela Jakubowicz, MD, two groups of study participants ate the same number of calories per day. The only difference was the number of calories consumed at breakfast.

Group one ate 1,085 calories a day. Their smallest meal was breakfast, consisting of 290 calories. Group two ate 1,240 calories a day. They ate breakfast as well as a dessert, consisting of 610 calories. Lunch was 395 calories and dinner was 235 calories. After 16 weeks, both groups lost approximately the same amount of weight. After completing the diet, study participants were told to continue the diet, but were allowed to eat more if they were hungry.

The first four months of the eight-month study focused on weight loss, while the last four months focused on weight maintenance. In the first four months, the small-breakfast eaters lost an average of 28 pounds, while the big-breakfast eaters lost an average of 23 pounds. After eight months the small-breakfast eaters regained 18 pounds while the big-breakfast eaters lost an additional 16.5 pounds.

Jakubowicz explains that having an indulgent breakfast including dessert helps reduce cravings and hunger during the day. The group that had a smaller calorie breakfast reported higher hunger cravings throughout the day, leading to overeating and weight regain. The group that consumed a big breakfast and dessert experienced few if any cravings during the day.^[87]

Attempting to avoid sweets entirely can create a psychological addiction to these foods in the long term, explains Jakubowicz. Having dessert with breakfast can control cravings for the rest of the day.

There are two pointers to keep in mind when having some dessert with breakfast. The dessert should be sweetened with stevia, lo han guo (monkfruit), erythritol, or xylitol rather than with white sugar. It's also important to eat a high-protein breakfast. [88] As long as you follow these two pointers you will lose weight by eating dessert during breakfast.

If you want to enjoy a cup of coffee with your dessert during breakfast, drink your coffee black. The bitter taste of coffee beans complements the sweetness of cake or other desserts very well. Try to get used to drinking your coffee black, with nothing added to it.

If you must sweeten your coffee, use stevia, lo han guo, erythritol, xylitol, or manuka honey. If you want to add milk or cream to your coffee, use organic, grass-fed milk or cream from goats or sheep instead of pasteurized cow's milk.

Some people don't want to consume pasteurized milk. Standard pasteurization heats milk at high temperatures. If you want unpasteurized milk, you can look into "vat pasteurization" which heats the milk at lower temperatures but for a longer length of time. Proponents of this method say the milk is of a higher quality and tastes better than milk put through standard pasteurization, which typically involves several handling procedures in which it's separated into milk and cream, homogenized, and reformulated.

Having dessert and drinking coffee are simple pleasures that many people enjoy. Long-term weight loss results will be achieved when you don't deprive yourself.

CALORIE DENSITY

Research shows that people eat a fairly consistent amount of food on a day-to-day basis.^[89] [90] We all have to eat a certain amount of food to feel comfortably full every day — usually between two and three pounds a day.^[91]

If we eat less than the amount we're used to eating every day, we tend to feel hungry and deprived. Therefore, cutting back on the amount of food you eat per day is an approach that won't work in the long run. If you feel hungry and deprived all the time, eventually your willpower will crumble.

A much better approach is to eat the same amount of food you're used to eating, but to eat foods high in nutrients and low in calorie density. That way you can eat satisfying portions of food and feel full while reducing calorie intake.

Research found that eating satisfying portions of low-calorie-density foods is a more successful strategy for weight loss than is portion control.^[92] [93]

Calorie density is the amount of energy or calories in a particular weight of food. Generally, it is the number of calories in a gram. Foods with a lower calorie density provide fewer calories per gram than do foods with a higher calorie density. The lower the calorie density of the food, the more you can eat of it. For example, two ounces of chocolate contains 240 calories. To eat the same amount of calories in lettuce, you would have to eat 3.2 pounds of lettuce.

Diets consisting of foods low in energy density were shown to result in weight loss.^[94] [95] [96]

You don't want to make calorie counting a religion, but try to keep within your calorie requirement range by eating mainly foods that are very low in calories per gram. You can easily look up your daily calorie intake requirements online by searching for "Estimated Energy Requirement," or use the Harris Benedict formula to estimate your daily caloric needs with respect to your average activity level.

Most overweight people have a sedentary lifestyle that includes only light physical activity associated with typical day-to-day living. The more active you are, the more calorie-dense foods you can consume.

Calorie density is measured by the gram, so a food's calorie density tells you how many calories are in one gram of that food. To calculate calorie density from food labels (calories per gram):

- 1. Get the calorie count.
- 2. Get the weight of the serving in grams.
- 3. Divide the calorie count by the weight.

The emphasis should be on the types of food that can be eaten in satisfying portions. If you select foods that are low

in calorie density, you will be able to eat your usual amount of food. This will help eliminate the sense of deprivation.

Foods low in calorie density:

- Long-grain brown rice
- Wild rice
- Red snapper
- Yogurt
- Whole wheat pasta
- Turkey breast
- Boiled sweet potato
- Cod fish
- Cottage cheese
- Shrimp
- Light tuna
- Whole milk
- Soba buckwheat noodles

Foods high in calorie density:

- Chocolate
- Bacon
- Potato chips
- Peanut butter
- Doughnuts
- Cheesecake
- Swiss cheese
- Whole wheat crackers
- Cheddar cheese
- Popcorn

- Mayonnaise
- Vegetable oil

A good tip for feeling full and satisfied after meals is to start all your meals with a soup or a smoothie. In Japan, miso soup is served with every meal. Studies show that consuming a low-energy-dense soup before eating leads a person to eat less calorie-dense foods.^[97] [98] This reduction did not lead to increased hunger or decreased fullness.^[99]

You can also eat a low-energy-dense salad or fruit before — rather than during or after — your main meal. Research has found that consuming fruit or salad before a meal can enhance satiety. [100] [101]

EMOTIONAL EATING

The key to achieving and maintaining your ideal weight is not to restrict any food or drink you enjoy. You don't need to eliminate high-calorie-dense foods completely from your diet but you do want to avoid "emotional eating."

Emotional eating causes a person to have the desire to pig out on a lot of calorie-dense foods such as ice cream, chocolate, cheesecake, etc. If you have this unhealthy problem, you can start by getting full and satiated on lots of low-calorie dense foods to reduce your desire for a lot of calorie-dense foods.

Many people digest fruit better on an empty stomach, and nutrition experts and holistic doctors recommend eating fruit on an empty stomach rather than after meals. This is because fruit digests so quickly (typically within 30 minutes of eating) and when eaten on a full stomach could cause fermentation, gas, and bloating.

If you feel you are an emotional eater, there are support groups and counselors who specialize in this area who can help.

FOOD ADDICTION AND CRAVINGS

What stops people from eating healthier and lower in calorie density is their addiction to certain foods and their desire for flavor and good taste. However, the biggest misconception about losing weight and eating healthier is that you have to eat only fruits, vegetables, low fat, low carb, and low sugar.

A healthy, balanced diet means eating whole foods rich in nutrients. You can eat grass-fed meat, wild-caught fish, free-range eggs, grass-fed dairy, low-GI sweetened desserts, and a huge range of low-GI whole grains made into fresh bread, muffins, cookies, pancakes, cakes, chips, pizza, and other delicious baked goods. You just need to know where to purchase high-quality foods and ingredients and how to make them into delicious meals, desserts, and baked goods.

If you are highly addicted to certain unhealthy junk foods, start eating better gradually. Over time, as you get healthier, you will crave healthier foods.

Start by making subtle changes that your taste buds will not notice. If you are addicted to sugar and desserts, replace white sugar with raw honey, stevia, lo han guo, erythritol, or xylitol. If you are addicted to salt and salty snacks, replace table salt with Celtic and Himalayan sea salt.

Thanks to numerous healthy substitutes available from health food stores, you can replace every single unhealthy food with a healthy alternative.

EAT DESSERT AND LOSE WEIGHT

If you love to eat sweets and cake, then natural sweeteners such as raw honey, coconut palm sugar, stevia, lo han guo, erythritol, and xylitol are your best friend.

Using natural sweeteners instead of sugar to sweeten all desserts is such a simple way to reduce weight gain caused by the excessive consumption of sweets. If every bakery, cake maker, chocolate maker, and candy manufacturer used stevia instead of sugar, then obesity would not be such a problem worldwide.

Lo han guo is an exotic fruit extract that has zero calories and zero glycemic impact, making it safe for diabetics and hypoglycemics to use.^[102] Lo han guo can be used in your baking as a sugar substitute.

Xylitol is just as sweet as table sugar (sucrose) but has about 40% fewer calories and 75% fewer carbohydrates. Xylitol also won't raise your blood sugar like regular sugar does, as the body does not require insulin to metabolize xylitol.^[103]

Manuka honey is a good sugar substitute, has a low glycemic response, and is suitable for those with diabetes. ^[104] Manuka honey has antioxidants, minerals, vitamins, amino acids, enzymes, and phytonutrients. It is considered a superfood. It is good for sweetening tea, coffee, or drinks. Pasteurized honey has a higher GI, so use Manuka honey.

Blackstrap molasses contains a variety of nutrients, such as manganese, copper, iron, calcium, potassium, magnesium, vitamin B6, and selenium. Refined white sugar and corn syrup are stripped of virtually all nutrients except simple carbohydrates. Blackstrap molasses has a GI of 55.

Coconut palm sugar has a lower GI (35) than does white sugar. It is rich in magnesium, potassium, zinc, and B vitamins. In terms of taste, out of all the natural sweeteners, it comes closest to white sugar. It's good for baking and sweetening coffee, tea, or smoothies.

Raw sugarcane juice has a low GI. It has no simple sugars and doesn't cause blood sugar to soar like white sugar does. It contains calcium, magnesium, potassium, iron, and manganese.

Lucuma powder is made from whole Peruvian lucuma fruit. It is rich in minerals such as iron, zinc, potassium, calcium, magnesium, vitamin B3, and beta carotene. Lucuma has a low GI and GL.

Stevia comes in powdered or liquid form. It's a good substitute for white sugar when baking. Stevia is sweeter

than sugar, so you need less of it. It has no effect on blood sugar levels. It has a GI of zero, and it has zero calories.

Pure, organic maple syrup is an excellent source of manganese and antioxidants. It also contains riboflavin, zinc, magnesium, calcium, and potassium. Pure maple syrup has a GI of 55.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

- To lose weight more easily, eat once per day, with no snacks, caffeine, or drinks between meals except for water and unsweetened, caffeine-free drinks that will not affect blood sugar. Once you reach your ideal weight, you can maintain it by switching over to eating twice per day.
- Ideally, eat your one meal a day at breakfast time. If this doesn't suit your lifestyle, experiment with other times during the day to eat your daily meal, but don't eat right before going to bed.
- Utilize intermittent fasting by fasting overnight. By eating only once per day and eating as much as you want during that one time, you can fast without going hungry. If you want to lose weight faster, eat the proper (healthy) foods. Read more about the proper foods in Chapter 2.

CHAPTER TWO PROPER DIET



The foundation of a healthy diet is consuming low glycemic index (GI) and low glycemic load (GL) foods. Studies show that low GI and low GL diets promote weight loss.^[1] Although low-carbohydrate, high-protein diets have become popular means of losing weight, there is a large body of evidence that indicates low-GI diets are the best way to lose weight and prevent diseases such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease.^[2]

A HEALTHY DIET

Most people have unbalanced and unhealthy diets, eliminating certain foods or food groups (carbs, protein, fats) that are essential to long-term good health. The only foods people should eliminate from their diet are those they can't tolerate (e.g., cow's milk because of allergic reactions, or gluten because of celiac disease).

Carbohydrates, fats, and protein are all important components of a balanced, healthy diet. A good rule of thumb is to divide your plate in the following way at each meal: one-half vegetables, one-quarter protein, and one-quarter whole grains or starches. In other words, 50%

veggies, 25% protein, and 25% whole grain or another healthy starch.

According to extensive research into the healthiest cultures in the world, the best diet consists of mainly organic produce, whole grains, pulses, seeds, nuts, fish, meat, and dairy. It also entails the avoidance of foods detrimental to one's health, including sugar and white flour.

It is important to consume a variety of whole foods and not eat the same foods day after day. It is important to vary your diet to make sure you are covering all your nutritional needs. It may be possible for some people to develop intolerances to foods eaten too often. For example, some people have developed food sensitivities to their favorite foods because they ate them on a daily basis for long periods of time.

Most studies show that reducing healthy fats is harmful. Some people think that they are doing their health good by replacing butter with margarine and by eliminating eggs and red meat from their diets. However, Dr. Weston Price found that the world's healthiest cultures eat protein in the form of organ meats and dairy products, and consider animal fats absolutely essential to good health.^[3]

His study showed their diets consisted of healthy fats, meats, fruits, vegetables, legumes, nuts, seeds, lactofermented foods, bone broth, and whole grains in their whole, unrefined state, as well as some raw foods of both animal and vegetable origin. This is what a healthy, balanced diet should include. In his experience and research, Dr. Price found that people eating this diet were free of disease, dental decay, and mental illness. When they started to consume an unhealthy, typical Western diet, their health rapidly deteriorated. He found that consumption of refined grains, canned foods, hydrogenated fats, refined oil, sugar, and pasteurized milk spoils our "God-given inheritance" of physical perfection and vibrant health.

HUNGRY FOR CHANGE

Everyone who wants to lose weight, feel better, have more energy, and get healthier should watch the documentary *Hungry for Change* (2012). The documentary discusses the real cause of weight gain and why diets don't work. It exposes shocking secrets the diet, weight loss, and food industries don't want you to know. Some of the key points include:

- Diets do not work for the majority of people who go on a diet will not only regain their weight but gain back even more.
- Foods in modern societies are high in calories and low in nutrients. On the other hand, in healthier traditional cultures, whole foods are high in nutrients and generally low in calories.
- Many people in America are chronically overfed but undernourished. Being chronically starved of nutrients causes a person to constantly eat in an effort to fulfill their body's requirements for nutrients.
- People in modern societies are not eating real, whole foods, but rather food-like products such as boxed, packaged, canned foods, weight loss drinks, and food bars.
- Many packaged foods are now touted as having zero calories, no fat, and no sugar. However, this is simply a marketing ploy. For example, foods marketed as low-fat can contain plenty of sugar, and sugar converts easily into fat. Foods marketed as having zero calories and no sugar typically have many toxic artificial sweeteners that cause weight gain in the long run.
- Food companies are similar to tobacco companies. They know that if they addict a customer, they have that customer for life. Consequently, they use various chemicals that are known to cause addiction: monosodium glutamate (MSG), processed sugar, and artificial sweeteners. They put chemicals in their food so that people keep buying it.

- Artificial sweeteners such as aspartame are very toxic and contribute to weight gain in the long run.
- Diet soda has zero calories, but because it contains artificial sweeteners, studies have shown that within a few years, you will be fatter than when you first started drinking diet soda.
- Don't get products labeled "low fat." It's not fat that makes you fat, but rather sugar that makes you fat. Sugar gets converted straight to body fat. The body needs healthy sources of fat to stay healthy. If you're on a low-fat diet, you'll constantly be hungry because you need the correct amount of fat to feel satiated. You need healthy fat from avocados, organic extra virgin coconut oil, ghee, and nuts.
- Insulin is the fat-producing hormone. Insulin takes the excess sugar you ingest and puts it into your muscles. As soon as the muscles' energy stores are full, the excess sugars are converted into fat. Avoid foods that quickly convert to sugar in your body such as white bread, white flour pasta, white potatoes, muffins, waffles, pancakes, cereal, and white rice.
- Sugar is a drug as addictive as cocaine. White sugar should be illegal. Processed foods, especially sugar, kill more people than all drugs combined.
- White flour, white sugar, and high fructose corn syrup are all like cocaine-whitened, extracted, refined products taken from a natural product and made into an addictive product. Sugar and high fructose corn syrup can be found in everything. They are in pasta sauces, juice, cereal, salad dressing, and nearly every boxed, packaged food.
- MSG is one of the worst ingredients found in many packaged, boxed foods, as well as in restaurant food. It's found in about 80% of modern food products. MSG is almost impossible to avoid. When scientists want to make a mouse fat, they give it MSG. MSG has many

names; many even sound natural, and that's why sometimes it's hard to spot when you look at food labels. It can be called glutamic acid, yeast extract, hydrolyzed protein, bouillon, broth stock, malt extract, gelatin, soy protein, whey protein, and natural flavors. MSG is very dangerous because it excites the brain, causing a chemical reaction that results in addiction.

- It can be hard to get enough vegetables in your diet. Vegetables are the most hated food group and yet are the most important. Although vegetables are best consumed in their whole forms, the easiest way to get your full required serving of vegetables is to juice them along with some sweet fruits to make the juice palatable. Most people are overfed and undernourished; by juicing vegetables with fruits, they get a highly concentrated source of nutrients that are easy to digest and taste good.
- Many of the food labels in grocery stores are deceptive; that's why you want to buy and eat whole foods, not processed, packaged, boxed foods.
- If you're upset, don't eat. That's because you're not fully aware of what you're putting in your body. People overeat when they are stressed, upset, angry, and frustrated.

THE WESTON PRICE DIET

Dr. Weston Price and his wife traveled around the world in search of the secret to health. He investigated some of the most remote areas of the planet. He observed excellent health in many native cultures who ate specific foods. He found that their health rapidly declined once they began consuming unhealthy foods such as sugar, alcohol, processed grains, pasteurized dairy, and packaged foods. Incomplete development of the face and body, crooked teeth, and disease became common.

The comprehensive research of Dr. Price as documented in his masterpiece book *Nutrition and Physical Degeneration* (Price Pottenger Nutrition, 2009), Dr. Price discovered that nonindustrialized people do not gain weight on their traditional diets.

All traditional cultures consume some sort of animal protein and fat from fish and other seafood; water and land fowl, land animals, eggs, milk and milk products, reptiles, and insects. Primitive and traditional diets have a high foodenzyme content from raw foods such as raw dairy products; raw meat and fish; raw honey; fruits; and naturally preserved, lacto-fermented foods.

Total fat content of traditional diets varies from 30% to 80%. Traditional diets contain nearly equal amounts of omega-6 and omega-3 essential fatty acids.

The diets of healthy primitive and nonindustrialized people contain no refined or denatured foods such as refined sugar or corn syrup; white flour; canned foods; pasteurized, homogenized, skim, or low-fat milk; breakfast cereal; packaged foods; commercially prepared fruit juice; soft drinks; soy milk; tofu; refined or hydrogenated vegetable oils; protein powders; artificial vitamins; or toxic additives and colorings.

Dr. Price does not recommend low-fat diets, diets that restrict fat, vegetarian diets, or vegan diets. Dr. Price makes the following dietary guidelines on his website (www.westonaprice.org):

- Do not practice veganism; animal products provide vital nutrients not found in plant foods.
- Eat only organic meat and eggs. Avoid factory-farmed meats and eggs.
- Avoid highly processed luncheon meats and sausages containing MSG and other additives.
- Avoid rancid and improperly prepared seeds, nuts, and grains found in granolas, quick-rise bread, and extruded

- breakfast cereals, as they block mineral absorption and cause intestinal distress.
- Avoid canned, sprayed, waxed, bioengineered, or irradiated fruits and vegetables.
- Avoid artificial food additives, especially MSG, hydrolyzed vegetable protein, and aspartame, which are neurotoxins. Most soups, sauce mixes, and commercial condiments contain MSG, even if they're not labeled as such.
- Seeds, grains, and nuts should be soaked, sprouted, fermented, or naturally leavened to neutralize naturally occurring antinutrients, such as phytic acid, enzyme inhibitors, and tannins.
- Eat organic poultry, beef, lamb, game, organ meats, and eggs, as well as wild-caught fish and seafood.
- Eat whole, organic milk products from pasture-fed animals, preferably raw and/or fermented, such as whole yogurt, cultured butter, whole cheeses, and sour cream.
- Use only healthy fats and oils, including butter and other animal fats, and organic extra virgin coconut oil.
- Eat fresh fruits and vegetables, preferably organic, in salads and soups, or lightly steamed.
- Prepare homemade meat stocks from the bones of chicken, beef, lamb, or fish and use liberally in soups and sauces.
- Use unrefined Celtic sea salt and a variety of herbs and spices for food interest and appetite stimulation.
- Make your own salad dressing using raw apple cider vinegar and expeller-pressed flax oil.
- Use natural sweeteners such as raw honey, maple syrup, and stevia powder.

- Consume only unpasteurized wine or beer in strict moderation with meals.
- Cook only in stainless steel, cast iron, glass, or good-quality enamel.

The body needs a rich supply of the fat-soluble vitamins and fat-soluble activators found in animal fats. Many of the vitamins and minerals found in vegetables cannot be absorbed without fat, and protein cannot be assimilated without fat. The body will rob its own stores of fat-soluble vitamins to digest protein if a sufficient amount of fat is not consumed with it, leading to nutritional deficiency.

Dr. Price recommends a diet consisting mainly of freshly ground, soaked, and fermented whole grains; grass-fed bone marrow; rare-cooked, organic, grass-fed meat; organic, grass-fed organ meats; raw eggs; wild, uncooked fish; fish eggs; seafood; nuts; seaweed; grass-fed yellow butter; grass-fed cream; tomatoes; raw/unpasteurized organic milk from grass-fed cows; and green vegetable juices made from such veggies as parsley, cilantro, zucchini, and cucumber.

To provide the body with fat-soluble vitamins he suggests making a daily smoothie with two raw eggs, one cup raw milk or kefir with two to four ounces raw cream along with some stevia for sweetness. In addition, half a teaspoon of fermented cod liver oil is taken with a quarter teaspoon "high-vitamin butter oil." X-Factor Gold High Vitamin Butter Oil from the brand Green Pasture is the one recommended by proponents of the Weston Price diet.

THE MEDITERRANEAN DIET

The Mediterranean diet is said to be one of the best ways of eating to prevent numerous diseases.^[5] It has been shown to prevent age-related weight gain.^[6] [7]

A study found that the Mediterranean diet was much more effective in weight reduction than a low-fat diet. Weight reduction among participants after two years was 6 to 9 pounds for the low-fat group and 9 to 13 pounds for the Mediterranean-diet group.^[8]

Healthy fats, which are staples of the Mediterranean diet, keep you feeling fuller longer than do diets that restrict or forbid fat altogether. These fats include monounsaturated fats which are found in nuts and avocados, and polyunsaturated omega-3 fatty acids which are found in fatty fish (different levels are found in salmon, mackerel, and halibut).

According to Dr. Demosthenes Panagiotakos and Christina-Maria Kastorini, MSc, PhD, the Mediterranean diet is not only the best way to eat to lose weight (especially when combined with intermittent fasting), but also the best way to prevent disease. The diet is associated with lower risk for cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, obesity, and some types of cancer. A ten-year study found that following a Mediterranean diet was associated with a decrease in early death rates by more than 50%.^[9]

Many people want to lower their cholesterol with diet alone. The Mediterranean diet has been shown to be a very effective method of lowering cholesterol levels and reducing heart disease risk. It's also a good alternative to drug therapy.

In combination with the Mediterranean diet, fish oil, and soluble fibers — such as psyllium, oat bran, guar gum, and pectin — have been shown to reduce cholesterol levels in multiple studies.

The lipid-lowering benefits of fish have been well known since epidemiologists noticed that the Greenland Inuit have a low coronary mortality. They eat a high-fat, high-cholesterol diet, but one rich in fish, especially those containing the omega-3 fatty acids eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). It is suggested that eating two or three fish per week will prevent coronary disease. Herring, mackerel, sardines, salmon, and anchovies are especially rich in omega-3 fatty acids.^[10]

An even larger reduction in heart disease death was found among people who took fish oil capsules (900 mg omega-3 per day) instead of eating fish. Fish oil is especially effective at lowering elevated very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and chylomicron levels. Fish oil has antithrombotic, antiarrhythmic, and anti-inflammatory properties in addition to lipid-lowering effects.^[11]

THE GLYCEMIC INDEX

The glycemic index (GI) was developed by Dr. David J. Jenkins at the University of Toronto during research to discover which foods were best for people with diabetes.

The GI is a numerical system of measuring how rapidly a particular food turns into sugar and how much of a rise in circulating blood sugar it triggers. With foods numbered from 1 to 100, the closer a number is to 100, the higher the GI and the more it affects blood sugar levels. The lower the GI number, the less the food affects blood sugar levels.

Foods with a GI of 55 or less are considered low, while values of 56 to 69 are medium. Those 70 or higher are high GI values. Pure glucose serves as a reference point and is given a GI of 100. High-glycemic foods are between 70 and 100 on the index and include white bread or bagels, white sugar, russet potatoes, melons, pineapple, corn and rice pasta, macaroni and cheese, corn flakes, instant oatmeal, whole wheat bread, bran flakes, puffed rice, pretzels, rice cakes, popcorn, and soda crackers.

Foods with a high GI make a person's blood sugar levels rise rapidly, which can increase the person's chance of getting diabetes. They also make managing type 2 diabetes a challenge. Foods with a low GI release glucose more slowly and steadily into the bloodstream and therefore have the lowest insulin response.

If blood sugar rises too quickly, the pancreas secretes a greater amount of insulin. Insulin helps bring sugar out of the bloodstream, primarily by converting the excess sugar to stored fat. High blood sugar leads to greater insulin release and more storage of fat. It is important to eat low-GI foods to prevent weight gain and type 2 diabetes.

Research provides compelling evidence that high GI foods increase the risk of obesity. In one study, rats were split into high- and low-GI groups over 18 weeks. Rats fed the high GI diet were 71% fatter and had 8% less lean body mass than did the low GI group.^[12]

Overweight or obese people consuming low GI and low GL foods lost weight and had decreases in body mass, total fat mass, BMI, total cholesterol, and LDL cholesterol as compared to those consuming a low-calorie, low-fat diet. Study participants lost more weight even though they could eat as much as they desired. Researchers concluded that lowering the GL of the diet appears to be an effective method of promoting weight loss and improving lipid profiles.^[13] Minimizing the consumption of high-GI foods is truly one of the easiest ways to reduce your weight.^[14]

Try to avoid foods high on the GI. If your favorite food has a high GI, combine it with a low GI food to reduce the GL of the meal. Fat, protein, or fiber tend to lower the GI value of the food, as they all slow the entry of sugar from a particular food into the bloodstream.

The complete list of the GIs and GLs for more than a 1,000 foods can be found in the article "International tables of GI and glycemic load values" in the journal *Diabetes Care*.

The GL takes into account not only how quickly a certain food is converted into sugar in the body, but also how much sugar a particular food contains. The GL multiplies the GI of a certain food by the carbohydrate content of the actual serving. A GL of 20 or more is high, a GL of 11 to 19 is medium, and a GL of 10 or less is low.

It is best to know the GI and the GL of a particular food to decide if you want to eat it. For example, the sugar in carrots and watermelon is readily absorbed into the bloodstream; therefore, they are both ranked high on the GI. People might decide to avoid carrots and watermelons because they assume that because they are high on the GI they will cause weight gain. However, although the sugar in carrots and watermelons is absorbed into the blood-stream quickly, they don't have much sugar, so they have a low GL. This explains why even though they are high on the GI, you will not gain weight eating small portions of them.

THE SATIETY INDEX

Researchers from the University of Sydney performed an interesting study in which they compared the satiating effects of various foods. The results of the study clearly indicated that certain foods are much better than others for satisfying hunger. The researchers concluded that the satiety index is useful for the treatment and prevention of overweight and obesity.^[15]

The satiety index measures different foods' ability to satisfy hunger. The most satisfying foods they tested were plain boiled potatoes, brown pasta, oatmeal, fish, and meat. People who consumed these foods were less likely to feel hungry immediately afterward. Foods that did the worst job of satisfying hunger were croissants, donuts, candy, and peanuts.

The satiety index is a valuable tool for those wanting to lose weight. "A diet which simply recommends cereal for breakfast overlooks the fact that muesli is only half as satisfying as porridge [oatmeal]," says Susanna Holt, PhD. "Many health-conscious dieters will eat a meal based on several pieces of fruit and some rice cakes and then wonder why they feel ravenous a few hours later. These kinds of extremely low-fat, high-carb meals do not keep hunger at bay because they are not based on slowly digested carbs and probably don't contain enough protein. A dieter would be better off eating a wholesome salad sandwich on wholegrain bread with some lean protein like tuna or beef and an

apple. This kind of meal can keep hunger at bay for a very long time."

You can find the satiety index in the article "A satiety index of common foods" in the September 1995 *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*.

YOU ARE WHAT YOU EAT

The common saying, "you are what you eat" is evident among all those with a "good diet" and a "bad diet." Nutrition researchers and health experts have consistently shown the dramatic difference a good diet has on a person's physical appearance, energy levels, health, and weight.

Physician and nutritionist Robert McCarrison discovered that ancient Indian races such as the Sikhs and certain Himalayan tribes had good physical development, health, hardiness, and endurance thanks to their good diet. Their diet consisted of coarsely ground whole wheat, unpasteurized milk, unpasteurized milk products, tubers, roots, green leafy vegetables, fruit, and, occasionally, meat.

McCarrison conducted an experiment on rats titled "A Good Diet and a Bad One: An Experimental Contrast." This study reveals the health effects of the typical American diet (white bread, margarine, sugar, food preservatives).^[16]

Some rats were fed a "good diet" designed to resemble that eaten by the Sikhs and consisting of whole wheat flour, uncooked vegetables, fresh fruit, sprouted legumes, butter, fresh whole milk, and, occasionally, fresh meat. Other rats were fed a "bad diet" designed to resemble that eaten by many Western people and consisting of white bread made from American white flour; vegetables cooked in water to which pinches of sodium bicarbonate and common salt were added; a butter substitute; processed, tinned meat; packaged jam; sugar; and common food preservatives. McCarrison showed that the rats fed a good diet for six months were physically efficient, healthy, strong, and active, while the

rats fed the bad diet for six months were physically inefficient, weak, low in energy, and sick.

In his book, Nutrition and Physical Degeneration (Price Pottenger Nutrition, 2009), Dr. Price documents his travels to various isolated parts of the earth where the inhabitants had no contact with civilization. While there, he studied their health and physical development. In every isolated region he visited. Price found tribes and villages where virtually every individual displayed what he considered physical perfection in terms of facial structure and an almost complete absence of disease — even those living in physical environments that were extremely harsh. He presented photographs in his book of primitive tribes who had a high degree of physical perfection, as well as beautiful, straight, white teeth with no decay (as compared to the teeth of "civilized" people whose diets of sugar, refined grains, canned foods, pasteurized milk, and devitalized fats and oils caused facial deformities, tooth decay, and disease). The diets of the healthy "primitives" Price studied consisted of unpasteurized milk, butter, cream, cheese, dense rye bread, bone broth soups, seafood, fish, oats, fish liver, fish roe, seal oil and blubber, wild game meat, organ meat, glands, marrow, whole grains, tubers, vegetables, and fruits.

HEALTHY SUBSTITUTES

You can easily sabotage your weight-loss efforts if you frequently binge on extremely high-calorie foods and high-calorie-dense foods (four to nine calories per gram), including baked and regular potato chips, croissants, cookies, French fries, pretzels, cake, and many other high-sugar foods.

If you experience emotional eating or have intense and frequent cravings that you can't control, you need to address possible hidden factors (see Chapter 5).

Chromium deficiency is common in North America and may cause intense cravings for sugar. Candida overgrowth and parasitic infection can also cause intense hunger and constant cravings for certain foods; they are hidden factors in weight gain and an inability to lose weight no matter what you do. Parasitic infections, caused by intestinal helminths and protozoan parasites, are among the most prevalent infections in humans in developed countries.

If you get cravings for certain high-calorie-dense junk or snack foods, replace them with healthier substitutes that are similar in taste and texture and lower in calorie density.

Carob is a good replacement for chocolate. It has a similar texture and flavor but, unlike chocolate, is lower in calories, higher in calcium, and higher in fiber, and has no dairy, caffeine, or theobromine. Carob is naturally sweet-tasting, so many carob bar brands do not add sugar. Carob is also a great substitute for chocolate if you have allergies or sensitivities to chocolate. You can find carob bars at health food stores or online.

For cookies, cupcakes, donuts, muffins, pancakes, waffles, brownies, cakes, pies, and all other desserts and baked goods, you can substitute a few ingredients to make these desserts healthier and lower in calorie density. The two main ingredients to eliminate are white flour and white sugar, as both have high glycemic values, causing blood sugar control problems and weight gain.

Replace wheat flour with coconut flour, quinoa flour, oat flour, spelt flour, kamut flour, rye flour, barley flour, or buckwheat flour. Coconut flour is a popular choice. It is high in fiber, low on the GI, and gluten-free. Oat flour is another popular choice. It tastes a lot like white flour but is much healthier. It's lower on the GI and is a rich source of soluble fiber.

Replace white sugar with low GI, natural sweeteners such as pure stevia, coconut palm sugar, sugarcane juice, maple syrup, Manuka honey, or blackstrap molasses. Not everyone reacts to these sugars the same way even non-diabetics, even if they are low in the GI, so it's best to buy a glucose meter and test your blood sugar before and after

eating one of these sweeteners to see which works best for you.

Agave syrup has become popular in recent years, but it's not a suitable product to use. The Glycemic Research Institute in Washington, D.C., recently rescinded the "diabetic friendly" seal it had given to agave after studies revealed some products caused severe blood sugar swings. The institute also legally de-listed and placed a ban on agave for use in foods, beverages, chocolate, and other products. Manufacturers that produce and use agave in products are warned that they can be held legally liable for negative health incidents related to ingestion of agave.

Homemade vegetable chips are good substitutes for potato chips when you are craving something crispy and salty. You can make oven-baked chips out of kale, sweet potatoes, butternut squash, beets, eggplant chips, spinach, Brussels sprouts, radishes, and zucchini. The most popular are oven-baked kale chips.

When you're craving French fries and a burger you can replace white potatoes with sweet potatoes and a regular burger with a healthier version.

French fries made from white potatoes do not offer many nutrients. They are high in starch and calories. On the other hand, sweet potato fries are packed with calcium, potassium, and vitamins A and C, and are high in fiber. They are also comparably low in calories. Home-made, oven-baked, sweet potato fries have a taste and texture that's similar to regular potato fries. Sweet potatoes are loaded with beta-carotene, which is what gives them their bright orange color. Frying is the worst way to cook sweet potato fries because it adds unnecessary calories and depletes nutrients, so make sure to oven bake them.

For a healthier and lower calorie version of regular burgers, use spelt or kamut hamburger buns, organic grassfed goat cheese, and organic 100% grass-fed beef patties or free-range turkey patties. If you can't locate grass-fed meat

patties in your area, buy them online and have them delivered to your door. There are numerous organic farms that accept orders online or by phone.

CARBOHYDRATES

Carbohydrates have gotten a very bad rep in recent years. However, the main problem is not carbohydrates in themselves, but the type of carbohydrates consumed. High-glycemic carbohydrates produce weight gain. Low-glycemic carbohydrates do not produce weight gain and are essential to good health. China and Japan have very low obesity rates. These populations eat large amounts of low-glycemic carbohydrates (up to 78% of their calories) and citizens remain slim throughout their lives.

Carbohydrates are part of a balanced, healthy diet. Low-glycemic carbohydrates are an important source of essential nutrients such as thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, and folate, as well as iron, magnesium, and selenium. Low-glycemic carbohydrates are also rich in dietary fiber. Dietary fiber lowers the risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, hypertension, diabetes, obesity, and certain gastrointestinal diseases.^[17]

The best times to consume larger amounts of carbohydrates are when you first wake up and before and after workouts, as you can be sure that you will put them to use and burn them off, not store them as fat.

PROTEINS

Meat and dairy are important sources of protein and nutrients. The only protein sources that should be avoided are processed meat products, as well as deep-fried and smoked meats [18] [19] [20]

People subsisting mostly or entirely on vegetables and fruits have teeth containing caries, bone problems, and tuberculosis.^[21] In a survey of 1,040 dentists and their

wives, those who had the fewest health problems and the fewest diseases had the most protein in their diets.^[22]

Studies of the Soviet Georgian people showed that those who consumed the most meat and fat in their diets lived the longest.^[23] Masai and kindred African tribes' diets consist mainly of milk, blood, and beef. Their members are free of heart disease and have low cholesterol levels.^[24] [25]

The indigenous Okinawa islanders have one of the longest life expectancies on the planet. A typical Okinawan lives for about 110 years. The most important factor influencing their longevity is the food they eat. They eat generous amounts of pork and seafood and do all their cooking in lard.^[26]

The Japanese, who have one of the longest life spans of any people, eat moderate amounts of eggs, pork, chicken, beef, seafood, organ meats, and fish broths.

The people of southern India who are vegetarian have one of the shortest life spans in the world.^[27] Animals considered strictly vegetarian are bound to consume grasses and plants that are crawling with insects, making them not strictly vegan.

Animal protein is the best source of protein and fatsoluble vitamins. Isolated protein powder or vegetable protein is inferior in quality. Protein powder made from soy, whey, casein, or eggs is made by a high-temperature process that denatures the protein, causing it to have nitrates and other carcinogens. Soy protein is high in phytates that block mineral absorption, phytoestrogens that depress the thyroid, and enzyme inhibitors that cause cancer.^[28]

The amount of protein needed by each person varies. Some people require a lot of protein, while others do not produce enough hydrochloric acid in their stomachs to handle meat intake very well.

FATS

Healthy fat is essential, helping to absorb calcium as well as vitamins A, D, E, and K. Saturated fats are claimed to be the main causes of heart disease, but studies have shown that trans fats (vegetable oils, margarine, processed foods) are the main culprits. Trans fats cause diabetes, cancer, and cardiovascular diseases.^[29]

Heating unsaturated fats cause them to become toxic and harmful. All hydrogenated and partially hydrogenated oils have been overheated. To prevent disease, avoid all margarine, shortening, foods containing partially hydrogenated vegetable oil, pastries, and fried and deepfried foods.^[30]

Vegetable oils (canola oil, soybean oil, sunflower oil, corn oil, safflower oil, sesame oil, sunflower oil, palm oil), when heated, are detrimental to one's health and raise the risk of cardiovascular disease.^[31]

Vegetable oil and foods that contain partially hydrogenated oils can't be extracted simply by pressing or separating naturally. They must be chemically removed, deodorized, and altered. They become toxic because they are chemically altered, yet they get promoted as healthy.

Butter, lard, and animal fats are highly stable and do not form dangerous free radicals when heated. Extra virgin coconut oil and ghee (clarified butter) are also stable when heated.

High-quality seed oils such as flaxseed, hempseed, and sesame seed oil should be cold-pressed and organic, and can be used as ingredients in homemade salad dressings or added when cooked foods have cooled. They should never be heated, as they form dangerous free radicals when heated.

Diets of healthy, native peoples around the world are rich in saturated fats; yet these people have been found to not have heart disease and cancer at the same high levels as developed countries. Modern day researchers fail to take into account other dietary factors of people who have heart disease and cancer. Some researchers claim a link between consumption of meat/saturated fat and heart disease and cancer, but don't consider other dietary factors, such as trans fats, white flour, and sugar consumption.

Protein and fat occur together, and this is the way they should be eaten. Protein cannot be properly utilized without fat. A high-protein, low-fat diet may be touted as effective for weight loss, but in the long run, it causes health problems and nutritional deficiencies.

Eating a diet too low in fat can interfere with the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins A, D, E, and K. The body needs fat to utilize these vitamins. Consuming low-fat milk, egg whites, and lean meats can lead to nutritional deficiencies.

Saturated fats such as coconut oil, ghee, and butter are acceptable for use in cooking at higher temperatures. Monounsaturated fats such as olive oil are best used in salads and not heated. Polyunsaturated fats such as vegetable, seed, and nut oils should not be heated or used in cooking.

There is little evidence to support the claim that a diet low in cholesterol and saturated fat reduces deaths from heart disease. Interestingly, research found that people who ate the most cholesterol, the most saturated fat, and the most calories weighed the least and had lower serum cholesterol. [32]

Coronary heart disease is rare among Polynesians who eat a high-saturated-fat diet. In Britain, a Medical Research Council survey also showed that men who ate butter ran half the risk of developing coronary heart disease as compared to those who ate margarine. Eggs have a very high cholesterol content. Most doctors still tell patients to eat no more than about three eggs per week. Dr. Uffe Ravnskov conducted his own test of this theory by eating a total of 59 eggs over nine days. His cholesterol fell by more than 11%, from 7.23 mmol/L (millimoles per liter) to 6.39

mmol/L. Careful analysis of the available research, including randomized trials, indicates that, contrary to widespread opinion, lowering cholesterol levels does not appear to be an effective way of reducing cardiac death.^[33]

Processed foods, sugar, and white flour are the problem, not fats and proteins in their natural, raw, organic states. "The introduction of food processing with the Industrial Revolution in the 19th century and the use of chemical additives and other processes in the 20th century is the only satisfactory explanation for the dramatic changes in incidence of vascular disease in the 20th century," explains Kilmer McCully, MD.

In a ten-year study of fat and numbers of heart events, researchers found that only polyunsaturated fats significantly increased heart disease.^[34] Vegetable fat consumption is linked to high rates of cancer, but animal fat is not.^[35]

Margarine is marketed as heart healthy but is actually harmful and should be completely avoided. In one study, researchers found that diets containing fats solely of animal origin coincided with little heart disease or diabetes, but diets that contained margarine and vegetable oils coincided with high levels of heart disease and diabetes.^[36] Research has concluded that oxidized plant sterols found in margarine may be a contributor to heart disease.^[37] Instead of margarine, use yellow, organic, grass-fed butter and ghee, and pure, unrefined, organic, extra virgin coconut oil.

TOXIC FOOD AND BEVERAGE

Seneca, a Roman philosopher, said, "Men do not die, they kill themselves." This is true today, as many people consume foods that are detrimental to their health. Even some natural foods are best avoided due to their naturally high toxin content.

Alcohol consumption is linked to many illnesses.^[38] Research has found that alcohol consumption increases the

risk of certain cancers.^[39] A study of more than one million middle-aged British women concluded that for every additional drink regularly consumed per day, the incidence of breast cancer increased by 11 per 1,000.56 Binge drinking of four to five drinks increased the risk of breast cancer by up to 55%.^[40]

Everyone should remove soft drinks and diet sodas (marketed as low calorie, zero calorie, and sugar free) from their diets. Plenty of research clearly shows that regular soda consumption leads to weight gain, nutritional deficiencies, type 2 diabetes, hypocalcemia, cavities, high blood pressure, and other health problems.^[41]

A study found that sugar-sweetened beverages and artificially sweetened beverages were both linked to an increased risk of type 2 diabetes.^[42] Another study found that those who consumed sugar-free, zero-calorie diet soda containing artificial sweeteners were more likely to gain weight in the long term than were those who consumed naturally sweetened soda.^[43]

The San Antonio Heart Study examined 3,682 adults to study the effects of long-term consumption of artificially sweetened drinks. The study participants were followed for seven to eight years and their weights were monitored. After adjusting for common factors that contribute to weight gain such as dieting, exercise, or diabetes status, the study showed that those who drank artificially sweetened drinks had a 47-percent higher increase in BMI than those who did not. [44]

The American Cancer Society conducted a study of 78,694 people who were the same in regard to age, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and health. At a one-year follow-up, 2.7% to 7.1% of those who were more regular users of artificial sweeteners had gained weight as compared to those who didn't use artificial sweeteners and who were matched by initial weight.^[45]

The Nurses' Health Study found that eight-year weight gain in 31,940 women was linked to the use of artificial sweeteners. [46] The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study followed 2,371 girls for ten years. Both diet and regular soda drinking was associated with increased BMI. [47]

SUGAR IS POISON

High sugar intake increases advanced glycation end products (AGEs), which are sugar molecules that attach to and damage proteins in the body. AGEs speed up the aging of cells, which may contribute to a variety of chronic and fatal diseases.^[48]

Sugar produces a rise in triglycerides, a leading cause of heart disease. [49] A systematic review etitled "Consumption of Sugars, Sugary Foods, and Sugary Beverages in Relation to Cancer Risk" found that high sugar intake may increase cancer risk by promoting insulin-glucose dysregulation and has been connected to the development of cancer of the breast, ovaries, prostate, rectum, pancreas, biliary tract, lung, gallbladder, and stomach. [50] [51] [52] [53] [54] [55] Sugar can also contribute to arthritis, multiple sclerosis, [56] [57] diabetes, [58] [59] osteoporosis, [60] Alzheimer's disease, [61] cataracts, [62] kidney damage, [63] and adrenal gland dysfunction. [64]

NATURAL SWEETENERS

Natural and artificial sugar substitutes are available. However, artificial sweeteners have been linked to increased cancer risk.^[65] [66] Long-term use of artificial sweeteners has been linked to headaches, seizures, blindness, and cognitive and behavioral changes.^[67]

Artificial sweeteners such as saccharin (Sugar Twin, Sweet 'N Low), aspartame (Equal, NutraSweet), sucralose (Splenda), acesulfame potassium (also known as acesulfame k-Sunett, Sweet One), neotame, and tagatose are linked to a

number of health problems. Numerous studies show that frequent consumption of low-calorie artificial sweeteners causes weight gain and increases one's risk for metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease.^[68]

The consumption of artificial sweeteners leads to increased body weight and obesity because it interferes with the normal functions of the body.^[69] In one study, consumption of artificial sweeteners increased BMI and increased body fat percentage at a two-year follow-up.^[70]

Even though low-calorie artificial sweeteners are currently approved for use, many people have reported that they believe their negative health symptoms were caused by these artificial sugar substitutes.^[71]

Coconut palm sugar, stevia, and organic manuka honey are the best natural sweeteners to use and even have some health benefits.

Coconut palm sugar is a very good sugar substitute. It is low on the GI (with a rating of 35), and rich in potassium, magnesium, zinc, iron, and B vitamins.

Stevia has been widely used for centuries in South America as well as in Japan. It has zero calories and has a GI of zero, which means it does not raise blood sugar levels. Unlike sugar, which has a negative effect on those with diabetes, stevia has been shown to have a positive effect on those with diabetes.^[72] Studies have found that stevia improves insulin sensitivity,^[73] promotes additional insulin production,^[74] and helps reverse diabetes and metabolic syndrome.^[75]

Ancient scriptures promote the use of honey. According to the Bible, "eat honey, for it is good" (NLT, Proverbs 24:13). The Quran calls honey a healing food (Sa-heeh International English Translation, Surah an-Nahl 16:68-69). In many ancient cultures, raw organic honey was used for medical purposes.^[76]

The medicinal use of products made by honeybees is called apitherapy. The use of honey and propolis in the treatment and prevention of numerous diseases has been documented.^[77] [78] Honey has demonstrated bactericidal activity against salmonella, Shigella, Escherichia coli, and H. pylori.^[79]

Research demonstrates that propolis has the highest antioxidant power, followed by royal jelly and honey.^[80] **Propolis** has antibacterial. antifungal. antiviral. antioxidative, antiparasitic, immunomodulating, antianalgesic, hepatoprotective, inflammatory, anticarcinogenic effects.^[81] Royal jelly is said to have antitumor effects.^[82] [83] [84]

The antibacterial activity in Manuka honey is much stronger than in other types of honey.^[85] "UMF" stands for Unique Manuka Factor and is a property that gives manuka honey its special healing quality. UMF manuka honey with a rating of 16+ has the highest level of antibacterial activity. Manuka honey is said to be best consumed raw (be aware of health warnings about raw honey) as heat destroys some of the nutrients in honey.^[86] [87]

RAW VERSUS COOKED

Cooking foods destroy their nutrients.^[88] A German study found that high consumption of raw vegetables appears to decrease the risk of breast cancer. However, the increased intake of cooked vegetables did not contribute to the reduced risk of breast cancer, probably due to the loss of nutrients.^[89]

If one chooses to cook vegetables, steaming seems to be the best cooking method for the retention of nutrients.^[90]

The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has concluded that toxic compounds present in cooked meats may cause cancer.^[91]

Researchers have found that high consumption of well-done, fried, or barbecued meats was associated with increased risks of colorectal cancer and pancreatic cancer. [92] [93] Meat and fish should be eaten raw, as in sushi, or rare-cooked.

A healthy diet consists of a high percentage of raw, antioxidant-rich foods. A comprehensive study found that berries, fruits, vegetables, nuts, and dark chocolate have the highest antioxidant levels of all common foods.^[94]

Chocolate has many documented health benefits, but because it's a calorie-dense food, it should be eaten in very small amounts. Overeating chocolate leads to weight gain. It's the cocoa that offers health benefits; therefore, choose only organic dark chocolate with a minimum cocoa content of 70% [95]

FOOD PREPARATION

The best food preparation methods maintain the nutrients and health-promoting compounds in food. You want to avoid any cooking methods that devitalize food.

A study investigated common cooking methods — including steaming, microwaving, boiling, and stir-frying — and their effects on the nutrients and health-promoting compounds of broccoli. The results showed that all cooking treatments, except steaming, caused significant losses of valuable nutrients and healthful compounds. To retain nutritional values at maximum levels, vegetables are best prepared by steam cooking.

The study showed that certain cooking methods should be avoided due to their ability to increase cancer risk. Grilling and toasting produced substantial increases in cancer-causing compounds in bread. Microwave cooking produced elevated cancer-causing levels in some cheeses. Microwave cooking, frying, and broiling foods increase the risk of certain cancers and tumors. [98]

Microwaving is one of the worst cooking methods.

Swiss food scientist Hans Hertel found that the consumption of microwaved food increased cholesterol levels, decreased numbers of white blood cells, and decreased numbers of red blood cells.

To prevent yourself from using a microwave oven and microwavable meals, prepare your meals ahead of time. Make soups and stews in bulk, then freeze them. An hour before mealtime, take one out and defrost it in a sink of water until it's thawed enough to slip into a pot, then reheat it on the stove.

SEAWEED

The soil on the earth has been depleted, but the sea is rich in minerals. Seaweeds are the richest source of minerals on the planet. They contain higher amounts of both macrominerals and trace elements than do land plants.^[99]

The consumption of seaweed is one important factor contributing to the relatively low breast cancer rates reported in Japan.^[100] Research suggests that edible seaweeds prevent cancer.^[101] Dulse (Palmaria palmata) is especially useful for preventing cancer.^[102] Kelp has been shown to prevent breast tumors.^[103] Wakame and kombu inhibited the growth of cancer cells significantly.^[104] Mekabu (wakame root) may prevent breast cancer.^[105]

Seaweed is an excellent source of iodine and may help people with hypothyroidism. However, make sure not to consume too much, as it can lead to iodine poisoning.

ORGANIC FOODS

Organic produce is nutritionally superior to conventional produce. Organic food is produced without antibiotics, artificial ingredients, chemical preservatives, genetic engineering, irradiation, synthetic fertilizers, synthetic hormones, and pesticides.

According to the Environmental Protection Agency, fungicides, herbicides, and insecticides can be carcinogenic. Pesticides can be neurotoxins, endocrine disruptors, and immune-system suppressors. When you are not eating food that is 100% organic, you are consuming food that contains poisonous chemicals.^[106] Pesticides, insecticides, herbicides, and fungicides are found in food that is not organic and has been shown to cause cancer.^[107]

Researchers found that antioxidant levels were higher in those consuming a Mediterranean diet consisting of organic food versus one consisting of conventional food.^[108] Organic foods contain higher concentrations of antioxidants. ^[109] Organic foods contain significantly more nutrients with lower amounts of some heavy metals as compared to conventional foods.^[110]

The best possible thing to do is to grow your own organic fruits and vegetables. Watering the soil with ozonated water and treating it with volcanic or humic shale and seawater will ensure produce that is rich in nutrients. If you can't grow your own food, buy biodynamic organic produce whenever you can.

Choose the freshest organic produce. If you are unable to purchase super-fresh organic produce, buy frozen organic fruits and vegetables. Freezing has little effect on the nutrient content of food.

It is especially essential to buy organic white potatoes, sweet potatoes, ginger, garlic, and onions because if they are not organic, they may have been treated with sprout inhibitors that have dangerous DNA-damaging effects causing cancer.^[111] [112] [113] [114]

CALCIUM AND MILK

Many people do not digest and assimilate cow's milk properly, typically because of lactose and casein. Many people do much better on milk from other animals, such as sheep or goats.^[115] Cow's milk is a common cause of

digestive problems, allergies, and excess mucus, but goat's and sheep's milk are not. Both sheep's and goat's milk have a higher nutritional value and are better digested than is cow's milk [116] [117]

Goat's and sheep's milk are not only more easily digested and nutritious, but also less toxic. Cows in the US are pumped full of synthetic hormones and antibiotics (not in Canada; there are different laws in Canada surrounding what farmers are able to do), but goats and sheep are typically not treated with these substances.

Whole goat's milk contains vitamins A and D, as well as B vitamins and the minerals calcium, magnesium, phosphorous, and potassium.

Sheep's milk is commonly consumed in the Mediterranean. Greek feta cheese and Italian ricotta cheese are typically made from sheep's milk. Many people consider sheep's milk better tasting than cow's milk and goat's milk because it has a rich, creamy, sweet taste. Whole sheep's milk is richer in protein and calcium than either cow's or goat's milk. It contains higher levels of conjugated linoleic acid that promote fat loss. It also contains phosphorous, magnesium, potassium, zinc, vitamin A, and B vitamins.

In addition to sheep's milk and goat's milk, more and more people are looking for other good alternatives to cow's milk due to allergies and intolerance. Certain animals produce milk that has healing properties, and this milk is used as a medicine in some cultures.

Camel's milk reportedly has powerful healing properties. Some say it can help with gut problems, autoimmune conditions, and more.^[118] [119] Those with severe food allergies are in many cases able to consume camel's milk, and astonishingly, have been reported to fully recover from their allergies to all foods.^[120]

Bedouin parents give their children camel's milk during their childhoods, as they believe that it builds a strong immune system for life. Camels are unlike any other mammal. They can survive in incredibly harsh climates, and are able to live without water for 30 days at a time while still producing high-quality milk. The healing power of camel's milk likely stems from the animal's unique, hardy build and strong survival ability.

Camel's milk has incredible antibacterial and antiviral properties because it contains immunoglobulins and protective proteins. Camel's milk helps treat liver problems and boosts immunity. [121]

Mare's milk, also called horse milk, can help humans to overcome inflammatory and various skin disorders such as dermatitis. [122] Fermented mare's milk was found to have a high antioxidant capacity, and research has shown that it has a protective property against the toxic effects of mercury in the body. [123] [124] Mare's milk is considered by some to be closer in composition to human milk than any other mammal's milk.

Raw donkey's milk was used as a cure for a variety of illnesses. The Greek physician Hippocrates recommended it to treat liver problems, fevers, infectious diseases, poisoning, joint pain, and nosebleeds. Donkey's milk contains antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, and anti-allergen properties reported to heal psoriasis, eczema, asthma, and bronchitis.^[125] [126]

Wild elk's milk, also known as moose milk, is used as a treatment for duodenal and gastric ulcers. The healing properties of wild elk could be due to the elks' diet. In the wild, they eat grasses, shrubs, and approximately 350 species of forest plants, many of which have medicinal value. Elk's milk also has antibacterial effects.

Buffalo's milk is a rich source of calcium, magnesium, potassium, and phosphorus. Buffalo's milk is thick and creamy, and many prefer its taste over that of cow's milk.

Tibetan nomads have lived since ancient times in the harsh environment of the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau, with average altitudes of over 4,000 meters. They have been able to live healthy lives and reproduce despite being under the extreme stress of a high-altitude environment that includes cold, hypoxia, and strong ultraviolet radiation. They have been able to thrive on a simple diet consisting mainly of yak's milk and its products. The Tibetan nomads' diet is devoid of vegetables and fruits for most of the year. Yak's milk is a complete food consisting of high levels of antioxidant vitamins, enzymes, probiotics, amino acids, and fatty acids. [127]

Milk is best consumed raw and unpasteurized, as it contains the most nutrients and healing properties in this form. Raw, organic milk from grass-fed animals was used as a medicine in the 1920s. Raw milk was used to treat — and frequently said to cure — some serious chronic diseases. [128]

The Mayo Foundation used a diet of raw milk as a remedy for heart failure, diabetes, kidney disease, chronic fatigue, and obesity. In Germany, raw-milk therapy is used by many hospitals.^[129] Raw milk prevents tooth decay, even in children who eat a lot of sugar.^[130]

Vat pasteurization has been shown to be superior to pasteurization. Heating milk at high heat destroys many nutrients.^[131]

In my opinion, if you cannot gain access to vat pasteurized, grass-fed milk, you will be better off to completely remove milk from your diet and consume only organic, grass-fed fermented milk products.

Research demonstrated an association between pasteurized milk consumption and the development of diseases such as type 2 diabetes. In contrast, fermented milk products exhibit an inverse correlation.^[132]

Raw milk is generally not associated with the health problems linked to pasteurized milk, and even people who are allergic to pasteurized milk can typically tolerate and even thrive on raw milk. Grass-fed dairy has a high amount of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA). CLA raises your metabolic rate, allowing you to burn fat.

Those with an intolerance or allergic reaction to fresh milk are able to consume ghee, clarified butter, buttermilk, cultured cream, kefir, full-fat yogurt, clabber, and other fermented milk products. Fermented milk products often contain probiotics, which promote gut health. Greek yogurt is a good option, as it has twice as much protein as regular yogurt.

Those who would rather not consume milk can get their calcium from arame, kombu, or sesame seeds. Arame and kombu are extremely high in calcium. Arame contains 1,170 milligrams per 100 grams, kombu contains 800 milligrams per 100 grams, and sesame seeds contain 630 milligrams per 100 grams. Milk (2%) has only 297 milligrams per cup.

ORGANIC GRASS-FED MEAT

If an animal isn't fed nutritious food, it won't become nutritious food. Feeding an animal junk turns it into junk food. Ruminant animals are meant to eat grass.

To attain the optimum weight gain in a minimum amount of time, animals used for food (cows, pigs, chickens, sheep) are often administered growth-stimulating hormones and feed additives. They are fed corn, soybean, sorghum, and other grains. This grain feed is high in insecticides. When consumed by the animals, the pesticides accumulate in their bodies. The pesticides are then passed along to the consumer. Beef ranks second only to tomatoes as the food posing the greatest cancer risk due to pesticide contamination, according to the National Research Council of the National Academy of Sciences.

Some feedlot operators give their animals cardboard, newspaper, candy, sawdust, chicken feces, ground-up rock, sewage, and garbage. They do this to reduce costs and fatten animals more quickly, with a lack of regard for the health effects on consumers. Some factory farms scrape up the manure from chicken houses and pigpens and add it directly to cattle feed. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) officials say that it's not uncommon for some feedlot operators to mix industrial sewage and oils into the feed.

Conventionally raised meat is higher in calories and less nutritious. Grass-fed meat is lower in calories. It also contains more omega-3 fats, more vitamins A and E, and up to seven times the beta-carotene compared to conventionally raised meat. "If you eat a typical amount of beef per year, which in the United States is about 67 pounds, switching to grass-fed beef will save you 16,642 calories a year," states Jo Robinson in *Pasture Perfect* (Vashon Island Press, 2007), a book about the benefits of pasture-raised meat.

The longer an animal is fed grains, the lower the nutrient content of the meat. The omega-3 quantity of grain-fed meat is so low it doesn't qualify as a good dietary source. Grassfed meat has enough omega-3 to be considered a good source of omega-3 fatty acids.^[133]

Omega-3 fatty acids prevent sudden cardiac death. They lower blood pressure and heart rate, improve blood vessel function, lower triglycerides, and reduce inflammation. [134] Grass-fed beef, walnuts, flaxseed, sardines, and salmon are good sources of omega-3 fatty acids.

Meat and dairy products from grass-fed meat are the richest sources of conjugated linoleic acid (CLA). CLA is a naturally occurring trans-fatty acid that improves brain function, promotes weight loss, and reduces the risk of cancer. When animals are raised on grass, their products contain three to five times more CLA than do meat from animals fed grain.^[135]

Heterocyclic amines (HCAs) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are chemicals formed when meat is cooked using high temperatures (above 300°F) or for a long time, such as when pan frying, barbecuing, smoking, charring, or grilling directly over an open flame. HCAs and PAHs have been found to cause changes in DNA that may increase the risk of cancer. [136] [137] Researchers found that frequent consumption of well-done, fried, or barbecued meat was associated with increased risks of colorectal, [138] pancreatic, [139] [140] and prostate cancer. [141] [142] Meat should be eaten rare-cooked or braised in water or stock.

Processed meats such as sausage, luncheon meats, pastrami, salami, hot dogs, and bacon contain preservatives that increase cancer risk.^[143] Lacto-fermentation or salt curing are old-fashioned and better ways to preserve meat.

Vary the types of meat you eat. Most people in North America consume only chicken, beef, and pork. Try wild game meats such as goat, bison, deer, antelope, elk, kangaroo, and game birds such as partridge, quail, duck, goose, and pheasant.

ORGANIC FREE-RANGE EGGS

Eggs, especially the yolk, contain all the essential amino acids and essential fatty acids and are a good source of selenium, phosphorus, vitamin A, vitamin B2, vitamin B5, vitamin B6, folic acid, vitamin B12, vitamins E and D, choline, lutein, and zeaxanthin.

A chicken's diet has an effect on the nutritional quality of its eggs. Eggs from free-range chickens are more nutritious than conventional eggs. They are higher in vitamins A and E, and in omega-3.^[144] Omega-3 eggs had five to ten times as much omega-3 as did conventional eggs.^[145]

I personally found that the egg yolks of the omega-3 eggs I buy are a deep yellow color, indicating they are more nutrient-rich than conventional eggs.

Any pesticides and herbicides present in the diet of chickens can end up in their eggs. Organic eggs do not contain antibiotics or hormones, but the chickens may not have had access to the outdoors.

Eggs are nutritious, high-protein, high-satiety foods. They are ideal for breakfast. Research shows that eating eggs for breakfast promotes weight loss. Several meta-analyses strongly suggest that daily egg consumption does not adversely affect plasma lipoproteins with regard to the risk of coronary heart disease or stroke. [146]

Some people eat only the egg whites for their protein content. However, it's the egg yolks that are the most nutritious part of the egg; the egg white has very few vitamins and minerals. Egg yolks contain fat-soluble vitamins A, D, E, and K as well as all the carotenoids, lutein, and zeaxanthin found in an egg. They also contain calcium, iron, phosphorus, zinc, thiamin, folate, vitamin B6, and vitamin B12.

Organic egg yolks can be eaten raw or added to a smoothie, while egg whites should not be eaten raw, as they contain several protease inhibitors and anti-nutrients that interfere with the digestion of proteins and can result in a biotin deficiency.

Raw eggs carry the risk of salmonella contamination, although the risk of infection from raw or undercooked eggs is minimal when the eggs are organic and free-range and washed before consumption.

Most people eat only chicken eggs. However, eggs from certain other birds are even more nutritious. If you can find them, purchase eggs from ducks, geese, quail, turkeys, ostriches, pheasants, or emus. Most people who are allergic to chicken eggs can eat other types of bird eggs without allergic reactions. The best places to find different types of eggs are farmers' markets, gourmet food stores, and higherend grocery stores such as Whole Foods Market.

Duck eggs have higher levels of nutrients than do chicken eggs and stay fresher longer because of their thicker shells. Duck eggs have higher levels of vitamin D, vitamin A, vitamin E, vitamin K2, and omega-3 fatty acids.

Eggs are fairly high in cholesterol, but as we discussed earlier, it's a myth that cholesterol has a negative effect on cholesterol levels in people with normal cholesterol metabolism. To put things in perspective, one egg contains the same amount of saturated fat as a small tablespoon of olive oil.

Cooking destroys some of the heat-sensitive nutrients, like certain B vitamins. The longer eggs are cooked, the more nutrients are lost. The best cooking methods — like sunny side up or poached — leave the egg yolk intact and soft.

OMEGA-3-RICH FISH

Fish are a good source of protein; most varieties contain around 20 grams of protein per three-ounce serving. Fish is also a good source of vitamin B12, iron, vitamins A and D, and omega-3 fatty acids. Certain varieties of fish are higher in omega-3 than others. Salmon, mackerel, halibut, herring, lake trout and sardines are the fish with the highest omega-3 fatty acid content.

Fish and shellfish have been shown to contain varying amounts of heavy metals, particularly mercury and fat-soluble pollutants from water pollution. They often concentrate mercury in their bodies in the form of methylmercury, a highly toxic organic compound of mercury. Methylmercury is not soluble and thus is not excreted from the body.^[147]

Wild fish generally have lower levels of toxins than farmed fish; coastal and farmed salmon may have higher levels. The Environmental Working Group (EWG) has analyzed research and found that farmed salmon contains 16 times more polychlorinated biphenyl (PCBs) than do wild

salmon. PCBs are very toxic, cancer-causing chemicals that accumulate in human tissues and organs over time and are difficult to eliminate from the body even with cleansing and detoxing regimens.

Species of fish that are long-lived and high on the food chain, such as marlins, tuna, sharks, swordfish, king mackerel, tilefish, and northern pike, contain high concentrations of mercury. Swordfish and bluefin tuna have been found to contain the highest concentrations of mercury of all fish species.^[148] Fish and shellfish have also been found to possess lead and cadmium.^[149]

Those who would like to reap the health benefits of fish can consume wild-caught Alaskan salmon instead of Atlantic or Norwegian salmon. A study found that wild Alaskan salmon had the lowest level of contaminants as compared to Atlantic salmon and organically farmed Norwegian salmon.^[150] Studies show that farmed salmon has consistently higher levels of contaminants than does wild salmon.^[151] [152] [153]

A study that analyzed mercury levels in humans from 32 locations in 13 countries found that mercury levels were highest in the group that ate fish once or more per day.^[154]

A study concluded that the benefits of fish intake exceed the potential risks. Moderate consumption of fish, especially species higher in omega-3, reduces the risk of coronary death by 36% and total mortality by 17%.^[155]

A study analyzed the foods that pose the greatest cancer risk due to certain contaminants (arsenic, chlordane, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane [DDT], dieldrin, dioxins, and PCBs). Shellfish and fish (saltwater and freshwater) are significant contributors to the total exposures for some contaminants (arsenic and PCBs in shellfish; arsenic, chlordane, dieldrin, dioxin, and PCBs in fish). After fish, the largest contributors to chemical exposure are other meat and animal products, including beef, chicken, pork, and

milk.^[156] Farmed fish and crude fish oil contain brominated flame-retardants (BFRs).^[157]

You want to eat fish and shellfish in moderation and get most of your protein needs from sources low in contaminants such as free-range eggs and wild game. When selecting fish, consume only wild-caught, cold-water fish rather than farmed fish.

ORGANIC UNROASTED NUTS

Many people avoid eating nuts because they are high in fat and calories. However, numerous epidemiological and clinical studies show that frequent consumption of nuts is not associated with weight gain because they are very satiating, boost metabolism, have a thermogenic effect, and have low metabolizable energy (meaning that you don't absorb all of the calories).

Clinical trials have shown that people do not gain weight when they include various types of nuts in their diets.^[158] "Nuts suppress hunger as well as the desire to eat," explains Dr. Richard Mattes, MPH, PhD, RD. He recommends a maximum of 40 grams per day of unsalted nuts, such as almonds, walnuts, and Brazil nuts.

Nuts are rich sources of nutrients such as vitamin E, magnesium, selenium, folate, essential fatty acids, fiber, protein, and phytochemicals. They offer numerous health benefits, including a reduced risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes.^[160]

When you have a desire for sweets, eat a handful of your favorite nuts. Nuts raise your basal metabolic rate, meaning they raise the rate at which you burn calories. In one study, two weeks of overeating candy led to higher LDL cholesterol, increased insulin levels, and weight gain. Overeating nuts led to an increased basal metabolic rate and did not cause the same negative metabolic effects as eating candy did.^[161]

Nuts are a very good addition to your breakfast because they promote fullness, reduce appetite, and prevent spikes in blood sugar throughout the morning and even after the next meal of the day.^[162]

A balanced, healthy diet such the Mediterranean diet is high in nuts, seeds, vegetables, fruits, pulses, whole grains, meat, and dairy products. The Mediterranean diet and frequent consumption of nuts prevent life-threatening diseases such as coronary heart disease.^[163] [164]

Raw, organic, unroasted, unsalted nuts to incorporate in your diet include almonds, walnuts, Brazil nuts, cashews, hazelnuts, macadamia nuts, pecans, pine nuts, and pistachios.

WHOLE GRAINS AND PULSES

Whole grains have high concentrations of essential nutrients, antioxidants, and fiber. Studies have found that consumption of whole grains promotes weight loss.^[165] The dietary fiber found in whole grains helps promote a feeling of satiety, which reduces the amount of food eaten. Consumption of whole grains lowers BMI, WHR, total cholesterol, and LDL cholesterol.^[166]

There is an overwhelming amount of scientific evidence showing the health benefits offered by the consumption of whole grains.^[167] Whole grains contain a wide range of phytochemicals with numerous health benefits.^[168]

Diets high in whole grains are associated with a 20 to 30% reduction in the risk of type 2 diabetes.^[169] The disease protection offered by the consumption of whole grains far exceeds the benefits from isolated nutrients and phytochemicals found in nutritional supplements.^[170]

Pulses (beans, peas, lentils) are a source of protein and fiber as well as a significant source of vitamins and minerals such as iron, zinc, folate, and magnesium. Pulses are high in fiber and have a low GI. They are very beneficial to people

with diabetes because they help maintain a balanced blood sugar level. Pulses have anticancer ingredients, as they contain phytochemicals, saponins, and tannins.^[171]

Scientific evidence indicates that whole grains play an important role in lowering the risk of chronic diseases such as coronary heart disease, diabetes, and various types of cancer, and also contribute to body weight management and gastrointestinal health.^[172]

Dr. Price discovered that the healthiest cultures include whole grains and pulses in their diets. However, they usually soak or ferment their grains and pulses before eating them to neutralize phytates and enzyme inhibitors. Fermented or soaked grains are predigested, making them easy to digest with all nutrients more readily available.

Grains contain phytic acid, which combines with iron, calcium, magnesium, copper, and zinc in the intestinal tract, blocking their absorption.^[173]

Many people who are allergic to certain grains, beans, or legumes are able to eat them without a problem if they are properly prepared. Soak grains and pulses for seven hours or more before cooking, sprouting, or sour leavening.

To soak grains or pulses, put them in a bowl, cover them with enough water, and add a tablespoon of either yogurt, raw apple cider vinegar, lemon juice, or kefir. Allow them to sit at room temperature for at least seven hours. Drain and rinse before cooking them with fresh water.

Grains you want to stay away from include white rice, refined white flour, granola, and — if you have celiac disease or a gluten sensitivity — grains containing gluten.

Refined carbohydrates such as white rice and white flour may contribute to type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Modern Asian Indians (people from India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh) typically include a lot of white rice and refined white flour in their diet, which may contribute to the remarkably high prevalence of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in this population.^[174]

Granola which is labeled a "healthy cereal" is made from grains subjected only to dry heat, making it extremely indigestible. Granola, like all processed breakfast cereals, is not healthy as some people think.

Hot and cold breakfast porridge made from properly prepared, low GI, nutritious whole grains such as amaranth, quinoa, and teff are good substitutes for commercial breakfast cereals and granola.

The best whole grains are "ancient grains" prized for their high nutritional content, such as quinoa, amaranth, barley, millet, couscous, buckwheat, teff, bulgur, farro, kamut, and spelt. Most ancient grains are gluten-free, high in fiber, and high in essential nutrients. They reduce cholesterol levels and offer a number of other health benefits. Many ancient grains can be used in recipes for bread, pancakes, crepes, waffles, muffins, and cookies, and can be eaten as hot breakfast cereals. Ancient whole grains can be found in health food stores.

Quinoa is a complete protein source, containing all the essential amino acids. Quinoa is about 14% protein, a high level for a plant-based food. The red and yellow varieties of quinoa may have a slightly higher protein content than does white quinoa. Quinoa contains dietary fiber, phosphorus, magnesium, and iron. Quinoa is also gluten free.

Amaranth is about 14% protein. Researchers concluded that the protein in amaranth "is among the highest in nutritive quality of vegetable origin and close to those of animal origin products." [175] Amaranth is gluten-free and a good source of vitamins A, B6, K, and C, as well as folate and riboflavin. Amaranth is an excellent source of manganese, iron, calcium, copper, magnesium, phosphorus, and potassium.

Buckwheat doesn't contain gluten, making it an ideal dietary option for those who are gluten sensitive or who

have celiac disease. Buckwheat contains the eight essential amino acids and is rich in B vitamins as well as phosphorus, magnesium, iron, folate, zinc, copper, and manganese. Buckwheat is high in fiber. A single cup of cooked buckwheat groats contains more than four grams of dietary fiber.

Teff is gluten-free and rich in vitamins and minerals such as manganese, potassium, phosphorus, magnesium, calcium, iron, vitamin C, niacin, vitamin A, and thiamin. One serving of teff (a quarter cup) offers seven grams of protein and four grams of fiber. When cooked on a stovetop with water, it creates a creamy product similar to cream of wheat, making it a good option for a hot breakfast cereal.

Pearled barley is an excellent source of vitamins B1, B2, B3, B6, and B9. Pearled barley has the lowest GI of all the common grains, including wheat, rye, and oats. The GI of boiled pearled barley is 35, so it is considered a low-glycemic food and a good choice for diabetics.

Brown rice and wild rice are good sources of the B vitamins, vitamin E, and the minerals potassium, phosphorus, calcium, magnesium, and manganese. Brown and wild rice contain both the germ and the bran of the grain and are considered healthier than white rice because they contain more nutrients and fiber. In contrast, white rice has the germ and bran of the grain polished away and therefore contains fewer nutrients and less fiber.

Rice has been a staple food for many generations — and for good reason. It is easy to digest and highly nutritious. In the oldest known book of Chinese medicine, *The Yellow Emperor's Classic of Internal Medicine*, the first remedy for disease treatment is a ten-day period during which the patient eats only rice.

Different varieties of rice have different GI indices depending on their fiber content and amylose content. Worldwide, there are more than 40,000 varieties of rice. Many varieties, especially white rice, are classified as high

GI foods. Look for rice with high fiber and high amylose content, which means the rice will be low on the GI. Doongara rice has a higher amylose content and is low on the GI. [176] [177] [178]

Long-grain brown rice and basmati rice are also low on the GI.^[179] [180] Of all varieties of rice, Koshihikari rice, and Bangladeshi rice are the lowest on the GI.^[181]

Millet is gluten-free whole grain that can be consumed by people with celiac disease or those with allergies or intolerance to gluten. It is rich in B vitamins, especially niacin, B6, and folic acid, as well as the minerals calcium, iron, potassium, magnesium, and zinc. Millet has a high GI and therefore should be consumed in small amounts and eaten only in combination with protein and healthy fats. Millet can be made into a delicious hot breakfast. A porridge can be made with goat's or sheep's milk, nuts, seeds, cinnamon, flaxseed, and stevia or raw Manuka honey added at the end of the cooking process. Millet can also be boiled in water with apples added during the boiling process and raw honey, cinnamon, and nuts or seeds added during the cooling process.

Fonio is a kind of millet — a cross between couscous and quinoa in both appearance and texture. It has been cultivated in West Africa for thousands of years and is used in salads, stews, and porridges, as well as ground into flour. It is gluten-free and a great alternative for gluten-intolerant people. Fonio is rich in B vitamins, magnesium, zinc, manganese, and amino acids, particularly in the amino acids methionine and cysteine.

Couscous is made from semolina, a form of wheat. People with celiac disease or those who have gluten intolerance will generally not be able to eat couscous. Couscous is rich in B vitamins and the minerals calcium, phosphorus, selenium, potassium, and magnesium. A one-cup serving of cooked couscous provides six grams of protein and two grams of dietary fiber. Couscous is a staple

food in Africa, Europe, the Middle East, India, and many other parts of the world. It can be added to a soup or to meat and vegetable dishes, or consumed as a dessert when dates, sesame, and honey are added to it.

Bulgur is made from the groats of several different wheat species, typically durum wheat. Bulgur has been a staple of the traditional Mediterranean diet for thousands of years. People with celiac disease or those who have gluten intolerance will not be able to eat bulgur. It has a low GI of 48. It is high in fiber and protein, and low in calories. It is rich in B vitamins, iron, phosphorous, and manganese.

Farro has significantly less gluten than wheat does. Farro is the oldest cultivated grain in the world. In ancient Rome, farro was a staple food of the Roman legions. It is common in many traditional Mediterranean dishes. In Italy, the most common way to eat farro is by adding it to soup. It can also be added to salads and made into pasta and bread. A half cup contains four grams of fiber and four grams of protein.

Freekeh is made from young wheat (typically durum) that is harvested while still green. It has been a staple of Middle Eastern diets for centuries. It's not a gluten-free grain, but some people with gluten intolerance are able to consume it. Freekeh is low on the GI and suitable for those with diabetes. It is a high-fiber, high-protein grain that is more nutrient-rich than many other grains. It is high in iron, calcium, zinc, selenium, potassium, and magnesium.

Some people who are allergic to wheat report better results when they use ancient varieties of wheat, such as kamut or spelt. You can substitute kamut flour or spelt flour in any recipe calling for wheat flour, such as pasta, bread, waffles, crepes, pancakes, muffins, cakes, cookies, crackers, or baked goods. Spelt has higher amounts of protein, B vitamins, potassium, and iron than do other varieties of wheat. Kamut contains calcium, iron, magnesium, phosphorus, potassium, and zinc.

LONG-FERMENTED BREAD

Gluten sensitivity is so common that many nutritionists recommend avoiding the consumption of grains and bread. Dr. Price studied several societies that enjoyed perfect health and were completely free from disease. He found that they consumed grains and bread prepared the old-fashioned way.

Some people with celiac disease or gluten sensitivity are able to eat bread prepared with long fermentation. The long, slow fermentation process of 18 to 25 hours breaks down the gluten and also neutralizes enzyme inhibitors that interfere with digestion and phytic acid that blocks nutrient absorption. Fermentation also lowers the GI of bread. Bread prepared in this old-fashioned way is highly nutritious, providing many nutrients in a form that is delicious and very easy to digest.

"Most of the plastic-wrap bread you find at grocery stores is made very quickly with yeast — it goes from flour to plastic-wrap in three hours or less," says Stephen Jones, a wheat breeder. Gluten proteins don't have time to break down, and it is very hard to digest.

In the long, slow fermentation process that produces sourdough bread, nutrients such as iron, zinc, and magnesium, as well as antioxidants, folic acid, and other B vitamins, are made available. Sourdough bread produces a lower surge in blood sugar than any other bread.^[182]

A study found that people with celiac disease who ate sourdough bread for 60 days had no clinical complaints. Their biopsies showed no changes in their intestinal linings. The researchers concluded that sourdough bread is safe to consume for the majority of people with celiac disease.^[183]

You can make your own bread or buy traditional long-fermented bread from artisan bakers who make bread the old-fashioned way. Be sure to buy "whole-milled" whole wheat flour. This kind of flour has been milled from its intact state.

You want to completely avoid bread and baked goods made from white flour and whole wheat flour that has not been "whole-milled." Factory bread producers separate the endosperm from the more nutritious bran and germ. Although they are added back to whole wheat flour, craft bakers speculate that the germ, which goes rancid when removed from the endosperm, is either not added back or is "denatured." Therefore, purchase only bread and baked goods made with whole-milled whole wheat flour.

White flour has the germ and bran removed (along with 80% of the fiber and most of the nutrients). White flours are usually fortified, but the flour is still missing many healthy compounds, such as antioxidants and phytonutrients. White flour and many varieties of whole wheat bread are higher than sugar on the GI, typically around 71. Table sugar (sucrose) is 58 on the GI.

LACTO-FERMENTED FOODS

For centuries, cultures around the world have been eating traditional fermented foods and beverages for their benefits, which include increased longevity and improved digestive health.

Fermented foods and beverages are produced or preserved by the action of microorganisms. This lactofermentation process preserves the food and creates beneficial enzymes, B vitamins, omega-3 fatty acids, and various strains of probiotics.

The WHO has defined probiotics as "live organisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host." The gastrointestinal tract is colonized by about 10 trillion microbes of many different species, both good and bad. Probiotics are often called "good" or "beneficial" bacteria because they help keep your gut healthy. When there are more "bad" bacteria, health problems can develop. Probiotics lower the amount of "bad" bacteria in the gut.

Research has discovered that probiotics provide many health benefits for humans when ingested. They are beneficial for both disease prevention and treatment. [184] They improve immune health and help treat diseases, such as allergies, eczema, viral infections, urogenital infections, cystic fibrosis, and various cancers. [185] [186] They prevent and treat gastrointestinal infections, irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), and food allergies. [187] [188] They improve digestive health and help you absorb more of the nutrients in the foods you eat, reducing such unpleasant symptoms as bloating. [189]

There are many types of fermented foods and beverages such as sauerkraut, kimchi, kefir, fermented milk, kombucha, brem, chass, amasi, kvass, and ayran, to name just a few.

BONE BROTH

Bone broths made from beef, chicken, fish, and lamb bones have been staples of the traditional diets of every culture for thousands of years. "Good broth will resurrect the dead," says a South American proverb; though this might be an embellishment, bone broth is very beneficial.

Organic homemade bone broth contains high amounts of essential nutrients that play an important role in strong, healthy bones. It also improves digestion, fights infections, and reduces joint pain and inflammation. Practitioners of Chinese medicine have used bone broth to support the digestive system, as a blood builder, and to strengthen the kidneys.

Make your own bone broth or buy it from someone who makes it the authentic way instead of getting it from a restaurant or the store. Sally Fallon Morell, president of the Weston A. Price Foundation, explains that many store-bought broths aren't beneficial. These store-bought artificial broths are made using lab-produced meat flavors found in bouillon cubes and soup mixes. They also commonly add

MSG. Even broth soup available at most restaurants are typically made with a prepackaged, powdered soup base.

To make bone broth, select bone, marrow, feet (chicken feet) or tails (ox tail) from grass-fed animals free of antibiotics and hormones. Boil and then simmer the bones over a period of several hours. Simmering causes the bones and ligaments to release healthy compounds like gelatin, proline, and glycine. Glycine and proline are two key components of connective tissue. Glycine helps regulate blood sugar levels by controlling gluconeogenesis. In the inhibits excitatory neurotransmitters. brain, glycine producing a calming effect and helping you sleep better. Therefore, bone broth is very beneficial to drink before going to sleep or as a "souper."

CIDER AND RICE VINEGAR

For over 2,000 years, people have used vinegar to preserve and flavor food, disinfect wounds, and treat various ailments, from stomachaches to diabetes.

The most beneficial types of vinegar are rice vinegar and apple cider vinegar. Research has found that apple cider vinegar can help reduce weight.^[190] "It may have some benefits in terms of weight loss and weight management," says Debbie Davis, a registered dietitian.

Apple cider vinegar has been found to lower serum cholesterol levels and protect the body against free radicals. ^[191] It also appears to help with diabetes and blood sugar control. Carol Johnston, PhD, has been studying apple cider vinegar for more than ten years and believes that its effect on blood sugar levels is similar to that of certain medications. "Apple cider vinegar's anti-glycemic effect is very well documented," says Johnston. Vinegar blocks some of the digestion of starch. "It doesn't block the starch 100%, but it definitely prevents at least some of that starch from being digested and raising your blood sugar," explains Johnston.

There is evidence that vinegar increases short-term satiety. Numerous studies found that blood sugar was better regulated after a meal that included vinegar. [192] Consuming vinegar with a meal leads to greater cell sensitivity to insulin and reduced production of glucose in the liver. Increased sensitivity to insulin leads to lower blood sugar after a meal. "Acetate (from vinegar) alters your metabolism to encourage fat breakdown rather than fat storage," explains Davis.

In North African cultures, women have used apple cider vinegar to achieve weight loss for generations. Bodybuilders are also known to use apple cider vinegar for weight reduction. However, you want to be careful about drinking apple cider vinegar because it causes erosive tooth wear.^[193] It's so acidic that it will harm your tooth enamel and your esophagus. Dilute one to two tablespoons in a big glass of water and sip it along with your meals one or two times a day. You can also use apple cider vinegar in salads or add it to meals.

A study found that acetic acid killed some cancer cells — specifically stomach cancer — and may also work to treat other types of cancer. "Acetic acid is a powerful anti-cancer agent," wrote Susumu Okabe, lead author of the study.^[194]

Vinegar offers antioxidant protection and reduces cancer risk. Japanese rice vinegar (Kurosu) is particularly rich in the phenolic compounds that reduce cancer risk and has significantly greater antioxidant activity than other vinegar extracts, including wine and apple cider vinegar.^[195] [196]

You can make your own salad dressing with vinegar instead of buying commercially prepared salad dressings that contain sugar and preservatives. To make homemade salad dressing, combine rice vinegar or apple cider vinegar, flaxseed oil, lemon juice, sea salt, pepper, and chopped fresh herbs such as basil and thyme. You can also add raw manuka honey for a sweet-flavored salad dressing.

COLD-PRESSED FLAXSEED OIL

Flaxseed has many health benefits. It is a powerful antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory. It is an excellent source of omega-3 in the form of alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), not to be confused with alpha lipoic acid (ALA).

Alpha-linolenic acid is used for preventing and treating diseases of the heart and blood vessels. It is also used to treat rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis (MS), lupus, diabetes, renal disease, ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), migraine headaches, skin cancers, depression, and allergic and inflammatory conditions such as psoriasis and eczema. [197] [198] [199]

There is sufficient scientific evidence that alpha-linolenic acid from flaxseed is effective at preventing heart attacks, lowering high blood pressure, lowering cholesterol, and reversing hardening of the blood vessels (atherosclerosis).

The fiber found in flaxseed increases satiety and feelings of fullness.^[200] Flaxseed fiber in beverage form and flaxseed capsules suppress the appetite, produce feelings of satiety, and reduce the intake of food. A clinical study found that flaxseed promotes weight loss and decreases risk factors related to cardiovascular disease.^[201] It reduces total and LDL cholesterol levels and liver disease risk factors. ^[202] [^{203]} A study found that flaxseed oil helps treat obesity-related inflammation and obesity-induced insulin resistance. ^[204] It decreased fasting blood sugar and cholesterol in type 2 diabetics.^[205]

Flaxseed can be bought in a health food store, then ground into a powder at home with a flaxseed grinder, and added to smoothies or drinks.

Flaxseed oil is very unstable and, when exposed to heat, light, or oxygen, becomes rancid much faster than do most other oils. Rancid oils contain free radicals that cause disease and that should be strictly avoided.

EXTRA VIRGIN COCONUT OIL

Coconuts are commonly consumed in Malaysia, Thailand, and the Philippines, and their oils are used as a complementary medicine. Clinical studies have shown that consumption of medium-chain saturated fatty acids (MCTs) such as coconut oil promotes weight loss and reduces fat around the stomach. [206] [207]

Coconut oil has an abundance of lauric acid, which has many health benefits, and it has been researched in regards to antiviral properties and reducing cholesterol and LDL levels.^[208] [209]

It has also been found to help treat chronic stress and depression. A high-quality virgin coconut oil can rival antidepressant drugs without the dangerous side effects.^[210]

Bruce Fife, a certified nutritionist, naturopathic physician, and author of *The Coconut Oil Miracle* (Avery, 2013), recommends that the average person consume about three tablespoons of organic, extra virgin coconut oil per day. He says that this amount will not only provide protection against bacteria and viruses but also increase metabolism. If you prefer, instead of coconut oil you can use three tablespoons of melted ghee per day. You can consume the coconut oil or ghee plain or mixed with half a cup of warm goat's or sheep's milk.

Coconut oil is best taken 20 minutes before each meal, as it will reduce appetite and help you feel full more quickly so that you will be satisfied with smaller portions. If you weigh less than 180 pounds, take one tablespoon. If you weigh more than 180 pounds, take two tablespoons. Alternatively, you can cook your foods with coconut oil or use it to make homemade salad dressings.

Purchase a high-quality, pure, organic, extra virgin, 100% coconut oil from the health food store or online. High-quality virgin coconut oil should be snow white in color when it is solid and water clear when it is liquid. If

you see any shade of yellow or gray, the oil is of an inferior quality. Low-quality, nonvirgin coconut oil is refined, bleached, and deodorized, and contains contaminates.

Coconut oil is more effective for a weight-loss plan than olive oil.^[211] Unlike long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs), the medium-chain fatty acids (MCFAs) in coconut oil are not deposited in fat depots in the body.^[212]

Coconut oil is much purer than olive oil. Research has found that olive oil is adulterated with other oils. Adulterated olive oil has become the biggest source of agricultural fraud problems in the European Union. Less than 10% of the world's olive oil production meets the criteria for labeling as "extra virgin." Many olive oil brands labeled "extra virgin" are diluted with cheaper oils or vegetable oils that, when heated, cause disease. It's best to avoid olive oil unless you are 100% sure of its purity and quality.

ORGANIC TEA

Drinking tea daily helps prevent various diseases.^[213] [^{214]} Drinking between one and six cups of tea per day provides the most health benefits.^[215] Tea contains catechins, a type of antioxidant that provides protection against disease. Green and black teas are especially high in catechins.

Some researchers have found that the consumption of green tea may be effective in helping to prevent cancer. [216] More research needs to be done to study its effects on different types of cancer. It has been shown to help prevent cancer of the breast, esophagus, stomach, pancreas, and colon. [217] It has also been shown to be effective in preventing and fighting heart disease, liver disease, Parkinson's disease, diabetes, and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). [218]

Matcha green tea has higher concentrations of catechins than other types of green tea. Buddhist monks have drunk matcha green tea for centuries because it helps foster focused attention and alertness for meditation.

There's a difference between the caffeine found in coffee and the caffeine found in matcha green tea. Matcha green tea contains tannin, which slows the absorption of caffeine into the bloodstream. This means that the caffeine from matcha green tea is released gradually over the course of six to eight hours, unlike the short burst from coffee. Matcha green tea also contains two special amino acids called theophylline and L-theanine. L-theanine helps create a state of mental alertness while at the same time keeping you relaxed.^[219]

Not only does matcha green tea boost mental alertness, it helps prevent cancer and heart disease,^[220] making it the healthiest beverage to consume daily. An ancient Chinese proverb says that it is "better to be deprived of food for three days than tea for one."

Pu-erh (Yunnan Tuocha) tea is very high in antioxidants. ^[221] ^[222] In China, Pu-erh tea is widely believed to counteract the unpleasant effects of heavy alcohol consumption. It is traditionally used to strengthen the spleen and stomach as well as remove toxins from the body, improve eyesight, and promote blood circulation.

Researchers found that white tea had more catechins than many other types of tea.^[223] Green and black teas undergo fermentation after harvest while white tea is unfermented. Therefore, white tea has the highest concentration of antioxidants.

Drinking fennel tea after meals could be very beneficial, as it is said to be one of the most effective natural aids for digestion and promote the functioning of the kidneys, liver, and spleen.

Nettle tea is rich in nutrients, natural antihistamines, and anti-inflammatory substances. It is said to be a powerful

blood purifier. Herbalists use nettle to treat a wide variety of illnesses.

ORGANIC COFFEE

The caffeine in coffee is a stimulant that increases alertness, energy, and concentration, and is beneficial for treating fatigue.^[224] [225]

There is little evidence of health risks and much scientific evidence supporting the health benefits of moderate coffee consumption (three to four cups per day). [226]

Several studies have found that moderate coffee consumption may help prevent diseases such as certain types of cancer, type 2 diabetes, Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and liver disease. [227] Research suggests that there is an ingredient in coffee that protects against liver cirrhosis.[228] Those drinking four cups of coffee per day had an 84% lower risk of cirrhosis, [229] a 67% lower risk of developing diabetes.^[230] a 42% lower risk of liver cancer. [231] and a 57% reduced risk of (nonhormone-responsive) breast cancer. [232] A meta-analysis found that regular coffee drinkers had a reduced risk of bladder, breast, buccal, pharyngeal, colorectal, endometrial, esophageal, hepatocellular, leukemic, pancreatic, prostate cancers.^[233] A meta-analysis found that coffee intake is associated with a reduced risk of endometrial cancer.^[234] Those who consumed four cups of coffee per day had a 25% lower risk of endometrial cancer than did those who consumed less than one cup per day. However, the addition of sugar and cream to coffee could counteract any potential benefits.[235]

Drinking coffee can raise blood pressure briefly, right after consumption.^[236] However, a 15-year study of more than 41,000 people found that the risk of death from cardiovascular disease was 24% lower among those consuming one to three cups of coffee daily.^[237]

A study based on a major European investigation into the effects of diet and lifestyle on health found that people who drank four or more cups of coffee a day were at no higher risk for chronic disease than were those who drank less than a cup of coffee a day.^[238]

Many holistic health experts and naturopathic physicians have no major concerns with moderate coffee consumption but are against heavy coffee consumption. Naturopaths warn that heavy coffee consumption can lead to adrenal gland exhaustion, digestive disorders, nutrient deficiency, acidic body pH, and dehydration. Naturopaths also warn about the chemicals found in coffee. Coffee is also one of the most heavily chemically sprayed crops. There are more carcinogens in a single cup of coffee than carcinogenic pesticide residues in the average American diet in a year. [239] These chemicals burden the liver so that it is less able to remove toxins. Therefore, purchase only organic coffee.

For those who would like to limit their coffee intake, coffee substitutes such as Cafix, Dandy Blend, or maca root are available. Both Cafix and Dandy Blend have a similar — if not identical — taste to coffee. There are also other coffee substitutes you can try, such as Inka, Teeccino, Pero, Ayurvedic Roast, and Kaffree Roma, which are made with ingredients such as rye, barley, and chicory. Most coffee substitutes taste very similar to coffee.

Cafix is made in Poland and has a taste that is very close to coffee. It is made from barley, chicory, figs, and red beet extract. You can also mix organic coffee with Cafix in a 50% ratio to reduce your intake of caffeine.

Dandy Blend is made from dandelion roots, chicory, beets, barley, and rye. Dandy Blend is an instant beverage with a lot of essential minerals. Dandelion root has many beneficial health effects, such as improving digestion and detoxifying the liver.

Maca root powder doesn't taste like coffee but has the same energy-boosting effects. Maca root powder can be added to a fruit smoothie or protein shake. Maca is also available in the form of an instant beverage known as maca coffee, which has a coffee-like flavor.

>

SUPER SPICES

"Super" spices and herbs are high in antioxidants and rich in phytonutrients, such as carotenoids, flavonoids, and other phenolics, which possess health-promoting properties. "Some herbs should be considered as regular vegetables," says Shiow Y. Wang, PhD, a researcher and biochemist. "People should use more herbs for flavoring instead of salt and artificial chemicals." Using more herbs and spices is a good way to start eating healthier because, with the added flavor, you can reduce the salt and sugar in your recipes.

The capsaicin in peppers has a thermogenic effect, which boosts metabolism. Researchers suggest that adding three chili peppers to your diet will increase calorie burning after a meal and stimulate fat burning.^[240] You can use red pepper in its various forms (cayenne, crushed red pepper, paprika) to spice up hummus, cottage cheese, guacamole, meat, fish, whole grain dishes, sauces, dips, and vinaigrettes.

Throughout the Eastern world, turmeric is traditionally used for both prevention of and therapy for diseases. Turmeric, derived from the plant Curcuma longa, is a goldcolored spice commonly used in India. Curcumin, a substance in turmeric, has been shown to exhibit antioxidant. anti-inflammatory, antiviral. antibacterial, antifungal, and anticancer activities and has the potential to diabetes, allergies, arthritis. various cancers. treat Alzheimer's disease, and other chronic illnesses.[241]

Oregano is very high in antioxidants.^[242] Studies have shown that the herb's antioxidant power has 42 times more antioxidant activity than apples, 30 times more than potatoes, 12 times more than oranges, and four times more

than blueberries.^[243] One teaspoon has as much antioxidant power as three cups of chopped broccoli. It is effective for cancer prevention and has been shown to kill cancer cells. ^[244]

Oregano can be added seamlessly into familiar, everyday foods such as homemade pasta or pizza sauces, sandwiches, meats, fish, and whole grain dishes.

Dr. Richard A. Anderson of the U.S. Agriculture Department's Beltsville Human Nutrition Research Center has shown that taking the equivalent of one-quarter to one-half a teaspoon of cinnamon twice a day lowered glucose, total cholesterol, LDL-C, and triglyceride levels by up to 30%. Cinnamon is highly effective at helping stabilize blood sugar levels, making it ideal for those with diabetes. [245] One teaspoon of ground cinnamon has the equivalent level of antioxidants as a half cup of blueberries and one cup of pomegranate juice. You can put one teaspoon into your coffee grinds before brewing or stir into your honey to sweeten any beverage. You can also add cinnamon to yogurt, oatmeal, or smoothies.

Cumin, like cinnamon, helps keep blood sugar levels stable, which means cumin is great for diabetics or prediabetics. Cumin was found to be more effective than glibenclamide, an antidiabetic drug, in the treatment of diabetes mellitus.^[246]

Cloves have been measured as having the highest antioxidant level of all spices and herbs.^[247] Cloves help with digestive problems such as gas, indigestion, nausea, and vomiting, and eliminate harmful parasites, bacteria, and fungi in the digestive system.

Parsley is used by diabetics in Turkey, as it has been reported to reduce blood glucose. Studies show it has been shown to lower levels of blood glucose and has a hepatoprotective effect. Parsley contains apigenin, an antioxidant compound that possesses anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and anticancer properties. Apigenin has also

been found to protect against cancer, improve cardiovascular health, and stimulate the immune system.
[249]

SEA SALT

Consumption of refined table salt has been linked to many diseases, including high blood pressure, cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, stroke, osteoporosis, and stomach cancer. [250] [251] [252] [253] [254] [255] High sodium intake leads to a greater likelihood of being overweight and obese. [256] [257] [258]

Eliminate from your diet unhealthy sources of sodium, such as fast foods, chips, and commercially prepared baked goods and sweets. Replace table salt with unrefined sea salt, or seaweed sea salt, or kelp powder that contain iodine, a healthy source of sodium. You can get your iodine from seaweed salt. Completely eliminating sodium from your diet is not recommended and increases the prevalence of type 2 diabetes^[259] [260] and atherosclerosis.^[261]

The best and purest commercially available salt is Himalayan salt and unrefined Celtic sea salt harvested from the Atlantic seawater off the coast of Brittany, France. Celtic sea salt contains all of the 84 beneficial minerals, with no chemicals, preservatives, or other additives.

Buy Celtic sea salt or Himalayan salt whenever you can; otherwise, the next best choice is unrefined sea salt. There are many brands of sea salt, so make sure you purchase the best quality. Real sea salt should not be pure white and powdery like refined table salt. Real sea salt has color and texture to it.

HOT IONIZED WATER

According to Andreas Moritz, drinking hot or warm water first thing in the morning and before meals is very beneficial. It reduces metabolic waste and improves digestion and elimination. "The consumption of warm water increases the tightening of the intestines, which optimizes elimination," explains Stella Metsovas, clinical nutritionist and health expert. Metsovas recommends drinking only hot water — and not cold water — before meals, as some believe that cold water reduces digestive power.

You can conduct a deep digestive and lymphatic system cleanse for several months by daily drinking hot ionized water that has been boiled for 20 minutes. Keep it in a Thermos and take a few sips every half an hour or more often. To have a powerful cleansing effect, the water must be boiled for at least 20 minutes and consumed as hot as you would drink tea. This hot water cleanse will help flush toxins from your body.

When water is boiled for 20 minutes, it becomes charged with negative oxygen ions. Drinking this water throughout the day can help get rid of certain positively charged ions (associated with harmful acids and toxins). This neutralizes wastes and toxins, turning them into fluid matter that the body can easily remove. "The sipping of hot ionized water has a profound cleansing effect on all the tissues of the body," explains Andreas Moritz, a medical intuitive and practitioner of Ayurveda, iridology, and vibrational medicine [262]

Drinking "hot ionized water" every day for several weeks or several months could help you lose weight. "If you have excessive body weight, this cleansing method can help you shed many pounds of body waste in a short period of time, without the side effects that normally accompany sudden weight loss," says Moritz.

LEMON WATER

Drinking a glass of warm water and the juice of half a freshly squeezed lemon every day will help you lose body fat, prevent weight gain, and reduce food cravings.^[263]

Besides weight loss, lemon water provides numerous health benefits. Lemon water improves digestion, cleanses your body, boosts immunity, and improves energy levels. Lemons are rich in vitamins, minerals, dietary fibers, essential oils, and carotenoids.^[264]

PURE WATER

Drinking plenty of pure water is essential for successful weight loss. The human body is approximately 57 to 75% water, depending on age.^[265] Ultrapure water should be used for drinking, cooking, tea/coffee water, and bathing/showering.

Drinking tap water should be avoided at all costs. Tap water contains a multitude of poisonous chemicals and contaminants that are linked to millions of instances of illness. A report by the Ralph Nader Study Group stated, "U.S. drinking water contains more than two thousand toxic chemicals that can cause cancer." [266] The U.S. Council on Environmental Quality said, "Cancer risk among people drinking chlorinated water is as much as 93% higher than among those whose water does not contain chlorine." Scientific evidence shows a link between consumption of toxins in drinking water and elevated cancer risk. [267]

According to an analysis of federal data from The New York Times, more than 20% of the water treatment systems in the United States have violated key provisions of the Safe Drinking Water Act over the last five years. Tap water has contained illegal concentrations of chemicals such as arsenic or radioactive substances like uranium, as well as dangerous bacteria often found in sewage. Many of the most dangerous illegal concentrations of contaminants regulated by the Safe Drinking Water Act have been tied to diseases such as cancer that can take years to develop. In some U.S. drinking water tests detected have concentrations of arsenic, radioactive elements, and the drycleaning solvent tetrachloroethylene, all of which have been linked to cancer. Millions of Americans may become ill every year due to the parasites, viruses, and bacteria in drinking water. [268]

Bottled water is not much better than tap water. An independent test by the Environmental Working Group found arsenic, disinfection byproducts (DBPs), and 36 other harmful pollutants in bottled water. Plastic bottles can contain the chemical Bisphenol A (BPA), which leaches into the water and has been found to be harmful to one's health.^[269]

With all the different types of water-filtration systems out there, it's easy to get confused about which filter provides the purest water and is best for your health.

The purest water is triple-distilled water. Distilled water has been put through the process of distillation once, while triple-distilled water has been put through the process of distillation three times.

Peter A. Lodewick, MD, author of A *Diabetic Doctor Looks at Diabetes: His and Yours* (Lowell House, 1998), says, "Distillation is the single most effective method of water purification." Distillation, when combined with carbon filtration, will kill and remove 99.9% of bacteria, viruses, and cysts, as well as heavy metals and volatile organic compounds. Reverse osmosis is the next best water-filtration system. Reverse osmosis, when combined with carbon filtration, provides drinking water that is 98 to 99% free of chemicals.

Ionic adsorption micron filters are an affordable way to get ultrapure water available through a family water pitcher, filtration travel bottle, or water straw. Ionic adsorption micro-filtration removes up to 99.99% of contaminants and pollutants such as bacteria, viruses, chemicals, heavy metals, and chlorine. The ionic adsorption micron filter (BPA and lead free) water bottle is great for travelers, campers, hikers, and those constantly on the move. It can be used with any type of water source: tap or rainwater, rivers, streams, and even lakes (excluding salt water).

Ultrapure water can be ozonated to make it even purer and to turn it into a healing substance.^[270] Ozone destroys

viruses, bacteria, parasites, and fungi.

In the human body, there are two types of water: bound water and structured water. Bound water becomes physically bound to other molecule structures and is unable to freely move through the cell wall. It lingers around the cell, causing bloating and water retention.

Scientists in Korea and Japan have studied the health benefits of altered water and have found it to be superior to regular filtered water. However, scientists in Western countries have not thoroughly studied altered water.

Structured water — also known as hexagonal water or microclustered water — is an altered water that has smaller clusters than regular water, allowing for much better absorption and hydration than regular filtered water. Among those with diabetes, structured water has been shown to lower blood sugar levels in just four weeks.^[271] It also strengthens the immune system, increasing lymphocyte production.^[272]

Aging is caused by a loss of structured water from organs, tissues, and cells, and an overall decrease in total body water.^[273] Therefore, drinking structured water could delay the aging process.

Dr. Gerald Pollack has been doing research on water in his laboratory at the University of Washington for years. He has found that structured water is the best type of water you can drink to promote health.

Structured water is essential for health because it is water in an optimal, balanced state. Structured water strengthens the immune system, rehydrates the body faster and more effectively than regular water, and increases energy levels. It is also said to taste better than regular water.

The "healing water" from the Ganges and Lourdes has been studied and found to have the signature of the structured water found in cells. The absolute best water to drink is water that has been filtered and then poured into a water structuring bottle or structuring cup. Whether you use reverse osmosis, distillation, ozonation, or an ionic adsorption micron filter, after filtration the water is frequently destructured.

Electrolyzed reduced water or alkaline-reduced water (ARW) is another type of altered water that is especially useful for healing illness. Research has shown that it has anticancer, antidiabetic, and anti-aging effects. It has been shown to reduce glucose, triglyceride, and cholesterol levels.^[274] [275] [276] It has also been shown to delay tumor growth and to lengthen lifespans.^[277]

Drinking lots of water is commonly considered part of a weight-loss regimen. Water induces thermogenesis, and drinking 1,500 milliliters of water per day has been shown to decrease body weight, BMI, and body composition. Research suggests that drinking 500 milliliters of water half an hour before each meal boosts metabolism and decreases the amount of food eaten.^[278] [279] [280]

Although there is plenty of research showing the health benefits of drinking water, many people don't like the taste of it or find it boring to drink.

Infused water — also called detox water — is filtered water flavored with fruits and herbs that satisfy many people's taste buds and offer additional weight-loss benefits as compared to plain water. You can use blueberries, raspberries, blackberries, strawberries, watermelon pieces, tangerine slices, orange slices, grapefruit slices, lemon slices, lime slices, mango pieces, cucumber slices, fresh mint, fresh basil, cinnamon sticks, and fresh ginger slices. You can also add organic coconut water to contribute even more flavor.

Experiment with various infused-water recipes and see how many fruit slices or herbs you need to be satisfied with the taste of the water. The following are some of the most common infused-water recipes:

- Lemon cucumber water
- Lemon, watermelon, and mint water
- Apple cinnamon water
- Mango ginger water
- Orange strawberry water
- Blueberry orange water
- Green apple, cucumber, and mint water

You can also drink apple cider vinegar diluted in water for a tangy flavor. Dilute one to two tablespoons in a big glass of water and sip it along with your meals one or two times a day.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

- Eat a balanced, healthy diet based on the Weston Price diet or the Mediterranean diet. Eat foods low on the GI and GL, and foods with a high satiety index. Divide your plate in the following way at each meal: one-half vegetables, one-quarter whole grains or starches, and one-quarter protein.
- Eat from every essential food group and include a variety of healthy foods in your diet, including organic fruits and vegetables; organic whole grains and pulses, prepared properly; unroasted organic nuts and seeds; fresh shellfish; wild-caught fish; fish eggs; insects; 100% grass-fed meat, wild game, and organ meats; free-range, organic eggs; healthy fats; lacto-fermented foods and beverages; unpasteurized, unhomogenized, grass-fed, vat pasteurized, organic dairy; unrefined Celtic or Himalayan seaweed sea salt; apple cider or rice vinegar; and super spices.
- Enjoy desserts made with low GI flours such as coconut flour, quinoa flour, oat flour, spelt flour, kamut flour, rye flour, barley flour, or buckwheat flour. Use natural sweeteners such as pure stevia, coconut palm sugar, sugarcane juice, maple syrup, manuka honey, and blackstrap molasses. By using low GI sweeteners and low GI flours you can enjoy dessert whenever you feel like it and never restrict yourself, because the key to long-term weight loss is not restricting yourself.
- The absolute best water to drink is water that has been filtered with reverse osmosis, distillation, ozonation, or an ionic adsorption micron filter, and, after filtration, altered into structured water or electrolyzed reduced water. Make fruit-infused water so that the beverage is palatable to your taste.
- Consuming bone broth soup for "souper" will help you sleep better. Make homemade bone broth by boiling the

bones of grass-fed cattle, bison, free-range poultry, or wild-caught fish.

PART II

EXERCISE, SUPPLEMENTS, AND HIDDEN ISSUES THAT MAY IMPEDE WEIGHT-LOSS EFFORTS



CHAPTER THREE LIFESTYLE



Numerous studies show that exercise alone or diet alone will not lead to satisfactory weight loss.^[1]

Successful weight loss through exercise is dependent on the circadian rhythm, as is every other factor in a healthy lifestyle. Researchers have found that the timing of exercise is an important factor for those who lose weight in response to exercise. Exercising at the wrong time — at night — can disrupt the circadian rhythm. This explains why some people do not lose weight when they exercise at night.^[2]

BENEFITS OF EXERCISE

Exercise is extremely important for the maintenance of good health, the prevention of disease, and a longer life span. "Those who think they have not time for bodily exercise will sooner or later have to find time for illness," said British statesman Edward Stanley. Increased frequency of exercise has been associated with reduced risk of death. [3] Those who exercise more frequently live longer, [4] and improving fitness can reduce the risk of death by 44%. [5]

American cartoonist Randy Glasbergen said, "What fits your busy schedule better, exercising 1 hour a day or being dead 24 hours a day?" Regular exercise decreases the risk of cardiovascular disease, type 2 diabetes, osteoporosis, and colon and breast cancers. Regular exercise has been shown to improve insulin sensitivity, reduce blood pressure, reduce inflammation, and decrease blood coagulation.^[6]

Regular exercise slows aging.^[7] "We do not stop exercising because we grow old — we grow old because we stop exercising," said Dr. Kenneth H. Cooper, MD. Exercise is a natural antiaging therapy. A lack of exercise actually speeds up the aging process.^[8]

Chronic stress is known to accelerate aging. However, exercise can buffer the impact of stress on aging.^[9]

Aerobic exercise is known to strengthen and enlarge the heart muscle, which improves the efficiency with which it pumps, resulting in better circulation. Better circulation results in better health. American athlete Jack LaLanne said, "Yes, exercise is the catalyst. That's what makes everything happen: your digestion, your elimination, your sex life, your skin, hair, everything about you depends on circulation."

Exercise promotes positive change in all aspects of health. "Movement is a medicine for creating change in a person's physical, emotional, and mental states," said Carol Welch, founder of BioSomatics Education.

AMOUNT OF EXERCISE

The American College of Sports Medicine recommends 60 to 90 minutes of moderate activity per day for adults. At a minimum, three hours per week of regular aerobic (cardio) exercise is the suggested amount required to lose weight and keep it off. The greatest reduction in weight is likely to happen if you exercise between three hours and seven hours per week.^[10]

Fast walking, jogging, swimming, cycling, rebounding (using a mini trampoline), jumping rope, climbing stairs, playing tennis, dancing, and rowing are common forms of

cardio exercises. Those who expend a higher percentage of calories through exercise do so through high-intensity activities such as jogging, cycling, and weight-lifting.^[11]

Balancing the amount of exercise you perform is very important. Excessive endurance exercise is not better than no exercise at all. Numerous studies have shown that very strenuous endurance exercise damages the heart.^[12]

The Copenhagen City Heart Study conducted a study on healthy joggers between 20 and 86 years of age who were followed for 12 years to compare the long-term all-cause mortality rates among light, moderate, and strenuous joggers. They found that people who jog lightly and moderately for one to two hours per week have lower mortality than sedentary people who don't jog at all; whereas those who jog more than four hours per week, at a very fast pace, have a mortality rate not much different from that of the sedentary group. The researchers found that the optimal frequency of jogging is two to three times per week at a slow or average pace for a length of up to two and a half hours per week.^[13]

Studies have found that long-term training for and competition in extreme endurance events such as marathons, Ironman distance triathlons, and very long-distance bicycle races cause heart damage in healthy individuals.^[14]

RAPID FAT LOSS EXERCISE

Most exercise programs aimed at fat loss focus on exercises such as walking and jogging at a moderate intensity. However, moderate-intensity exercise does not lead to satisfactory weight loss for the majority of people.^[15] [16]

Interval-type exercise is more beneficial for weight loss than many hours of strenuous endurance-type exercise. Weight loss achieved during very strenuous exercise tends to get reversed because the body tries to quickly replenish its fat stores, as it perceives marathon-type exercise as a threat to survival.^[17]

Research has shown that high-intensity intermittent exercise (HIIE), also called sprint interval training (SIT), or high-intensity interval training (HIT), is the most effective type of exercise for reducing body fat rapidly, as well as reducing blood pressure, triglycerides, and fasting glucose. [18] [19]

High-intensity exercise promotes fat breakdown more than moderate-intensity exercise does because of the release of certain hormones (PGC-1 and BAIBA), which increase calorie burning.^[20]

The American College of Sports Medicine reports that you can raise your metabolism for up to 24 hours post-exercise by doing high-intensity intermittent exercise. A study found that a single session of high-intensity intermittent exercise increases calorie burning by more than 200 calories post-workout.^[21]

The additional benefit of high-intensity intermittent exercise is that it achieves health and weight-loss results in a shorter amount of time than do other forms of cardio exercise programs.

High-intensity intermittent exercise typically involves sprinting or pedaling as fast as possible, followed immediately by low-intensity exercise or resting six seconds to four minutes.

Cycling on a stationary bicycle is one way to do highintensity interval training exercise for rapid fat loss. Pedal at maximum speed on a stationary bicycle for a set amount of time.

The Wingate test is a good pedaling or cycling exercise program to follow if you have the right motivation and a high fitness level. The Wingate test consists of 30 seconds of hardcore pedaling with hard resistance. It's typically performed four to six times, separated by four minutes of

rest. This protocol amounts to around four minutes of exercise per session, with each session typically performed three times a week for two to six weeks.^[22]

An easier interval workout involves pedaling as fast as possible on a stationary bike for 30 seconds with five sprints in total, each sprint separated by four minutes of recovery and slow pedaling.

A less demanding exercise program that may be suitable for most people consists of eight seconds of high-intensity cycling followed by 12 seconds of low-intensity cycling for a period of 20 minutes.^[23]

Another easy eight-minute interval workout involves four one-minute sets of jumping jacks done as fast as you comfortably can, with one minute of rest between each set.

You can design your own interval workout based on the types of exercises you like to do. All you have to do is inject brief periods of intense effort into your workouts, whether they are running, swimming, bicycling, elliptical sessions, etc.

If you do not have a good fitness level, start by walking for 30 minutes. Then try adding a burst of jogging for 30 seconds every five minutes. As you increase your fitness level, you can increase the interval length to a minute and decrease the walking to four minutes.

Bouts of high-intensity activity raise your metabolism rapidly, and your body continues to burn calories at an accelerated rate even after your workout is over. For the biggest metabolism boost, make sure that the interval portion leaves you breathing hard.

The best time for high-intensity intermittent exercise is in the morning, on an empty stomach, before breakfast (fasted cardio).^[24] A study found that when people fasted during morning cardio they burned 20% more fat than when they had a meal before exercise.^[25]

High-intensity intermittent fasted (meaning before breakfast) cardio in the morning is effective in rapidly burning fat. That's because as you fast overnight your body conserves its carb stores, so in the morning your body is geared toward mobilizing fat for fuel. Fasted cardio seems to work especially well for people who want to eliminate resistant or stubborn fat areas on their bodies.^[26]

A benefit of fasted cardio in the morning is that you will burn calories for the rest of the day, even when you're not doing anything. Even though slow or moderate cardio burns more total calories and fat during the actual workout, the high-intensity intermittent cardio program leads to greater total fat loss because it burns more calories and fat the rest of the day, which adds up to more calories and fat than you can burn during a single workout session.

BUILD MUSCLE MASS

Your body burns calories at rest. The number of calories your body burns at rest is called your resting metabolic rate (RMR). Your RMR is the number of calories you require to maintain your body's weight if you did not move all day.

A pound of muscle burns more calories per day than a pound of fat does. The more muscle you build, the more calories your body will burn all day long. For each pound of muscle gained, you'll burn about six to ten calories per day. [27] Cedric Bryant, PhD, the chief science officer for the American Council on Exercise (ACE), states that muscle burns roughly 7 to 10 calories per pound per day, compared to two to three calories per pound per day for fat.

You need to build muscle mass if you are reducing your calorie intake so that you lose body fat without losing muscle. The best thing about losing weight through weight training is that you will lose only fat mass. Cardio tends to make you lose muscle mass along with fat.

The best tools for weight training are adjustable dumbbells, as you can do almost any type of exercise with

them. You can use them to target every major muscle in the body. Full-body, high-intensity intermittent training (HIIT) with weights is the best fat-burning exercise. To design your exercise program, choose some compound exercises that will target all the primary muscles of your body. Compound exercises utilize multiple joints with free weights.

- Squats
- Deadlifts
- Arnold press
- Dumbbell rows with both hands
- Clean and press
- Push-up row
- Lunges

If you want to select only six basic movements to target every muscle, you can choose from among the following:

- Horizontal push and pull
- Vertical push and pull
- Hip dominant
- Quad dominant

For all the mentioned movements, it's best to hire a personal trainer to help you do them correctly. You can divide these upper body and lower body movements so that you do them two times each per week. For example, on Monday do lower body, on Tuesday do upper body, on Thursday do lower body, and on Friday or Saturday do upper body.^[28]

It's essential to set up your weight training routine in a way that ensures a balance around the joints (shoulders, knees, elbows) and balance between the different movement patterns (horizontal push/pull, vertical push/pull) to prevent injury and build a balanced-looking body.^[29]

Learning to properly weight train to build a balanced body and to prevent injury is a topic that needs a book of its own. You can learn a lot from a good personal trainer, by watching videos, and by reading and participating in bodybuilding forums.

KEEP OFF WEIGHT

Research shows that there's one thing regular, moderate exercise is really good at, and that's preventing weight regain. Once you have reached your ideal weight, you need to perform moderate intensity exercise and follow certain lifestyle habits to keep off the weight.

The National Weight Control Registry (NWCR) is a research study that includes adults who have lost at least 30 pounds (13.6 kg) of weight and kept it off for at least one year. On average, those in the study have lost an average of 66 pounds (29.9 kg) and kept it off for 5.5 years. There are currently more than 10,000 people enrolled in the study, making it the largest study of successful weight-loss maintenance ever conducted. It's not surprising that 98% of people have reduced their food intake, 94% have increased their exercise, and 90% exercise for about one hour per day. After losing weight, almost all of the participants ate breakfast and weighed themselves about once per week. They watch less television than the average American, which leaves time to engage in moderate intensity exercise. [30] Women in the study consume an average of 1,306 calories per day; men consume 1,685 calories per day.^[31]

MAKE EXERCISING EASY

The biggest problem that many people have is a lack of motivation, energy, time, or consistent long-term dedication to exercise. You need to create an environment that leaves little room for excuses.

In his book *The Magic of Thinking Big* (Touchstone, 1987), David J. Schwartz coined the word "excusitis" (from the root word "excuse"), which is defined as "the disease of

the failures." It's the behavior of a person who finds all sorts of excuses to justify his or her poor results or lack of action. Some common excuses for not exercising include: "I don't have the time," "I don't have the energy," "Exercising is boring," "I'm too old," and "I'm in pain." The only way to cure excusitis is to take action. Therefore, instead of making excuses, take action and take steps toward your goal of weight loss. Successful weight loss is a journey that requires persistence, endurance, and no room for excuses.

For the majority of people, the hardest part is starting. As humans, we naturally look for the path of least resistance.

Lying to yourself seems to work. If you tell yourself that you will go running for only five minutes, once you get going you may feel like running for a little longer.

Arrange your schedule and workout gear in such a way that you get into the habit of working out regularly. Eliminate barriers that prevent you from exercising. For example, always have your gym bag ready by the front door so that as soon as you leave your home, all you have to do is grab it and go. Maybe you can move exercise equipment into your home or work office. Maybe you can talk on the phone while you exercise. To the extent that you can, replace driving with walking or biking.

Do whatever it takes to make exercise time-efficient and easy. Combining work and exercise avoids the need to find the time to exercise. Exercise equipment is available that allows you to exercise comfortably while working and using your laptop. There is the DeskCycle, which is an under-desk pedal that allows you to pedal while sitting at your desk.

If you have a hectic life and forget to exercise, then set up exercise and weight equipment in your home. You can attach a portable pull-up bar to the door outside your bedroom and every time you pass by you can do some pull-ups. In this way, you don't have to remember to do pull-ups, because you see the pull-up bar every time you walk into your bedroom.

Put your exercise routine into your schedule. If you need reminding, set up an alert on your calendar on your smartphone so that it reminds you automatically.

You can use an exercise diary app to keep track of the exercise you complete each week. By visually keeping track of the exercise you complete each week, you may be more motivated to reach your exercise goals each week.

Subscribe to a fitness magazine that you receive every month in the mail or on your tablet. The best magazines include the most recent scientific research on the topics of fitness, health, and bodybuilding.

If you have a monthly subscription to a physical magazine, cut out pictures and post them in your work area to serve as a visual reminder of your goal — a vision board that you'll see every single day. For many people, visual reminders help them achieve their goals.

One warning about magazines: Don't read the advertisements in any fitness magazine. Too many people have wasted their money on weight-loss or fat-burning pills that don't work, have no scientific validation, or are even harmful to one's health.

If you don't have the energy or the desire to exercise, try to make exercise an enjoyable experience, a way to blow off steam, reduce stress levels, socialize, or listen to your favorite music.

When possible, find an exercise buddy or hire a personal trainer and you'll be motivated to show up for exercise. A study conducted at the University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine proved that exercising with a partner improves weight-loss results.

There are websites that can help you find an exercise buddy, such as Exercise Friends (exercisefriends.com) or Workout Buddies Meetup (workout-buddies.meetup.com). You can also post an ad on a free online classifieds listing website stating that you are looking for a workout partner.

Researchers have found that different exercise environments have different effects on a person's mood and energy levels. They found that music and social contact enhanced mood and enjoyment during exercise.^[32]

They found that people enjoy exercising outdoors more than they do indoors, and were less tense and stressed when exercising outdoors as compared to those who exercised indoors.

People had higher energy levels, were less tired, and enjoyed themselves when listening to music with a fast (as opposed to slow) tempo while exercising.

Exercise produces positive psychological and mood benefits, and these benefits are enhanced with music and social contact. When you exercise, your body releases chemicals called endorphins. These endorphins interact with the receptors in your brain that reduce your perception of pain. Endorphins act as analgesics, which mean they diminish the perception of pain.

If you set up your exercise environment in such a way that it makes you enjoy exercising, you can get a feeling known as "runner's high," which provides a positive and an energizing outlook on life.

Regular exercise has been proven to reduce stress, boost self-esteem, improve sleep, increase energy levels, and reduce anxiety. Research has shown that exercise is an effective treatment for mild to moderate depression.^[33]

Exercise should be fun and enjoyable, so select an activity you enjoy. Vary your exercises so that you don't get bored. There are so many different ways to move your body.

Rebounding, which consists of jumping on a mini trampoline, is one of the most effective types of exercise for improving health because of the effect it has on the lymphatic system.^[34] Research comparing rebounding exercise to treadmill jogging found no significant difference between the benefits of these two exercises.^[35] However.

the main benefit of rebounding is low trauma to the joints. Rebounding is a good alternative for those who have joint problems or have been told to avoid high-impact exercise. [36]

Swimming is a low-impact exercise, as it places no pressure on the joints. Regular swimming builds endurance, muscle strength, cardiovascular fitness, posture, and flexibility. However, whenever possible be sure to swim in a saltwater pool, ozone-filtered pool, or natural pools of water such as lakes and oceans. Swimming in chlorinated pools or sitting in a chlorinated hot tub may induce genotoxicity (DNA damage).^[37] Carcinogenic byproducts have been detected in the blood of those swimming in chemically disinfected water.^[38] You should also avoid steam rooms: Use a dry sauna instead of a steam room.

It is extremely important to take a shower only in filtered water. Toxic chemicals evaporate out of the water and are inhaled.^[39] Up to 100 times more toxic chemicals are taken in by showering than by drinking.^[40] You can buy a shower filter online or at home improvement stores.

Meditative movement (MM) is a type of exercise that has many proven health benefits. MM includes qigong, tai chi, and yoga. What classifies MM as different from traditional forms of exercise is the coordination of body, breath, and mind to achieve deep relaxation.^[41] MM is classified as a mind-body intervention.

Qigong is a relaxing form of exercise with antiaging benefits.^[42] [43] Qigong means "working with the qi." Regular qigong practice is very beneficial for long-term health and longevity.^[44] Qigong and tai chi are close relatives; however, qigong is designed for building health, while tai chi places more emphasis on the self-defense aspects of the training.

There is a wide range of benefits in doing either qigong or tai chi. A comprehensive review of studies on qigong and

tai chi found more than 100 different physiological and psychological health outcomes.^[45]

Yoga is a combination of breathing exercises, physical postures, and meditation that has been practiced for thousands of years in India. Studies comparing the effects of yoga and exercise seem to indicate that yoga may be as effective as, or even slightly more effective than exercise, at improving a variety of health-related outcome measures. [46]

A study showed that practicing yoga improves cardiovascular function, reduces stress, improves sleep patterns, and enhances muscular strength and body flexibility.^[47] An Indian study found that yoga treats and prevents heart disease.^[48] Salivary cortisol (a measure of stress) decreased significantly after participation in a yoga class. Another study found that women reported lower stress levels and anxiety after three months of practicing yoga.^[49]

SPORTS DRINKS AND BARS

When you sweat during exercise, you lose water and electrolytes such as sodium, potassium, magnesium, calcium, and chloride. It is very important to replenish electrolytes lost during exercise.

Electrolytes regulate our nerve and muscle function, our body's hydration, blood pH, blood pressure, and the rebuilding of damaged tissue. Low electrolyte levels can lead to weak muscles, muscle cramps, twitching, irregular heartbeat, or fatigue. An electrolyte panel can be done as part of a routine physical to screen for any electrolyte imbalance.

Sports drinks designed to replenish electrolytes often contain ingredients that promote weight gain and diabetes, such as high- fructose corn syrup, sucrose syrup, and sugar. Both energy drinks and sports drinks can contain artificial additives, too much caffeine, and too much sugar.

If you are exercising regularly and working up a sweat, you can replenish electrolytes, hydrate, and energize with natural drinks; for instance, 100% pure coconut water. Coconut water replenishes body fluids better than do sports drinks.^[50] Coconut water is low in calories, super hydrating, and very high in potassium. Coconut water has a sweet, nutty taste. If you are not a fan of coconut water, look for a sports drink that has a low GI and contains no artificial additives, and no high-fructose corn syrup.

Many energy bars and meal-replacement bars are high in calories and contain high-fructose corn syrup, artificial sweeteners, and sugar. "Some [energy bars] are not much different than candy bars," says nutritionist Heidi Skolnik. "You really have to look at the label."

Look for "whole food" energy bars, protein bars, or meal-replacement bars that are low GI and made from natural ingredients such as fruits, vegetables, nuts, seeds, and sprouted grains. They're typically sweetened naturally with real fruit or natural sweeteners such as stevia or honey. Many whole-food energy bars are high in nutrients and fiber. Some high-quality energy or protein bars are raw and organic. Read the ingredient list to find an energy bar that's made with natural ingredients such as fruits, vegetables, nuts, seeds, and whole grains. Energy bars vary in taste, so try a few to find a brand that you like.

WEIGHING FREQUENTLY

Research shows that people who successfully lose weight and keep it off have higher levels of strenuous activity and weigh themselves more frequently.^[51] The more often people weigh themselves, the greater their 24-month weight-loss results and the less likely they are to regain weight in the long term if they continue to weigh themselves frequently.^[52] Furthermore, a decline in the frequency of weighing is independently associated with weight regain.^[53]

Weighing yourself weekly, provides an opportunity for positive reinforcement and motivation. Although some people believe weighing themselves regularly may negatively affect them, a study found that frequency of weighing was actually associated with a decline in depression, as well as increased self-control and motivation. [54]

In addition to weighing yourself, it's best to measure your body- fat percentage to track your weight-loss progress, especially if you are working on building muscle mass.

Weighing yourself will not show your progress accurately because one pound of fat weighs the same as one pound of muscle; although, one pound of muscle occupies less space (volume) within the body than does one pound of fat.^[55]

Body-fat percentage is naturally different for men than for women. Women have a higher body fat percentage relative to men on the same level. Women have more fat because of physical differences such as breasts, and need a higher amount of body fat for ovulation. A male athlete in superb shape will have about 10% body fat, while a woman at a comparable level of athleticism might be 18 to 20% body fat. [56]

Women should not have a body-fat percentage of less than 17% if they are concerned about proper menstruation. ^[57] In the book *Taking Charge of Your Fertility* (HarperCollins, 2015), Toni Weschler recommends a minimum body fat percentage of 18 while trying to conceive.

The ACE maintains one of the most commonly used body-fat charts. Essential fat is the minimum amount of fat necessary for health.^[58]

According to them, here are the body fat norms for men and women:

There are several ways to measure your body-fat levels. Some methods are more accurate than others.^[59] Some of the following methods are also more accessible than others, but I mention them all here for discussion.

Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) is a commonly used method for estimating body composition, the measurement of body fat in relation to lean body mass. This noninvasive test involves the placement of two electrodes on the right hand and right foot. A low-level, imperceptible electrical current is sent through the body.

The Bod Pod is a space-age-looking machine that measures body-fat composition, showing the percentage of your body that is fat and the percentage that is lean body mass. It works by measuring the volume of air you displace inside the pod, then runs it through a complicated mathematical equation to measure your fat, lean muscle mass, and resting metabolic rate.

A dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA, formerly DEXA) scan is used primarily for measuring bone density. The scan consists of laying on a table and getting a full-body X-ray.

Body-fat scales and handheld devices are easy methods of measuring your body-fat percentage, but are not as reliable and accurate as other methods; results vary depending on your hydration level.

Hydrostatic weighing — also referred to as underwater weighing or simply the dunk test — requires that you jump into a pool, sit on a stool, and get into a crunch position so that your body is completely underwater. You have to expel as much air as you possibly can, then hold perfectly still while the machine weighs you.

The InBody is a machine that measures your body-fat percentage, where your fat is stored, and where you have water collecting in your body (edema), which can be a sign of injury or inflammation. It also measures your resting metabolic rate (RMR) and basal metabolic rate (BMR). It

involves standing on a metal platform and holding onto two handles for about one minute.

If you are going to start testing your body-fat percentage, make sure to test yourself under the same conditions each and every time. For example every Monday morning, on a completely empty stomach — no food or drink.

RESTFUL SLEEP

Sleep is as essential as a good diet and exercise for weight loss and maintenance. The problem is that 35 to 40% of the adult population (in the US) reports sleeping less than seven hours on weekday nights.^[60] Many night-shift workers often struggle with weight loss because they have continued disruption of their circadian rhythms.

The old adage, "early to bed, early to rise, makes a man healthy, wealthy, and wise" stands up to the test of research. Lack of sleep (less than five hours) disrupts the circadian rhythm, causing weight gain, hypertension, and diabetes.^[61] [62] [63] [64] Even a few night shifts per week can throw off the circadian rhythm and increase the risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes.^[65]

The International Agency for Research on Cancer concluded that shift work disrupts the circadian rhythm and is probably carcinogenic (cancer-causing) to humans.^[66] [67]

In the largest, most diverse study to date under controlled laboratory conditions, lack of sleep was shown to promote weight gain. Chronically sleep-restricted adults with late bedtimes who ate late at night were very susceptible to weight gain.^[68]

In a study involving 21,469 healthy individuals aged 20 years or older, the individuals who slept less than five hours were more likely to experience weight gain than those who slept seven hours per night.^[69]

Echoing that, the largest and longest study to date on adult sleep habits and weight is the Nurses' Health Study,

which followed 68,000 women for up to 16 years. The study found that those who slept five hours or less were more likely to become obese compared to those who slept seven hours per night.^[70]

Scientists have discovered that overexposure to light, or light exposure during odd hours, is part of what leads to disruption of the circadian rhythm, causing weight gain and weight-related diseases, including type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease.

In the study, mice exposed to a prolonged day length of 16- and 24-hour light, compared with regular 12-hour light, gained weight even though their food intake or physical activity was unaffected.^[71] The scientists concluded that prolonged exposure to light causes the body to store more calories rather than burn them.

Research demonstrates that any sort of light exposure at night (even the most minimal) increases body mass, disrupts core body temperature, and decreases fat metabolism.^[72]

The lesson here is to remove any sort of light exposure that will disrupt your circadian rhythm, such as lights coming in from the bedroom window, an LED alarm clock by the bed, a television, a cell phone, or a battery-charging station with power light indicator buttons shining.

Research suggests that the scent of lavender essential oil helps people fall asleep and sleep much better. Researchers at Wesleyan University had people sniff lavender essential oil or distilled water (placebo) just before bedtime. The researchers monitored the subjects' sleep cycles with brain scans. When the study participants had sniffed lavender, they slept more soundly; they also felt more energetic the next morning.^[73]

There are a few ways to use pure lavender essential oil. You can dilute 15 drops essential oil per 6 teaspoons carrier oil and place a few drops on your wrists. You can sprinkle a

few drops on a piece of tissue and tuck it under your pillow. You can also use an aromatherapy diffuser.

The National Sleep Foundation suggests dimming the lights about an hour before bed. Use room-darkening shades and curtains to keep it dark at night and while you sleep. A cool room temperature between 60 and 67 degrees Fahrenheit makes for the best sleep. Experiment with your room's exact temperature to find what makes you most comfortable.

Take the time to design a bedroom environment that promotes deep sleep so that you wake up each morning feeling refreshed.

The National Sleep Foundation conducted a two-year study to discover exactly how much sleep a person needs at each age:^[74]

- Teenagers (14 to 17): Sleep range should be eight to ten hours
- Younger adults (18 to 25): Sleep range should be seven to nine hours
- Adults (26 to 64): Sleep range should be seven to nine hours
- Older adults (65+): Sleep range should be seven to eight hours

Many people don't consider sleep that important and prefer other activities that are considered more important and of greater value.^[75] Work and commuting to and from work were the two activities most often exchanged for sleep.^[76] If you really value your health, the way you look, and the way you feel, you will make sleep a top priority. You really need to schedule sleep like any other daily activity, so put it on your to-do list and cross it off every night.

Ideally, always go to sleep two hours before midnight. Really deep sleep lasts from 11:00 p.m. until midnight. If

you skip this deep sleep period regularly, your body and mind become exhausted and your body will secrete stress hormones such as adrenaline and cortisol. Lack of sleep reduces growth hormone production, leading to weight gain. The less quality sleep you get, the more overweight you are likely to get.

If you have major problems with insomnia, consult a medical doctor to help you deal with this issue and consider using nutritional support such as oral melatonin around bedtime (short term only). Melatonin has been shown to be safe and effective in the treatment of insomnia and other circadian rhythm sleep disorders.^[77]

You can sleep with an eye mask every night. The release of the hormone melatonin is responsible for the feeling of sleepiness. It is released by the pineal gland, and production starts by exposure to darkness. Wearing an eye mask improves sleep quality and elevates melatonin levels.^[78]

CHAPTER SUMMARY

- High-intensity intermittent exercise (HIIE), also called sprint- interval training (SIT) or high-intensity interval training (HIT), is the most effective form of exercise for rapidly reducing body fat.
- The best time for high-intensity intermittent exercise is in the morning, on an empty stomach, before breakfast (fasted cardio) for no longer than 60 minutes.
- Full-body high-intensity intermittent training (HIIT) with weights is an excellent fat-burning exercise.
- The best tools for weight training are adjustable dumbbells, as you can do almost any type of exercise with them. You can use them to target every major muscle in the body.
- Once you have reached your ideal weight, you must perform moderate intensity exercise regularly to keep off the weight.
- After exercise, replenish lost electrolytes with coconut water or a sports drink that has a low GI and that contains no artificial additives and no high-fructose corn syrup. Choose whole food energy bars, protein bars, or meal replacement bars instead of high-sugar bars.
- Weigh yourself regularly, once a month or every two weeks, to stay motivated and keep track of your progress. In addition, measure your body fat levels regularly.
- Make time for exercise in your daily life and create an environment that leaves little room for excuses.
 Combine work and exercise. Use the DeskCycle, which is an under-desk pedal that allows you to pedal while sitting at your desk and working on your laptop.
- Do whatever it takes to make it time-efficient and easier for you to exercise. If you have a hectic life and forget

to exercise, set up exercise and weight equipment in your home. For example, attach a portable pull-up bar to the door outside your bedroom and do some pull-ups every time you pass by it.

- Exercise should be fun and enjoyable, so select an activity you enjoy, blast some good music, and exercise with a friend to get that "runner's high."
- Vary your exercises so that you don't get bored. There are so many types of exercises with beneficial health effects, such as rebounding, swimming, meditative movement (MM), qigong, tai chi, and yoga.
- Make seven to nine hours of sleep a priority and use melatonin, an eye mask, and/or pure lavender essential oil to help you fall asleep. Go to sleep between 10:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m., as really deep sleep lasts from 11:00 p.m. until midnight. Regularly skipping this prime time to sleep will cause your mind to become exhausted and your body to secrete stress hormones such as adrenaline and cortisol.

CHAPTER FOUR SUPPLEMENTS



Nutrients and thermogenics are best derived from whole foods rather than from supplements. Nutrients from whole foods have been shown to be superior to synthetic vitamins or minerals.^{[1] [2] [3]} Whenever possible, get your nutritional needs from whole foods.

Sometimes, though, supplements are recommended. For example, they may be necessary when trying to eliminate stubborn body fat or when treating health conditions or nutritional deficiencies that hinder weight loss. That said, always consult a medical professional before starting any diet, exercise, or supplement regime so your plan can be healthy and tailored to you.

The next best thing to consuming whole foods is to take a whole food supplement. Whole food supplements are made from concentrated whole foods. A whole food supplement is absorbed and assimilated by the body better than synthetic supplements.

Thermogenics (supplements discussed in the next section) increase metabolism and fat burning by increasing the heat in the body. They can help you quickly lose weight

because they are designed to promote lipolysis in the body (the breaking down of body fat to be used as energy).

People who are used to frequent snacking and those who experience hunger between meals need an appetite suppressant to help them get to the next meal without snacking. Appetite suppressants control feelings of hunger and promote the sense of feeling full or satiated.

THERMOGENICS

Thermogenic (fat-burning) pills help eliminate stubborn fat from the body. There are many thermogenic pills on the market, but the majority of them do not work.

Caffeine and ephedra are the only thermogenics that have been shown to produce moderate weight loss, although they have potentially adverse effects.^[4]

Caffeine is available in pill form, but moderate daily coffee (one to four cups) or tea consumption is the ideal way to consume caffeine. A thermogenic effect is seen starting at 100 mg per day.^[5] [6] [7]

Ephedra, known in Chinese as ma huang, has been scientifically proven time and again to effectively promote weight loss through its ability to increase thermogenesis and suppress appetite. However, ephedra has adverse effects — high blood pressure, tachycardia, central nervous system (CNS) excitation, and arrhythmia.

Bitter orange (Citrus aurantium) may be the best thermogenic substitute for ephedra. Research showed that those receiving a combination of bitter orange, caffeine, and St. John's wort lost weight. Bitter orange increases resting metabolic rate and when taken for periods of up to 12 weeks, may result in modest weight loss. [9]

Chromium picolinate, Panax ginseng, green tea, garcinia cambogia extract (hydroxycitric acid), psyllium, green coffee extract, and St. John's wort may work for some people. [10] [11] [12] P13] [14] [15] [16] [17]

Dr. Thomas Cowan, MD, who has effectively helped thousands of people lose weight in his practice, recommends supplementing between meals with the fatburning digestive enzyme lipase. He explains that taking lipase on an empty stomach as far away from food consumption as possible will often help mobilize fat stores. He also recommends taking Chinese bitters to help clear out the fat breakdown products produced by the enzyme digestion.^[18]

Raspberry ketone taken in high doses has been shown to prevent weight gain and promote the breakdown of fat.^[19] Raspberry ketone is a natural phenolic compound of the red raspberry.

In one study, the combination of raspberry ketone, caffeine, capsaicin, garlic, ginger, and bitter orange promoted weight loss. Study participants who took this combination lost 7.8% of their fat mass, while the placebo group lost only 2.8%. (Both groups also reduced calories and exercised.)^[21]

APPETITE SUPPRESSANTS

There is strong scientific support that dietary fiber intake prevents obesity. People who consume dietary fiber eat less and lose weight.^[22] ^[23]Fiber swells after ingestion and makes a person feel satiated.^[24]

You can increase your consumption of dietary fiber with fruits, vegetables, whole grains, and legumes. You can also take a non-addictive fiber supplement such as apple pectin and oat bran available in pill or powder form. The powdered forms can be added to smoothies or to recipes for baked goods such as cookies, muffins, and pancakes.

In various studies, scientists found that Hoodia gordonii was an effective appetite suppressant.^[25] [26] A Dutch anthropologist studying the San (Bushmen) of the Kalahari Desert noticed that they are the stems of the hoodia plant to suppress hunger during long hunting trips. The active

ingredient in hoodia is the appetite-suppressing molecule P57. Scientists found that P57 acts on the brain in a manner similar to that of glucose. It tricks the brain into thinking that you are full even when you have not eaten. It also reduces interest in food and delays the time before hunger sets in.^[27]

Guarana works in much the same way coffee does due to its high levels of caffeine. Caffeine suppresses the appetite. Guarana also improves memory, mood, and alertness. The lower dose of 75 milligrams produces more positive cognitive effects than higher doses do.^[28]

SUPPLEMENTS FOR DIABETES AND CHOLESTEROL

High cholesterol and diabetes are two of the most common conditions found among those who are overweight and obese.

High blood cholesterol is a major risk factor for heart and blood vessel disease. High cholesterol levels cause some cholesterol to deposit on the walls of the blood vessels. Over time, these deposits build up and become hard lumps (plaque). This causes the blood vessels to narrow, harden, and decrease blood flow which can lead to serious health risks such as hypertension, heart attack, or stroke.

There are two main types of cholesterol. Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) is known as "bad cholesterol," as it can clog the arteries. High-density lipoprotein (HDL) is the "good cholesterol," which transports some cholesterol back to the liver to be broken down. Doctors recommend that patients maintain lower LDL levels and higher HDL levels.

Diabetes is a disease in which the body is unable to properly use and store glucose (a form of sugar). Untreated, diabetes can lead to long-term complications such as heart attacks, strokes, blindness, kidney failure, blood vessel disease, nerve damage, and impotence in men.

High cholesterol and diabetes are life-threatening if not treated. Some people resort to pharmaceutical drugs to treat these conditions. However, pharmaceutical drugs typically have unpleasant and serious side effects. High cholesterol and diabetes can be treated naturally with minimal or no side effects.

Red rice extract has cholesterol-lowering properties. Some red rice extract preparations contain about 5 to 10 milligrams of lovastatin. These preparations may lower blood cholesterol levels, and work like statin drugs.^[29]

Numerous studies have shown that omega-3 fish oil or oily fish consumed one or two times per week is beneficial for people with high cholesterol and diabetes. Fish oil lowers total cholesterol and very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and increases HDL.^[30] [31] [32]

There are many medicinal herbs with strong anti-diabetic properties^[33] that actually work better and have more diverse beneficial effects than do any pharmaceutical drugs presently available.

Gymnema sylvestre has been used in traditional Indian medicine for the treatment of diabetes for more than 2,000 years. Gymnema came to be known as the "destroyer of sugar" because Ayurvedic physicians observed that chewing a few leaves suppressed the taste of sugar. Research also shows that it prevents obesity. Gymnema reduces serum lipids, leptin, insulin, glucose, apolipoprotein B, and lactic acid dehydrogenase (LDH) levels while significantly increasing HDL cholesterol.^[34]

Gymnema sylvestre targets several of the factors connected with diabetes, including chronic inflammation, obesity, enzymatic defects, and pancreatic cell function. No pharmaceutical drugs presently exert such a diverse range of effects. Researchers studying gymnema conclude that it may be useful for treating both insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus.^[35]

Gymnema sylvestre in tea form offers the best results. A daily dose of 200 milligrams is optimal for weight management. The typical therapeutic dose for the treatment of hyperglycemia, standardized to contain 24% gymnemic acids, is 400 to 600 milligrams daily. Among adult-onset diabetics, ongoing use for periods of 18 to 24 months has been shown to be successful. In reducing the symptoms of glycosuria, the dried leaves are used in daily doses of three to four grams for three to four months. Gymnema extract acts gradually; therefore, it should be consumed regularly with meals for several months or years. It has no significant side effects when taken in proper doses. [36]

PHYTOCHEMICALS

Many of the health benefits of healthy foods have been attributed to their phytochemicals.^[37] Phytochemicals are compounds that occur naturally in certain foods. "There are about 25,000 phytochemicals in the world, and we're finding that they perform special functions in the cells to help prevent diabetes, common forms of cancer, heart disease, age-related blindness and Alzheimer's disease," says David Heber, MD, PhD, director of the University of California, Los Angeles, Center for Human Nutrition and author of *What Color Is Your Diet?* (William Morrow, 2002).

Scientists have discovered and isolated some of these phytochemicals to treat disease. For example, the anticancer drug paclitaxel is a phytochemical initially extracted and purified from the Pacific yew tree. However, research has shown that isolated phytochemicals do not have the same health benefits as do whole foods. An isolated phytochemical either loses its bioactivity or may not behave the same way as the compound in such whole foods as fruits, vegetables, whole grains, nuts, and seeds.^[38]

One reason the French are said to not get fat despite a high-fat diet could be their moderate consumption of red wine, found to contain the phytochemical resveratrol. Resveratrol has been shown to prevent weight gain despite a high-fat diet.^[39]

Research shows that resveratrol affects energy metabolism and mitochondrial function and mimics the effects of calorie restriction. A randomized double-blind crossover study treated healthy, obese men with a placebo for 30 days and 150 milligrams per day of resveratrol for 30 days. Resveratrol decreased intrahepatic lipid content, circulating glucose, triglycerides, alanine-aminotransferase, and inflammation markers. The study demonstrated that 30 days of resveratrol supplementation induced metabolic changes in obese humans, mimicking the effects of calorie restriction. [40]

Curcumin is a phytochemical found in turmeric (Curcuma longa). It promotes weight loss and prevents obesity-related diseases.^[41] Turmeric has been used for the treatment of diabetes in Ayurvedic and traditional Chinese medicine for centuries. Modern scientific research has found it to be effective for both the prevention and treatment of diabetes.^[42] Turmeric has anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, anticarcinogenic, anti-thrombotic, and cardiovascular protective effects.^[43]

Curcumin has a poor oral bioavailability (a low percentage of what you consume is absorbed) and, thus, should be enhanced with other agents such as black pepper extract, called piperine.

Traditionally, chamomile tea and chamomile essential oil have been used to treat insomnia and to induce sedation (calming effects). Chamomile is widely regarded as a mild tranquilizer and sleep inducer. The nutrients and phytochemicals found in chamomile can help improve cardiovascular conditions, helps to manage diabetes, treat digestive disorders, stimulate the immune system, and provide protection against cancer.^[44]

DAILY ESSENTIAL NUTRIENTS

Some people dislike the taste of vegetables and prefer getting their vegetable requirements from juicing. Juicing of vegetables eliminates the fiber, leaving only the nutrients in a concentrated liquid. Eating 20 carrots every day would not typically be possible, but juicing 20 carrots a day makes it easy to consume a high level of nutrients.

Invest in a high-quality masticating juicer, and juice a variety of vegetables every day. A masticating juicer eliminates the fiber from vegetables and leaves only the concentrated nutrients. You can juice apples, blueberries, strawberries, raspberries, pears, pomegranates, kiwi fruit, carrots, beets, celery, cucumber, cabbage, parsley, arugula, dandelion greens, watercress, wheatgrass, and ginger.

Another effective way to nourish the body is to take ionic minerals. Ionic minerals are 1,000 times smaller than colloidal minerals.

Spirulina and chlorella are highly nutritious and rich sources of minerals.^[45] Spirulina is about 51% to 71% protein, depending on its source. It is a complete protein containing all essential amino acids.^[46] [47] Spirulina has immunomodulation, anticancer, antiviral, and cholesterol reduction effects.^[48]

Essential amino acids are not produced by the body and need to be taken in through diet or supplements. Vegans are especially at risk of developing an amino acid deficiency. The nine essential amino acids are histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, tryptophan, and valine.

Free-form amino acid supplements are a good way to ensure that all amino acids are provided to the body. Free-form amino acids don't require digestion. The term "free form" means the amino acids move quickly through the stomach and into the small intestine, where they're rapidly absorbed into the bloodstream.

Essential fatty acids (EFAs) are nutrients that humans need to obtain from food or supplements because the body cannot synthesize them.^[49] Many illnesses are associated with a deficiency in omega-3 fatty acids.

Omega-3 is best obtained through wild Alaskan salmon oil, cod liver oil, or krill oil. Flaxseed oil can be included in the diet, but is not the best source of EFAs. Research has found that the omega-3 fatty acids in fish oil "are more biologically potent than alpha-linolenic acid," or ALA, found in flaxseed, primrose, and borage oil. In other words, the body uses EPA and DHA from fish oil much more efficiently than it does omega-3 ALA from flaxseed, primrose, or borage.^[50]

In one study, participants were given 15,000 milligrams of flaxseed oil (ALA) daily. At the end of 12 weeks not one of the participants had an increase of EPA or DHA within his or her blood plasma or red blood cells.^[51]

Probiotics enhance the body's immune system^[52] and may be useful for disease prevention and treatment, as well as the prevention of viral infections.^[53] There are many strains of probiotic supplementation, but only certain colonizing probiotics strains such as Bifidobacterium lactis HN019, Lactobacillus acidophilus L-14, and 3 Lactobacillus plantarum Lp-115 have been well documented as adhering to human intestinal cells.^[54]

CHAPTER SUMMARY

- Thermogenic (fat-burning) pills help promote fat loss and can be useful in eliminating stubborn fat from the body (use with caution; consult your medical professional). Some scientifically proven effective thermogenics include bitter orange, caffeine, capsaicin, garlic, ginger, and raspberry ketone.
- Dr. Thomas Cowan, MD, who has effectively helped thousands of people lose weight in his practice, recommends supplementing between meals with the fat-burning digestive enzyme lipase.
- There is strong scientific evidence to support the theory that dietary fiber intake prevents obesity. People who consume dietary fiber eat less and lose weight. You can also take a non-addictive fiber supplement such as apple pectin and oat bran available in pill or powder form. The powdered forms can be added to smoothies or to recipes for baked goods such as cookies, muffins, and pancakes.
- Various studies have found that Hoodia gordonii is an effective appetite suppressant. Guarana is also effective in suppressing the appetite due to its caffeine content. These two supplements can be taken by those who experience hunger when eating just once a day.
- High cholesterol can be treated naturally with red rice extract. Gymnema sylvestre in tea form has been found helpful for those with diabetes and obesity. A daily dose of 200 milligrams of gymnema sylvestre is optimal for weight management.
- The phytochemicals found in various foods help prevent disease and obesity. Resveratrol (found in red wine) was shown to prevent weight gain despite a high-fat diet. Curcumin is a phytochemical found in turmeric (Curcuma longa). It promotes weight loss and prevents

- obesity-related diseases such as diabetes and heart disease.
- To prevent nutritional deficiencies and maintain your overall health, include daily essential supplements. Such supplements include a whole food supplement, ionic full-spectrum minerals, spirulina, chlorella, a freeform amino acid supplement, EFAs (wild salmon oil, cod-liver oil, or krill oil), and colonizing probiotics.

CHAPTER FIVE

HIDDEN FACTORS THEY MAY IMPEDE YOUR GOALS



If you find it impossible to control how much you eat regardless of anything you try, or if you encounter difficulty eating less frequently because you have strong cravings and need to snack, you must address hidden health factors. In addition, if you have a severely stubborn weight-loss problem, underlying health problems are likely involved.

An inability to lose weight could be caused by issues as varied as elevated cortisol levels, hypothyroidism, nutritional deficiencies, digestive problems, food intolerances, a hormonal imbalance, emotional problems, parasites, candida, toxins, insulin resistance, or leptin resistance.

THERMOGENICSTESTING FOR HIDDEN FACTORS

There are several tests you can use to determine your health status as well as discover hidden health factors that may be hindering weight loss. These factors typically don't show up on standard tests. Electrodermal screening (EDS), also called bioresonance therapy (BRT), is a fairly quick health-testing method. Though there isn't much research on it, I like this screening method, and I personally have found it effective in finding health imbalances in my body. It can be followed up with another method to confirm results.

Electrodermal screening measures the electrical resistance on the skin's surface. The purpose is to detect energy imbalances along invisible lines of the body, called meridians. The screening can detect food sensitivities or allergies, nutritional deficiencies, organ stress, parasites, candida, heavy metals toxicity, and hormone imbalance.

Quantum biofeedback (when offered by a legitimate provider, do your research) is said to provide a comprehensive assessment of potential stressors such as viruses, parasites, nutritional deficiencies, allergies, and mental and emotional stress.

Applied kinesiology (AK) is a technique using the manual muscle test (MMT) as a diagnostic tool and for determining appropriate health treatments for an individual. There are many branches of applied kinesiology and considerable evidence exists testifying to the reliability and validity of manual muscle testing as a diagnostic tool.^[1]

Though considered "out there" by some, a medical intuition evaluation may provide information about current health status and also identify any mental and emotional factors that could be hindering weight loss. A medical intuitive can supposedly identify an imbalance within the body long before it manifests itself as disease. Some conventional medical doctors are said to call on medical intuitives for second opinions.

Iridology analysis is a test conducted by a certified iridologist that examines the iris to determine current health status and future health issues. Iridology reveals constitutional strength, inherited strengths and weaknesses, toxicity levels, levels of inflammation, organ structure, and

much more. The iridologist will make personalized recommendations for the improvement of health and prevention of disease. I have tried this method and found it accurate though many do not consider it effective.

Hair analysis is a screening test can identify vitamin, mineral, and nutritional deficiencies as well as heavy metal toxicity. When new hair cells are forming in the hair follicle, they take in traces of substances going through the bloodstream of the individual.

The enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) test can accurately determine food allergies. Testing for food allergies is very important. Many people unknowingly consume foods that are harmful to their bodies.

The urine Indican test, also called an Obermeyer test, is used by naturopaths to determine digestive problems, malabsorption toxemia, and overgrowth of anaerobic bacteria.

ELEVATED CORTISOL LEVELS

When you are under stress, whether physical (hard work, trauma, accident) or emotional (pain, anxiety, depression), it will likely be very difficult for you to lose weight.

Cortisol is a hormone that is released in response to stress and that tends to deposit fat around the waist; this is called visceral abdominal tissue. Visceral fat has been linked to an increase in both diabetes and heart disease. Visceral fat is accompanied by elevated triglycerides, reduced HDL cholesterol, elevated blood pressure, and/or elevated fasting plasma glucose.^[2]

Cortisol tends to increase a person's appetite and cause that person to eat more than they normally would. Eating becomes a stress-relieving activity. After a while, eating in response to stress can become a learned habit.

Holy basil (Ocimum tenuiflorum) is an Indian herb that has been proven to reduce elevated cortisol levels.^[3] In

studies, holy basil has been shown to reduce stress, anxiety, depression, and exhaustion. It has antianxiety and antidepressant properties, with effects comparable to diazepam and antidepressant drugs.^[4] Holy basil is available as a tea or in capsules.

Low-intensity exercise is proven to reduce cortisol levels.^[5] Pilates, yoga, meditation, qigong, tai chi, or a walk in a forest or along the beach are the most relaxing forms of exercise. Perform an activity you enjoy and make sure you feel refreshed and rejuvenated afterward — not exhausted. Exercising too hard and for too long can raise cortisol levels and actually increase stress.^[6]

Make sure to get at least seven hours of sleep per night. As mentioned previously, create a relaxing bedroom environment conducive to sleep. Lack of sleep elevates cortisol levels.^[7]

Stress can deplete important nutrients such as B-complex, vitamin C, calcium, and magnesium. These nutrients are needed to balance the effects of stress hormones like cortisol. If these nutrients are depleted, resisting stress will become more difficult.

Stress increases the body's need for magnesium. Those under stress and who have a magnesium deficiency have an increased risk of hypertension, cerebrovascular and coronary constriction and occlusion, arrhythmia, and sudden cardiac death.^[8]

When you are under stress, take a whole-food supplement and eat plenty of foods high in magnesium, such as pumpkin seeds, squash seeds, sesame seeds, Brazil nuts, almonds, sunflower seeds, cashews, pine nuts, Swiss chard, spinach, prickly pear, and avocados.

The best way to test and monitor your stress levels is with heart rate variability (HRV) analysis. HRV is a powerful indicator of overall health. HRV analysis determines the probability of sudden, unexplained death by

measuring minor variations in heart rate. HRV has become the standard test for measuring stress levels.

NUTRITIONAL DEFICIENCIES

One of the most ignored causes of weight gain is nutritional deficiencies. It is common to be overfed and undernourished

A lack of nutrients slows metabolism and reduces the body's ability to burn fat. Whether food is burned as energy or stored as fat is determined by a number of chemical reactions that take place in your body. These are activated by enzymes, which are, in turn, dependent upon vitamins and minerals. Therefore, if you are deficient in certain vitamins and minerals by even a small amount, you will gain weight. Deficiencies of nutrients can also trigger a ravenous appetite, uncontrollable cravings, the sense of never feeling full after a meal, and in the case of a lack of iodine, for example, hypothyroidism.

Food cravings and overeating can be signs of nutrient deficiency. Your body's desperate need for nutrients can cause you to overeat as the body attempts to get what it needs. If you eat foods with low nutritional value, you will gain weight and still feel hungry. A lack of chromium, sulfur, or tryptophan can cause a craving for sweets.

You can survive for months or even years on poorquality foods, but eventually it will catch up to you. Uncontrolled cravings can be an early sign of failing health.

Many people believe obesity is inherited and that there is nothing they can do about it. However, research has shown that magnesium and B complex help prevent obesity genes from expressing themselves. Experiments show that if a mouse with an obesity gene is deprived of B vitamins, the obesity will be expressed. However, if the mouse is fed plenty of B vitamins, it will remain thin. The process of metabolizing B vitamins is called methylation, and magnesium is necessary for this process.^[9]

Magnesium and the B-complex vitamins activate enzymes that control digestion, absorption, and the utilization of proteins, fats, and carbohydrates. Lack of these necessary nutrients causes improper utilization of food, leading to hypoglycemia and obesity.

Magnesium deficiency has been shown to cause insulin resistance.^[10] In their book, *The Magnesium Factor* (Avery, 2003), Mildred Seelig, MD, and Andrea Rosanoff, PhD, cite research showing that over half the insulin in the bloodstream is directed at the abdominal tissue. As more and more insulin is produced to deal with a high-sugar diet, abdominal fat increases to process the extra insulin.

Research shows that having low vitamin D levels can contribute to weight gain.^[11] Vitamin D deficiency can lead to overeating. Lack of vitamin D disrupts communication from hormones responsible for sending signals to the brain indicating that you feel full.

Serotonin deficiency is associated with the brain's perception of starvation and hunger. When you have a shortage of serotonin in the brain, you will crave foods that help make serotonin, such as high-calorie, high-GI carbohydrates. Research shows that 5-HTP effectively promotes weight loss in those with serotonin deficiency, as 5-HTP increases serotonin levels in the brain.^[12]

Chromium deficiency is common in North America and can cause a strong craving for sweets. Supplementing with chromium picolinate is known to regulate blood sugar levels and reduce cravings for sweets.

The best way to correct nutritional deficiencies is to get your nutritional needs from whole, natural foods. For example, Brazil nuts are extremely high in selenium, bananas are high in potassium, and sesame seeds are high in calcium and magnesium.

Rick Tague, MD, MPH, is a medical obesity specialist who recommends that everyone, regardless of age, take nutritional supplements daily. Whole-food supplements are made from concentrated whole foods. A whole-food supplement is absorbed and assimilated by the body better than are synthetic supplements. Of course, besides taking a whole food supplement, consume an abundance of nutrient-rich foods to maintain optimum health for the long term. Make sure to get seven to ten daily servings of fruits and vegetables, nuts, seeds, fish, and legumes and beans. In addition, include what marketers have named "superfoods" in your diet. A superfood has extraordinarily high levels of vitamins, minerals, phytonutrients, and enzymes. These may include spirulina, raw cacao, chia seeds, hemp seeds, and wheatgrass juice.

BLOOD SUGAR AND INSULIN

A high-sugar diet and disruption of the circadian rhythm lead to an imbalanced blood sugar level.^[13] An imbalanced blood sugar level reduces the body's ability to burn stored fat and causes weight gain. Too much glucose leads to high levels of blood sugar, which your body stores as fat.

Weight gain is a common side effect among people who take insulin therapy. When you take insulin, glucose is able to enter your cells and glucose levels in your blood drop. However, if you consume more calories than you need, your cells will get more glucose than they need. Glucose that your cells don't use accumulates as fat.

Insulin is the fat-storage hormone and when your insulin levels rise, your body stops burning fat. It is impossible to burn body fat when insulin levels in the body are high. An insulin surge tells your body that plenty of energy is available and that it should stop burning fat and start storing it instead.

Research has shown that those who had low levels of insulin did not gain weight due to the fact that their fat cells burned more energy while storing less of it. The research indicates that people can maintain an ideal weight by increasing the time between their meals and by eliminating

snacks (eating only one to three times per day).^[14] Dr. James Johnson, an associate professor of cellular and physiological sciences, explains: "As crucial as insulin is for storing blood sugar, it can also be too much of a good thing. If we can maintain insulin levels at a happy medium, we could reverse the epidemic of obesity that is a risk factor for so many ailments — diabetes, heart disease, and cancer."

There are ways to limit insulin-associated weight gain, such as by eating foods low on the GI and using gymnema sylvestre.

Gymnema sylvestre has been found to repair and regenerate the pancreas and balance blood sugar levels.^[15] Gymnema sylvestre is available in capsules or as a liquid tincture. Take gymnema sylvestre before each meal.

Eat foods that don't spike insulin levels sky high, such as high-fiber foods. When you eat refined grains, sugars, or carbohydrate-rich foods lacking fiber, the pancreas goes into overdrive to produce insulin.

FOOD SENSITIVITIES

Food allergies or food sensitivities can cause weight gain. "Food sensitivities are the common single cause of weight gain," says Dr. John Mansfield, author of *The Six Secrets of Successful Weight Loss* (Hammersmith Health Books, 2012). He has more than 30 years of clinical practice and has helped hundreds of patients reach their ideal weights. "Food sensitivities were the prime cause in more than 70% of the patients I treated over a period of 31 years in clinical practice," says Dr. Mansfield.

"An estimated 60 to 80% of people are sensitive to one or more foods," says Ann Louise Gittleman, PhD, CNS.

A food intolerance generates the IgG immune response. It is an adverse reaction to a specific food, with symptoms such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), headaches, fatigue, eczema, migraine, fatigue, hives, and asthma. A food allergy generates the IgE immune response. The gold

standard for diagnosing food intolerance is the double-blind placebo-controlled food challenge (DBPCFC).^[16]

An alternative method of testing for food allergies and intolerance is electrodermal screening, also called bioresonance therapy.

It's common to crave the foods to which we have an intolerance. According to Dr. Jonathan Brostoff, an allergy and environmental health expert, an estimated 50% of people with a food intolerance crave the very foods their bodies can't handle.

The most common allergens are cow's milk, chocolate, cola (the kola nut family), chicken eggs, soy, corn, peanuts, tree nuts, wheat, citrus fruits, tomatoes, fish, shellfish, artificial colors, food additives, and genetically modified crops.^[17] [18] [19]

A common symptom of food allergies or intolerances is headaches or migraines. You can use butterbur root extract to try to relieve migraines and headaches, but make sure to eliminate the foods that cause the headaches or migraines.

Speak to your medical professional for more information if you are experiencing allergies.

Though studies proving effectiveness are scarce, I have found that allersodes work; they can be used along with methylsulfonylmethane (MSM) to reduce symptoms of allergies.^[20]

TOXINS IN THE BODY

Toxicity of the body is possibly a major cause of illness and weight gain. The WHO has acknowledged that environmental pollution is the underlying cause of chronic degenerative diseases.

There are tens of thousands of synthetic chemicals in the environment. Every year millions of pounds of chemical pollutants are released into the environment (and into our water and food). The body is designed to filter some of

these toxins because it would not survive if it didn't. Health problems and weight gain occur when toxins are absorbed into the body faster than they can be eliminated. Toxins can damage the body's natural weight-control mechanisms.^[21]

POOR DIGESTION

Cravings for sugar, carbohydrates, and high-calorie foods indicate a high likelihood of digestive inflammation and poor digestion that is interfering with metabolism.

The complete digestive stool analysis (CDSA) is a test that provides an overview of digestion, absorption, intestinal function, and microbial flora. It also identifies pathogenic bacteria, parasites, and yeasts. You can have this test done to determine your digestive health status.

Gut microbiota, also called gut flora, are the "healthy bacteria" living in our intestines that are essential to good health and weight control. Gut microbiota helps the body digest certain foods that the stomach and small intestine have not been able to digest. They also help with the production of vitamins B and K, ensure proper digestive functioning, and help prevent obesity.

Many studies show that there is a difference in the composition of the gut microbiota of thin people and obese people. Obese people have higher levels of bad bacteria in their guts.²² Anyone who has taken antibiotics is very likely to have a low level of "good bacteria" and a high level of "bad bacteria" in his or her gut.

Probiotics, in particular the bifidobacteria and especially bifidobacterium, are an important group of gut bacteria that controls the population of the bad bacteria in the gut. You can take a probiotic that contains bifidobacterium to increase your healthy levels of gut microbiota.

If you have food cravings you can take pine nut oil. Pine nut oil has been used in traditional folk medicine to treat ulcers and other digestive problems. It is said to be effective in decreasing food cravings. Achlorhydria (no stomach acid) and hypochlohydria (low stomach acid) are very common digestive problems leading to poor nutrient absorption, food allergies, and parasite infections. A naturopath can perform a gastro-test to determine digestive function. Drinking one to two tablespoons of apple cider vinegar diluted in a glass of water before meals may increase hydrochloric acid (HCL) production.

It's helpful to realize that the stomach is not designed like a washing machine; rather, it stores ingested food in layers, one on top of another. To prevent digestive problems, it's best to follow the basic rules of "food combining."

Eat fruit and fruit juices on an empty stomach. Fruits leave the stomach within 20 to 40 minutes. Therefore, it is important to not eat them with any other foods, as doing so leads to fermentation, bloating, gas, and other digestive problems.

Eat soup at the beginning of a meal. The stomach processes and removes liquids before it attempts digestion of more solid food. Therefore, it's important to not drink large quantities of liquids before, during, and two hours after meals.

Cold drinks cause stomach cells to contract and prevent them from secreting the required amounts of digestive juices. Drink only hot water or hot drinks before, during, and after meals.

Contrary to popular belief, heartburn is not caused by too much stomach acid, but by too little of it. An insufficient supply of hydrochloric acid causes food to be undigested in the stomach for too long, producing stomach upset. Fresh ginger made into a hot tea with a pinch of cayenne pepper, or two tablespoons of organic apple cider vinegar in warm water taken 20 minutes before meals should help. If it doesn't, take betaine hydrochloride (HCI) capsules before meals.

CANDIDA OR PARASITES

Candida albicans overgrowth or a parasite infection can promote weight gain and make it difficult to lose weight by causing problems with the accumulation of fat, elevated blood levels of carbohydrates that do not respond normally to insulin, and systemic inflammation.²³

Antibiotics, steroids, the birth control pill, and high sugar or carb consumption lead to an imbalanced overgrowth of candida albicans. Travel to foreign countries, drinking contaminated water, owning pets, or eating food prepared by others can lead to parasite infection.

A common symptom of a Candida infestation is eating lots of sugar and carbs but still craving more. Parasite infection can be more subtle, but typical symptoms include diarrhea, stomach pain, gas, bloating, or fatigue.

Candida can be treated with olive leaf, berberine, and grapefruit seed extract. A "candida diet" is also helpful. The candida diet consists of eliminating sugar, carbohydrates, vinegar, mushrooms, cheese, peanuts, and high-sugar fruits for up to one year. For severe candida infection, take a low dose of nystatin along with oil of wild oregano (Origanum vulgare).

Mild parasite infection responds well to the herbal combination of wormwood, wormseed, black walnuts, cloves, male fern, butternut, and orange peel.

HYPOTHYROIDISM

The thyroid gland is an endocrine gland located in the lower front of the neck. The thyroid makes thyroid hormones, which are secreted into the blood and then carried to every tissue in the body. Thyroid hormone helps the body use energy, stay warm, and keep organs working as they should.

Hypothyroidism (underactive thyroid) causes weight gain and difficulty losing weight. Some people with low thyroid hormones can have weight gain even when they severely restrict calories because of a very low basal metabolic rate. Treating hypothyroidism and thyroid dysfunction can help you lose weight.²⁴

The diagnosis of hypothyroidism is usually made through measurements of Thyroid Stimulating Hormone (TSH) and Thyroxine (T4) and/or triiodothyronine (T3) levels found in blood tests.

Hypothyroidism can be treated with the help of a medical doctor and potentially a prescription for thyroxine, a synthetic thyroid hormone replacement, though naturopaths may attempt to treat it with such herbs as guggul, coleus (plectranthus barbatus), and bladderwrack.

According to Dr. Datis Kharrazian, 90% of people with hypothyroidism have Hashimoto's, an autoimmune hypothyroid condition in which the immune system attacks thyroid tissue.

It's commonly believed that hypothyroidism is due to insufficient iodine, but this isn't always the case, so check if you have iodine deficiency before supplementing with iodine. The best food sources of iodine are sea vegetables and seafood. Kelp or seaweed extract are the best supplemental sources of iodine.

IMBALANCED HORMONES

Disruption of the circadian rhythm leads to hormonal imbalances of melatonin and serotonin. The increasing and decreasing levels of serotonin and melatonin indicate to the cells of the body whether it is night or day, and whether to be more active or less active.

The first essential step toward balancing melatonin and serotonin is getting enough sleep and following proper sleeping habits. Going to bed at no later than 10:00 p.m. is essential, as the deepest rest and most rejuvenation happen between 11:00 p.m. and midnight.

If you have a hard time falling asleep and have low energy during the day, take the supplement 5-HTP (5-Hydroxytryptophan) first thing in the morning and melatonin at night before bed. Melatonin is shown to reduce body weight and increase energy levels, as it improves sleep quality.^[25]

5-HTP increases the production of serotonin and helps regulate sleep and appetite, as well as reduce food cravings. It is proven to decrease food intake and promote weight loss in those with serotonin deficiency. [26] Low levels of serotonin have been found to cause mood swings, depression, an inability to control food intake, and a craving for sweets and carbohydrates. Raising serotonin levels has been found to decrease depression and help control food intake [27]

Imbalanced levels of the sex hormones estrogen and testosterone can promote weight gain in both men and women. Low testosterone levels and high estrogen levels in men can cause weight gain in older age. In women, high testosterone with lower estrogen and progesterone levels is a cause of weight gain during menopause.

Long-term testosterone therapy in men with testosterone deficiency promotes permanent weight loss, reduced waist size, a lower BMI, and improved body composition.^[28]

Menopause is also a high-risk time for weight gain in women. The average woman gains two to five pounds during menopausal transition; some women gain even more weight. There is typically a body fat distribution from peripheral to abdominal at menopause.

Natural hormone replacement therapy may help treat weight gain caused by hormone imbalance. Herbs such as saw palmetto can be useful for lowering androgen levels. Pueraria mirifica has an estrogenic effect and is useful for perimenopausal women.^[29]

Ghrelin and leptin are hormones that control appetite and regulate weight. Nearly all overweight and obese people have a problem with leptin resistance and have higher ghrelin levels.

Leptin is secreted primarily in fat cells and decreases hunger. Leptin tells the hypothalamus that you have enough fat, so you can eat less or stop eating. Ghrelin is secreted primarily in the lining of the stomach and increases hunger. Elevated ghrelin and leptin deficiency or leptin resistance make your brain think you are starving when that is not the case.^[30] [31]

Getting enough sleep (at least seven hours a night) is an important way to balance the hormones that control appetite. Research shows that those with reduced amounts of sleep had elevated ghrelin and reduced leptin levels, which leads to increased appetite and weight gain.^[32]

To reverse leptin resistance and lower your ghrelin levels to reduce your appetite, practice proper meal timing and eat less frequently, which will reset your circadian rhythm. "In order to keep ghrelin low you need to eat on a schedule," explains Marjorie Nolan Cohn, a registered dietitian and certified personal trainer.

Never snack between meals, initially and forever. Researcher Dr. Jack Kruse explains: "Snacking completely stresses the liver's metabolism and is just not recommended. Your liver needs to relearn how to use gluconeogenesis normally again when you are asleep and awake. Snacking just destroys the timing and circadian clocks that work in unison with leptin." [33]

EMOTIONAL ISSUES

The emotional component to being overweight is huge, and it is largely ignored. As Adelle Davis, a nutrition pioneer, said, "To say that obesity is caused by merely consuming too many calories is like saying that the only cause of the American Revolution was the Boston Tea Party."

Research has found that traumatic life experiences during childhood and adolescence are common in overweight and obese people.^[34] Traumatic life experiences lead to emotional stress. Emotional stress is a person's reaction to a situation that causes feelings of anxiety, fear, worry, tension, frustration, and anger. Emotional stress is difficult to measure because it is highly subjective. Every person responds differently to stressful events.

One study found that emotions like anger, depression, and anxiety increase the risk of developing metabolic syndrome, a condition characterized by high triglyceride levels, elevated blood pressure, high blood sugar levels, low HDL cholesterol levels, and fat in the midsection.^[35]

"Emotional armoring" is a term used to describe suppressed emotional stress or emotional repression. Emotional repression is a coping mechanism our mind uses to handle situations we don't particularly want to deal with in the present moment. A common way in which we deal with unpleasant emotions is to suppress or ignore them. When you were teased, rejected, unloved, misunderstood, criticized, or mistreated, you felt hurt, pain, and anger. If the pain you felt was not acceptable or if you had no outlet for your feelings, your body suppressed your feelings. However, although negative emotions leave our conscious awareness, they aren't necessarily completely gone. Repressed emotional energy gets buried deep within the subconscious.

Emotional stress tends to cause emotional eating and cravings for sweet and fatty foods.^[36] It has been shown that the more one's emotional needs are left unfulfilled, the more likely one is to engage in emotional eating.^[37]

Unconsciously, a layer of fat on the body may serve to protect a person. Obesity is commonly protective sexually, physically, and socially. For example, in some cases, women who are victims of rape unconsciously gain weight in an effort to look unattractive and avoid another rape

according to Dr. Wendy Scinta; more than half of the women she treats in her medical weight-loss practice have sexual abuse in their past. Her treatment involves helping these patients become comfortable with the attention that comes with a thinner body. "If there's obesity, there's a good chance, especially if there's morbid obesity, that something tragic happened in that person's history, at one point or another," she explains.

Vincent J. Felitti, MD, and colleagues have tracked more than 30,000 mostly middle-aged obese adults since 1982 and found that incest, rape, family suicide, and parental brutality were surprisingly common among overweight and obese people. [38] "We unexpectedly discovered that histories of childhood sexual abuse were common, as were histories of growing up in markedly dysfunctional households," the researchers explain. "The relationship between childhood sexual abuse and obesity later in life is major," says Dr. Felitti. [39]

Dr. Felitti found that people repeatedly fall into three categories: obesity is sexually protective; obesity is physically protective; or obesity is socially protective — people expect less from the obese person. "We slowly discovered that major weight loss is often sexually or physically threatening and that obesity, whatever its health risks, is protective emotionally," the researchers concluded.

Suzzanne Rosselot, who specializes in addictions, said, "If you grew up with trauma — emotional, sexual or physical — then you're going to respond by sort of developing some survival skills." That could mean unconsciously eating to put on weight as a way of becoming invisible (because society doesn't pay attention to fat people).

Jon Gabriel is a weight-loss expert who successfully lost more than 220 pounds (100 kilograms) without diets or surgery. He has helped many people lose weight without dieting by using only the mind-body approach. Gabriel explains that chronic weight gain is often caused by physical, emotional, or environmental triggers that confuse the body on a biological level. Therefore, if you are overweight, it is because your brain has a reason for it.

If you don't deal with the underlying issues, the weight will come back. It is very important to discover and treat any emotional issues. Those who are successful at losing weight but who don't treat the emotional issues behind their weight problems are very likely to regain the weight.

Mindfulness-based stress reduction (MBSR) is an effective method of emotional stress reduction.^[40] Research has found that mindfulness promotes significant weight loss.^[41] [42]Mindfulness can help those with emotional eating problems.^[43]

Once underlying emotional issues are healed, people find themselves naturally drawn to healthier food choices and are less attracted to unhealthy foods.

Hypnotherapy is said to be effective in treating these conditions. Cognitive behavior therapy is helpful in treating anxiety or depression and in one study was found effective in producing long-term weight loss.^[44]

LIFE FULFILLMENT

Some people eat out of boredom or depression related to a lack of fulfillment in their lives. If food served merely as sustenance, people would eat exactly what they needed and most would have no problem maintaining an ideal weight. However, food is also a great source of fulfillment and pleasure.

Psychologist Tom Griffiths states that there are plenty of people who never deal with emotional stress but simply eat for pleasure. "Food hits some of the same pleasure centers as antidepressants. Some of the neurotransmitters, such as serotonin and dopamine, are triggered by food. They are sources of pleasure," explains Griffiths.

Researchers have found that eating carbohydrate-rich foods releases into the brain the amino acid tryptophan, which then manufactures serotonin, a chemical that imparts feelings of calmness, peace, and well-being.^[45]

To find fulfillment in life you need to develop a passion for something that will replace your passion for eating. Although there is nothing wrong with taking pleasure in a good meal, it's also important to find pleasure in living. Learn a new language, pursue a new hobby, or do an activity that will keep you busy, stimulate you mentally, and help you find fulfillment in life.

DOWNLOAD KIT



Please enter the URL you see in the box below into your computer web browser to access and download the kit.

www.self-counsel.com/updates/omaday/21kit.htm

The following resources are included on the download kit:

- OMAD recipes
- Testimonials
- Endnotes

ABOUT THE AUTHOR



Diana Polska studied holistic health and nutrition at the Canadian School of Natural Nutrition, and psychology at the University of Toronto. She has written extensively on the topics of nutrition, health and wellness, weight loss, physical fitness, and beauty. With this book, she hopes to help readers learn how to lose weight, be healthy, and maximize their potential.

DEDICATION



This book is dedicated to all who have tried unsuccessfully to lose weight and who feel like it may never be possible. It's for those who not only want to look good, but also feel good, have lots of energy, improve their health, and live longer.

NOTICE TO READERS



Laws are constantly changing. Every effort is made to keep this publication as current as possible. However, the author, the publisher, and the vendor of this book make no representations or warranties regarding the outcome or the use to which the information in this book is put and are not assuming any liability for any claims, losses, or damages arising out of the use of this book. The reader should not rely on the author or the publisher of this book for any professional advice. Please be sure that you have the most recent edition.

Disclaimer: Neither the author nor the publisher shall be held liable or responsible to any person or entity with respect to any loss or incidental or consequential damages caused, directly or indirectly, by the information or programs contained herein. You must seek the services of a competent medical professional before beginning any health regime or taking any weight-loss advice. References and discussion are provided for informational purposes only and in some cases are the author's opinion. They do not constitute endorsement of any websites or other sources.

SELF-COUNSEL PRESS THANKS YOU FOR PURCHASING THIS eBOOK.

Sign up for our mailing list to receive COUPON CODES and discounts on other SCP products.

SIGN UP HERE

You might also like these other titles from Self-Counsel Press:



